

# The Second International **Policy Conference on the African Child**

# Violence Against Girls in Africa

May 11-13, 2006 - United Nations Conference Centre, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia



**Record of the Conference Proceedings** 









**The African Child Policy Forum** 

The Second International Policy Conference on the African Child

# **Violence Against Girls in Africa**

(May 11-13, 2006 - United Nations Conference Centre, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia)

**Record of the Conference Proceedings** 

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DAY 1

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	1
INTRODUCTION	2
PROCEEDINGS OF CONFERENCE SESSIONS	5

# **OPENING SESSION**

# Statement

**Dr. Assefa Bequele,** Executive Director, The African Child Policy Forum; Member of the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child

# Welcome Address

**H.E. Dr. Salim A. Salim,** AU Special Envoy and Chief Mediator for the Inter-Sudanese Peace Talks on Darfur; Secretary-General Organisation for African Unity (OAU) (1989-2001); Chairman, International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum

# Partnership for Children

Mr. Jim Emerson, Chief Operations Officer, Plan International

*My Wishes and my Pledge for Africa's Children* **Dr. Rima Salah**, Deputy Executive Director, UNICEF

*Children's Report* A report from the pre-conference consultation, *Violence against Children, May* 9-10, 2006

*Special Guest Speaker* **Mme. Chantal Compaoré,** First Lady of Burkina Faso

**Opening Address H.E. President Girma Wolde Giorgis** President of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia

*Keynote Address* **H.E. President Joaquim Chissano,** former Head of State of Mozambique; Chairperson of the Africa Forum for African Former Heads of State

# SESSION I: VIOLENCE, WOMEN AND GIRLS - THE INTERNATIONAL DIMENSION ....

10

Chair

Prof. Jaap Doek, Chair, UN Committee on the Rights of the Child

*Violence against Women: The International Dimension* **Dr. Yakin Erturk,** UN Special Rapporteur on Violence against Women

*Dealing with Violence: Lessons from International Experience* **Ms. Nyaradzai Gumbonzvanda**, Regional Programme Director for East and Horn of Africa, UNIFEM

*Moving on from Violent Punishment of Children* **Mr. Peter Newell,** Coordinator of the Global Initiative to End Corporal Punishment of Children

# SESSION II: VIOLENCE, WOMEN AND GIRLS - THE AFRICAN DIMENSION

. 12

Chair

Adv. Bience Gawanas, Commissioner for Social Affairs, African Union



*Violence against Girls in Africa: An overview* **Mr. David Mugawe,** Conference Director, The African Child Policy Forum

*Violence against Girls: Experience and Protection in West Africa* **Mr. Guy Massart,** West Africa Regional Research and Evaluation Advisor, Plan International

# Sexual Violence against Girls, HIV and AIDS

Ms. Konjit Kifetew, Project Officer, UNAIDS Ethiopia

*Violence against Children at Work* **Mr. Yaw Ofosu**, Senior Child Labour Specialist, International Labour Organization

*Violence against Girls in Crisis and Conflict Situations* **Ms. Florence Tercier Holst-Roness,** Advisor in Women and War, International Committee of the Red Cross

# Violence against Girls in Schools

Ms. Maryce Ramsey, Director, Safe Schools Programme

SESSION III: VIOLENCE BY CHILDREN AGAINST CHILDREN: CHILDREN AS PART OF THE SOLUTION

Chair

Ms. Lena Karlsson, Global Advisor, Save the Children Sweden

*Violence by Children against Children: A Growing Concern* **Ms. Carol Bower**, Executive Director, Resources Aimed at the Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect (RAPCAN)

*The Southern Africa Experience* **Dr. Anthony Simpson,** Social Anthropology Department, Manchester University, UK

*The Asian Experience* **Ms. Lena Karlsson,** Global Advisor, Save the Children Sweden

Comments by Children Mr. Mohammed Seyid (Kenya) & Mr. Basim Elias (Sudan)

#### SESSION IV: TOWARDS A COMMON POSITION

#### Chair

**Ms. Christine Cornwell,** Member of the International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum

*The UN Report on Violence against Children* **Prof. Paulo S. Pinheiro,** Independent Expert for the UN Secretary-General's Study on Violence against Children

What does it mean for Africa?

#### Discussants:

**Hon. Sofia Simba**, Minister for Community Development, Gender and Children, United Republic of Tanzania

17

20

DAY 2

22

**Ambassador Moushira Khattab**, Secretary General, National Council for Childhood & Motherhood, Egypt, and Vice Chair of UN Committee on the Rights of the Child

Prof. Jaap Doek, Chair, UN Committee on the Rights of the Child

**Mr. Don McPhee**, Regional Programme Support Manager, West Africa Regional Office, Plan International

#### SESSION V: TOWARDS A MOVEMENT TO STOP VIOLENCE AGAINST CHILDREN

#### Chair

Mr. Kailash Satyarthi, Chair, Global March against Child Labour

*Grassroots Experience in Social Mobilisation: A Report from Ethiopia* **Dr. Bogalech Gebre,** Executive Director, Kembatta Women's Self Help Centre, Ethiopia

Mobilising Girls against Violence Ms. Mercy Musomi, National Coordinator, Girl Child Network, Kenya

*Mobilising against Harmful Traditional Practices: Lessons from Africa Ms. Berhane Ras-Work,* Executive Director, Inter-African Committee on Traditional Practices Affecting the Health of Women and Children

*Social Mobilisation: Lessons from International Experience* **Mr. Sergio Kristensen**, Country Representative, Save the Children Denmark

*Moving the Cause Forward* **Dr. Amaya Gillespie**, Director, Secretariat United Nations Secretary General's Study on Violence against Children

SESSION VI: WHAT GOVERNMENTS CAN DO

#### Chair

Ms. Etta Tadesse, Country Representative, UNFPA Ethiopia

Holding Governments to Account

**Ambassador Moushira Khattab**, Secretary General, National Council for Childhood and Motherhood, and Vice Chair of UN Committee on the Rights of the Child

*Establishing Child Protection Systems* **Ms. Margie de Monchy**, Child Protection Advisor, UNICEF, Nairobi

*Addressing Violence: The South African Experience* **Adv. Thoko Majokweni**, Director, National Prosecuting Authority of South Africa

**Establishing an Effective Legal System to Deal with Violence Ms. Souad Abdennebi-Abderrahim,** Regional Advisor for the Promotion of Women's Human and Legal Rights, UNECA

# SESSION VII: THE DECLARATION

Chair

Prof. Jaap Doek, Chair, UN Committee on the Rights of the Child

29

26

# CLOSING SESSION: A CALL AND PROMISE FOR ACTION

#### Chair

**H.E. Dr. Salim A. Salim,** AU Special Envoy and Chief Mediator for the Inter-Sudanese Peace Talks on Darfur; Secretary-General OAU (1989-2001); Chairman, International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum

34

# Statements by:

H.E. Tim Clarke, Head of Mission, European Union, Ethiopia

Mr. Per Engebak, Regional Director, Eastern and Southern Africa, UNICEF

Mr. David Muthungu, Regional Director, Southern and Eastern Africa, Plan International

Hon. Sofia Simba, Minister for Community Development, Gender and Children, United Republic of Tanzania

Hon. Carina Hagg, Member of the European Parliament

**Mr. Jean Baptiste Zoungrana**, Chairperson, African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child

**Prof. Paulo Pinheiro,** Independent Expert for the UN Secretary-General's Study on Violence against Children

# Special Guest Speaker

**His Grace Archbishop John Onaiyekan**, Catholic Archbishop of Abuja, and former President of the Catholic Bishops' Conference of Nigeria

# ANNEX I:

PROCEEDINGS OF THE ALL-AFRICA CONSULTATIVE MEETING OF CHILD RIGHTS, YOUTH AND HUMAN RIGHTS ORGANISATIONS	39
ANNEX II: FULL TEXT OF THE DECLARATION	46
ANNEX III: FULL TEXT OF INDIVIDUAL PLEDGE	49
ANNEX IV: CHILDREN'S CONSULTATION: VIOLENCE AGAINST CHILDREN	50
ANNEX V: CONFERENCE PROGRAMME	52
ANNEX VI: LIST OF PARTICIPANTS	57

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Second International Policy Conference on the African Child involved considerable preparation and coordination in order to make it a success. The African Child Policy Forum is therefore grateful to all those organisations and individuals who partnered with it in planning and organising the conference.

We are specially grateful to Plan, our major partner over the years and the organisation that was the main donor to the conference. The Forum is also very grateful for the financial and technical support that it received from the AU, UNICEF, UNFPA, the Save the Children Alliance, EU and UNECA. Their partnership and support were essential in ensuring that the objectives of the conference were achieved. We thank Save the Children Sweden for organising and facilitating the children's pre-conference meeting. Credit also goes to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia for facilitating protocol and immigration matters during the conference.

Special thanks to our eminent political and religious leaders who honoured us by their presence: H.E. President Girma Wolde Giorgis, President of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia; H.E. Joaquim Chissano, Former Head of State of the Republic of Mozambique; H.E. Madame Chantal Compaoré, First Lady of Burkina Faso and His Grace Archbishop John Onaiyekan, Catholic Archbishop of Abuja, Nigeria.

Profound gratitude to the excellent team of chairpersons, speakers and discussants for taking their precious time to attend, facilitate and speak at the conference.

Special thanks to Prof. Paulo Pinheiro and the Secretariat of the UN Secretary-General's Study on Violence against Children for sharing with us the insights into the report.

Many thanks to, ILO, UNAIDS, ICRC, Inter-Africa Committee on Traditional Practices Affecting the Health of Women and Children and Uganda Child Rights NGO Network (UCRNN) for contributing to the conference documentation by writing thematic monographs on various aspects of violence against girls in Africa.

We would like to acknowledge and deeply thank the children who participated and shared with us their experiences and views.

To all the participants we are grateful for their participation and for contributing to the achievement of the objectives of the conference and also joining the Forum in the noble cause of fighting all form of violence against children.

CONAFE and ANPPCAN deserve special mention for collaborating with the Forum in organising the All-African Consultative meeting of Child Rights, Youth and Human Rights Organisations.

Lastly, our sincere thanks to our International Board of Trustees, under the leadership of H.E. Dr. Salim A. Salim for their devotion, time and energy to ensure that the conference was a success.

We remain indebted to you all.

Assefa Bequele, Ph.D Executive Director The African Child Policy Forum



# **INTRODUCTION**

The international community now acknowledges that violence against children is a serious problem and cause for concern. According to the World Health Organisation (WHO), as many as 40 million children under the age of 15 are victims of violence every year. In its resolution 56/138, the United Nations (UN) General Assembly requested the Secretary-General to conduct an in-depth study on the issue of violence against children, upon the recommendation of the Committee on the Rights of the Child. In February 2003, the Secretary-General appointed an independent expert, Prof. Paulo Sérgio Pinheiro, to direct the study. The report was to be based on available evidence, information and a series of regional consultations, and be carried out in collaboration with the Office of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) and WHO.

The conference – Violence against Girls in Africa – organised by The African Child Policy Forum (ACPF), was designed to complement and enrich the study process. This conference adds the voices of African women, women activists and leaders, as well as policy-makers, human rights activists, African youth and prominent African figures, to the debate on preventing violence against girls in Africa. The proceedings are informed by a conference report, testimonials, dialogue among the various stakeholders and a special forum for children and youth. A poll-based report on young African women's experiences of violence against them was produced before the conference. The outcome of the conference was a declaration to be and policy makers used as a vehicle for campaigning with the African Union, African governments to develop effective policies and programmes to prevent violence against girls.

#### The Context

Violence – physical, psychological and sexual – is an especially pernicious problem in Africa. As elsewhere, girls are particularly vulnerable, partly due to the influence of traditional values and tolerance towards domestic violence.

Girls in many parts of Africa are victims of early marriage and female genital mutilation (FGM). Early marriage puts African girls at risk of contracting HIV, since most husbands are older and sexually experienced. According to the Botswana Human Development Report 2000, girls under the age of 14 are twice as likely as boys to contract HIV, rising to three times as likely between the ages of 15-29. African girls also contract HIV as a consequence of rape, exploitation and trafficking. HIV and AIDS are causes as well as consequences of violence against girls in Africa. In many instances, the stigmatisation of HIV and AIDS causes others to carry out physical and psychological violence against girls living with HIV or AIDS.

African girls are further subjected to violence in times of conflict, since sexual violence against women and girls is increasingly being used as a weapon of war. In Sudan's Darfur region, for example, many women and girls are being raped, abducted and forced into sexual slavery by Janjaweed militias. Girls in the conflict-ridden Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) also suffer from sexual violence on a large scale, according to a 2005 report by Amnesty International.

The violence experienced by African girls in conflict situations reflects the discrimination and inequality they experience during peace times — at home, at school and in the community. A Human Rights Watch report of March 2001 disclosed the widespread practice of rape, assault and sexual harassment of girls by male students and teachers in South Africa. Various other reports indicate that girls in Ethiopia, Kenya, South Africa and Zambia commonly drop out of school to avoid harassment by male students and teachers.

The conference focused on violence against girls in Africa in the three settings that are the principal areas of concern in the Pinheiro report:

- the family
- schools
- the community

The conference gave special attention to child-to-child violence, which is prevalent in these settings. In addition, the conference complemented the scope of the Pinheiro report by focusing on other forms of violence common in Africa, including:

- in the workplace
- in conflict and crisis situations
- exploitation and trafficking
- in the context of HIV and AIDS

Since women and girls in Africa are the most vulnerable, they should be in the vanguard of the fight against all forms of violence. This conference involved women activists, women leaders and adolescent girls in the ongoing consideration of violence against them. Their voices were added to the process and final outcome of the event, and will contribute to the follow-up debate on violence against children that will take place in New York in 2006, during the 61st ordinary session of the UN General Assembly.

#### **Objectives**

The overall objective of the conference was to contribute to the ongoing international effort to effect attitudinal and policy change relating to violence against girls in Africa. The immediate specific objectives were to:

- provide a platform for like-minded organisations to work together and initiate a pan-African movement opposed to all forms of violence against girls in Africa
- ensure that African views and positions, especially regarding girls, are reflected in actions and resolutions taken by the African Union (AU) and the UN in respect to violence against children
- initiate dialogue and formulate actions to be taken by various stakeholders, particularly governments, to address the issue of violence against girls in Africa.

#### **Conference Format**

The framework for the conference was provided by the *International Policy Conference on the African Child,* a biennial event organised by the ACPF. The conference rationale is to provide a forum for dialogue among child rights activists, policy-makers and experts. The first conference was held in May 2004 in Addis Ababa, on the theme *The African Child and the Family.* The focus of the second conference, violence against girls in Africa, was chosen as particularly appropriate since violence against children is the subject of the special report by the UN Secretary-General and a serious problem in Africa.

Prior to the conference, the ACPF collected information on African girls' experiences of violence from three sources:

- Existing literature on gender-based violence and violence against children.
- Five thematic studies on violence against girls in specific settings that The African Child Policy Forum carried out in collaboration with the Inter-African Committee on Traditional Practices Affecting the Health of Women and Children; the International Committee of the Red Cross; the International Labour Organization; the Uganda Child Rights NGO Network; and UNAIDS.
- Retrospective surveys of the of girls' experiences of violence in Ethiopia, Kenya and Uganda.

This information was shared with conference participants.

#### Outcomes

The conference culminated in the adoption of a declaration to stop violence against girls in Africa. This declaration is directed at the AU, African governments and Civil Society Organizations. It focuses on the way forward, complementing and looking beyond the Pinheiro report.

The conference programme included plenary sessions and panel discussions, and there were meetings of participants and representatives of children's rights, women's and human rights organisations both before and after the conference.

# **Child Participation**

Children and youth groups had the opportunity to participate in the conference and in the process leading up to the event. They presented and shared their experiences and voiced their opinions throughout the conference, following the children's consultation, *Violence against Children*, held before the main meeting.

# Partners

The ACPF organised the conference in partnership with Plan International, one of the world's leading child rights and development organisations.

Both organisations wanted to involve as many potential allies as possible in this very important event. The major partners in organising the conference were the Secretariat of the UN Secretary-General's Study on Violence against Children, African Union, European Union, UN Economic Commission for Africa (UNECA), UN Children's Fund (UNICEF), UN Population Fund (UNFPA), the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, Save the Children Alliance, the Coalition of NGOs working for Children in Africa (CONAFE), African Network for the Prevention and Protection against Child Abuse and Neglect (ANPPCAN), International Labour Organisation (ILO), UNAIDS, International Committee on Traditional Practices, among others.

# Venue and Date

The conference took place on May 11 and 12, 2006 at the United Nations Conference Centre in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. Following the conference, the *All Africa Consultative Meeting of Child Rights, Youth and Human Rights Organisations* took place on May 13; (please see subsequent section for details). A pre-conference children's consultation – Violence against Children – was held on May 9 and 10; (please see following section).

# **PROCEEDINGS OF CONFERENCE SESSIONS**

#### **Opening session**

#### **Conference Statement**

**Dr. Assefa Bequele**, Executive Director, The African Child Policy Forum; Member of the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child

#### Welcome Address

**H.E. Dr. Salim A. Salim,** AU Special Envoy and Chief Mediator for the Inter-Sudanese Peace Talks on Darfur; Secretary-General Organisation for African Unity (OAU) (1989-2001); Chairman, International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum

#### **Partnership for Children**

Mr. Jim Emerson, Chief Operations Officer, Plan International

# My Wishes and my Pledge for Africa's Children

Dr. Rima Salah, Deputy Executive Director, UNICEF

*Children's Report* A report from the pre-conference consultation, Violence against Children, May 9-10, 2006

*Special Guest Speaker* **Mme. Chantal Compaoré,** First Lady of Burkina Faso

*Opening Address* **H.E. President Girma Wolde Giorgis,** President of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia

*Keynote Address* **H.E. President Joaquim Chissano**, former Head of State of Mozambique; Chairperson of the Africa Forum for African Former Heads of State

**Conference Statement by Dr. Assefa Bequele,** Executive Director, The African Child Policy Forum; Member of the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child

**Dr. Assefa Bequele** welcomed all and thanked the many, many people who made this conference possible. He explained that the conference is intended to contribute to the ongoing process involving the preparation of the UN report on violence against children, making the voice of African children heard and seen in the report and in the public arena.

In looking at the problem of violence, four things are particularly striking. The first is the extreme and widespread violence to which children are subjected. The second is that much violence is perpetrated by those closest to the children who are expected to provide protection and care. Thirdly, ill-informed values and traditions result in much violence, and finally, the cost of preventing violence is negligible, since violence is the product of a state of mind and the change needed comes from within.

We must all examine our attitudes toward violence and the way we view, treat or deal with children. We must all assume our responsibilities; as parents, as siblings, as members of the human race. We need to shed the complacency that shamefully marks the African landscape and insist on zero tolerance to any form of violence

The ACPF would like to anchor the deliberations during this conference to concrete action: a conference declaration and a personal pledge of commitment. We should commit ourselves to an Africa that respects

the rights of every man, woman and child and to an Africa that upholds a culture of peace and nonviolence.

**Welcome Address by H.E. Dr. Salim A. Salim**, AU Special Envoy and Chief Mediator for the Inter-Sudanese Peace Talks on Darfur; Secretary-General Organisation for African Unity (OAU) (1989-2001); Chairman, International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum

**H.E. Salim A. Salim**, Chairman of the Board of ACPF, welcomed all participants to the conference. He highlighted the diligent work of the Forum in promoting the rights and welfare of the child through research, advocacy, policy development and policy dialogue.

Violence against children, especially girls, in Africa is a pervasive problem, yet there is very little reported or understood. This has partly to do with the perception that certain forms of violence are acceptable and even desirable. However, only limited research has been carried out on the subject, which is why the work of the ACPF is so critical.

Among other things, the research carried out by the Forum shows that girls are neglected and discriminated against from birth, which in extreme cases leading to death. Of girls surveyed by ACPF, 90 per cent reported being physically abused by the very people they trusted most, including family members and teachers. Girls are often exposed to heavy or difficult labour at an early age, and domestic violence is socially accepted, leading to millions of children living in permanent fear. Trafficking of girls, which sometimes leads to death, is all too common in many parts of Africa, and millions of girls are victims of harmful traditional practices, with about 6,000 girls subjected to female genital mutilation (FGM) every day.

All discrimination, subtle repression and deprivation, disenfranchisement, disentitlement or harassment is accentuated in times of war. Girls and women become targets of war and weapons of war. In the transformation of women and girls from human beings to objects and victims of war, we are all dehumanised.

Violence against women and girls in Africa is a highly complex and emotive area, and should be addressed with sensitivity as well as realism. This conference should move the issue forward and trigger action across the continent, as we commit ourselves as individuals and as a group to act in the best interests of children.

#### Partnership for Children by Mr. Jim Emerson, Chief Operations Officer, Plan International

The speech was read by **Mr. David Muthungu**, Regional Director, Southern and Eastern Africa, Plan International. **Mr. Jim Emerson** recalled Plan's decision in 2002 to support Assefa Bequele in establishing The African Child Policy Forum, an ambitious initiative that has now become a vibrant organisation and one of Plan's key partners in Africa. The Forum is an important centre of advocacy and a hub for influential thinkers, activists and policy-makers.

This conference is timely in addressing the problem of violence against girls, which is too often sanctioned and disguised in many African countries. Plan recognises the problem and is increasingly taking action to help alleviate abuse against children through establishing partnerships with community-based organisations and governments. Together with other non-governmental organisations (NGOs), these efforts are making an enormous difference in the lives of millions of children around the world.

The issue of violence is not simply an African problem; it is a global problem that concerns us all. This conference is very much about commitment. We are expected to conclude the event with a declaration at the end of our deliberations, as well as to make a pledge or personal commitment to taking the cause

further. As an organisation, Plan has committed itself to ending all forms of violence against children, especially girls. This commitment encompasses working to achieve the immediate prohibition of extreme forms of violence; addressing the root causes of violence; contributing to developing the capacity of African civil society; working towards a society that is humane, free of violence and respectful of rights and dialogue; and campaigning for a world where violence against children anywhere is regarded as violence against children everywhere.

#### My Wishes and my Pledge for Africa's Children by Dr. Rima Salah, Deputy Executive Director, UNICEF

**Dr. Rima Salah** recalled the thousands of girls around the world and on the African continent are facing violence in their communities, schools, and homes, as well as dire poverty, conflict, displacement, and the real threat of HIV and AIDS.

The Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) is the world's most ratified human rights treaty, reinforced by the African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child (ACRWC). We also have the protocol to the African Charter on Human and Peoples Rights on the Rights of Women in Africa, and the Cairo Declaration on an Africa Fit for Children, which call for action to end violence against children. We have the tools, but we need to make them matter for girls in Africa.

This year, the Secretary General will release the global study on Violence against Children. This study can make a real difference to the lives of girls by bringing difficult and often hidden issues into the open, and providing concrete recommendations for action to governments, so that they can meet their commitments to children.

We must each commit ourselves to creating a protective environment for children. Laws must be passed to criminalise the sexual exploitation and abuse of girls, and these laws must be enforced, so that perpetrators are punished and victims protected. Collectively, we must advocate for an end to harmful traditional practices and corporal punishment of children. We have to put girls at the centre of all our policies and programmes.

It is important to recognise the links between gender inequality and gender-based violence. Promoting women's social, economic and political rights is not only important for women, but also important for children. The empowerment of women and girls in Africa is not just good for girls or for Africa, but good for the world.

Children's Report: A report from the pre-conference consultation, Violence against Children, May 9-10, 2006

Forty four children<sup>1</sup> from Somalia, the Sudan, Senegal, Kenya, Uganda and Ethiopia and their interpreters convened at the Addis Ababa Hilton in a regional conference organised by Save the Children Sweden for two days (May 9-10). They discussed various issues on violence against children including its causes and forms as well as solutions.

**Children's Report:** We are girls and boys from Ethiopia, Kenya, Senegal, Somalia, Sudan and Uganda who participated in the children's consultation, *Violence against Children*, held on May 9 and 10, 2006. We discussed many forms of violence, mainly physical, psychological and sexual. The forms of violence which are most common in our countries are corporal and other forms of humiliating punishment, sexual abuse, female genital mutilation (FGM), bullying, etc.

Some of the causes of these forms of violence are:

- harmful traditional attitudes, in particular against girls;
- lack of awareness on the affect of violence on children;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The children were all aged under 18 years old.

- ignorance of people about child rights;
- lack of good governance;
- lack of child participation;
- irresponsibility of adults;
- gender discrimination;
- overall violence in society, including war and conflict.

Based on the CRC and ACRWC, we propose the following:

- 1. Governments should adopt and implement laws against all forms of violence (including corporal and other forms of humiliating punishment, child sexual abuse, FGM, etc);
- 2. Governments should create awareness raising programmes on violence against children;
- 3. Governments and other agencies should encourage children to participate in all activities fighting violence and discrimination;
- 4. Governments and other agencies should create awareness of the population on the consequences of violence by using child friendly tools (for example in the media) to reach children and adults;
- 5. Governments and other agencies should enable children to have access to information about international and regional mechanisms, such as CRC and ACRWC.

Our peers, parents, governments, the international community and the African Union: we call on all of you to help us children to achieve our rights, including protection from all forms of violence.

# Special Guest Speaker: Mme. Chantal Compaoré, First Lady of Burkina Faso

**Mme.** Compaoré expressed pleasure about being back in Addis Ababa, a symbol of African freedom and dignity, and the seat of great international organisations.

Women and especially girls are victims of violence around the world. Africa is experiencing the dramatic consequences of this violence, aggravated by armed conflict, socio-political crises, poverty and the survival of harmful practices. The problem of violence against girls is so complex that only engagement based on personal conviction stands a chance of eradicating it.

Three critical actions are required. Firstly, to create a united front against all forms of violence committed against children. Secondly, to reinforce legislation and policies directed at promoting and protecting the rights of children. Finally, to insist on the ratification and implementation of the CRC and the ACRWC.

On a personal level, Mme Compaoré pledged to continue supporting the Inter-African Committee on Harmful Traditional Practices, the organisation of African First Ladies and the Suka Foundation.

Credit is due to the ACPF for organising this conference, and to all NGOs working for the benefit of African children. The Day of the African Child is an opportunity for African countries to advance the rights of the child and to ensure their well-being. It is imperative that we form a chain of solidarity and synergise our actions, regionally and internationally. Policy-makers are urged to release sufficient resources for activities promoting the well-being of children.

**Opening Address: H.E. President Girma Wolde Giorgis**, President of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia

**H.E. Girma Wolde Giorgis** welcomed all and especially the children, 'the flowers of today and the fruits of tomorrow'. He indicated that we owe it to them and to ourselves that they be given the respect and care they deserve, and that they be put first in all our private considerations and in the public domain.

The meeting programme shows an extraordinary cast of exceptionally distinguished world authorities on human and children's rights, which makes this conference quite unique.

In Africa, there are many cultural practices that are particularly harmful to girls. Both in the past and at present, girls are exposed to socially accepted forms of violence. As long as women have no power to influence their lives, men will continue to subjugate them to violence. We need to do something about this. This conference should deliberate on the socio-economic root causes that underpin the problem of violence in our societies, so we can come up with medium to long term approaches to deal with this pernicious problem.

In the meantime, we have the moral imperative to address the conditions of those who need immediate help and assistance. Battered women and children cannot wait; they need to be rescued, assisted and cared for on a priority basis. Therefore, the conference will also need to discuss the lessons we have learned about providing immediate social, legal and rehabilitative measures.

All those who are engaged in helping the victims of violence deserve thanks – not just from me, or from the government – but from us all. It is up to everyone in this room to stop all forms of violence against children. With this resolution, the President declared the conference officially open.

**Keynote Address: H.E. President Joaquim Chissano**, former Head of State of Mozambique; Chairperson of the Africa Forum for African Former Heads of State

**H.E. Joaquim Chissano** called violence against girls a despicable and abominable act that unfortunately remains widespread in Africa.

Violence against girls is multiple faced. Women and girls are the main victims of domestic violence. They are targets of domestic and international trafficking, recruitment as child soldiers, sexual abuse, and numerous forms of other abuses. We conveniently seem to find reasons for not taking decisive action about the chain of ancient customary and cultural practices and taboos. We need to break this silence, tacit denial and neglect.

Much has been done already; in terms of developing relevant instruments such as the 1989 CRC and 1990 ACRWC. The latter provides an African perspective on how best to pursue efforts aimed at ensuring the welfare and protection of the rights of the African child. The wide ratification of these two extremely important legal instruments bears testimony to the leadership and foresight by African leaders, demonstrating their commitment to the protection of the rights of all children, in particular girls. It was also through this kind of leadership that the UN adopted the Millennium Development Goals in the year 2000. They constitute a new global deal for development with a clear set of goals, in which child rights issues feature prominently.

Realising these rights has become a matter of priority for African countries. However, despite all these efforts, violence against children, especially girls, persists in Africa and has reached an alarming scale. Legislation is indeed necessary, but not sufficient in combating child abuse. We all know that effective enforcement of legislation remains very low in Africa. Most African countries do not have the requisite capacity to implement all the objectives of the law. This is why some violators continue to defy existing laws and exploit loopholes in the legal systems to continue to inflict untold violence on children.

At the national political level, we must strike the right balance between enforcement and prevention, and between punishment and persuasion. At the same time, we need to do all we can to strengthen enforcement. This means that governments should not only enforce laws, but also ensure that ordinary people know what those laws mean, why they were enacted and for what purpose they exist.

Through public awareness raising campaigns, we need to establish a culture of debate in our people. We need to encourage a free and open discussion of issues, including the danger of damaging children, the



future of our continent, through perpetrating violence.

As guardians of our tradition and cultural heritage, we must not be afraid of questioning prevailing traditions or taboos if they serve to justify humiliation or violence inflicted on another human being. Keeping tradition and cultural heritage rich and vibrant means adjusting it to the current dynamic of the world, and discarding what has ceased to be useful or relevant. A child should have a unique and privileged position in African society. The full and harmonious development of our children should be the responsibility of all Africans, no matter what their personal position.

#### SESSION I: VIOLENCE, WOMEN AND GIRLS - THE INTERNATIONAL DIMENSION

Chair

**Prof. Jaap Doek, Chair,** UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, and Member of the International Board of Trustees of The African Child Policy Forum

*Violence against Women: The International Dimension* **Dr. Yakin Erturk,** UN Special Rapporteur on Violence against Women

*Dealing with Violence: Lessons from International Experience* **Ms. Nyaradzai Gumbonzvanda,** Regional Programme Director for East and Horn of Africa. UNIFEM

*Moving on from Violent Punishment of Children* **Mr. Peter Newell**, Coordinator of the Global Initiative to End Corporal Punishment of Children

**Violence against Women: The International Dimension by Dr. Yakin Erturk,** UN Special Rapporteur on Violence against Women

**Dr. Yakin Erturk** pointed out that violence against girls in Africa is part of a universal problem transcending cultural, class and geographic boundaries. Historically, unequal power relationships are rooted in a patriarchal legacy premised on a hierarchical structure of male control over children and women, which is maintained through the use or threat of violence. Non-discrimination on the basis of sex is one of the fundamental principles of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, but its implications for women only became apparent through the 1995 Fourth World Conference on Women in Beijing.

International declarations have provided the legal tools to hold governments accountable for violence committed against women by state actors. The 1993 Declaration on the Elimination of Violence against Women extends this responsibility to acts committed by non-state actors in either the private or public sphere. A life free of violence is now recognised as an entitlement of women and girls. Ensuring this is a State obligation.

However, cultural relativism still serves as a major justification for violence against women and girls. The growth of fundamentalist movements around the world as well as conservative political trends pose serious barriers to implementing international human rights standards.

International law is still essentially bounded by sovereign state boundaries, but new, non-state actors are emerging whose responsibilities vis-à-vis human rights standards have not been subject to sufficient scrutiny. The failure to develop effective solutions to the increase in the trafficking of women and girls for the purposes of labour and sexual exploitation is a case in point.

Progress made so far proves that if we take it upon ourselves, it is possible to resist and react to violence against women and girls, wherever and whenever it occurs.

**Dealing with Violence: Lessons from International Experience by Ms. Nyaradzai Gumbonzvanda,** Regional Programme Director for East and Horn of Africa. UNIFEM

**Ms.** Nyaradzai Gumbonzvanda highlighted the main forms of violence committed against girls and women. She stressed that since this violence is committed at home, in schools and in their communities, and further compounded by poverty and situations of war and conflict, no place is a safe space for women and girls any longer. Places assumed to be safe have become hidden zones of violence.

International responses to these issues of violence have included the setting of normative human rights and legal frameworks and the strengthening of existing legal protection mechanisms. Reconciliation committees in post-conflict situations include elements of gender justice whilst making support services available to survivors of violence. Through research, awareness raising and advocacy, governments and civil society attempt to address the root causes of violence. However, the large body of existing national and international laws and conventions, including the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) which has been ratified by 173 countries, has so far failed to protect women and girls from violence.

We need to practice a zero tolerance policy towards all forms of gender-based violence. Instruments to implement national legislation and policies need to be adequately resourced, and more attention is required to promote prevention initiatives.

We should also recognise that women's and girls' ability to address violence against them is directly related to their social and economic empowerment. We therefore need to support community-based prevention and protection mechanisms that include women and girls as active participants. Above all, we need to bring all perpetrators of violence against girls and women to justice, thus protecting the survivors of violence from further abuse.

Moving on from Violent Punishment of Children by Mr. Peter Newell, Coordinator of the Global Initiative to End Corporal Punishment of Children

**Mr. Peter Newell** argued that violent punishment scars the childhood of the majority of the world's children. There is a global assumption that adults can hit and humiliate children with impunity. Fewer than 20 countries have completely prohibited all corporal punishment, with about 10 more committed to do so.

We need to recognise that we will not make significant progress in challenging the worst forms of violence against children if we continue to endorse routine, daily, casual violence at home, in schools and in childcare institutions. The UN Secretary General's Study on Violence against Children needs to end adult hypocrisy and double standards that have defended humiliation and violence against children for so long. It is encouraging that all nine of the Regional Consultations held for this study advocated for the prohibition of corporal punishment.

From the perspective of international human rights law, corporal punishment is illegal, and clear and explicit law reform is required to send a clear message to society. Changing the law is not in itself expensive, and linking law reform to comprehensive awareness raising does not have to be expensive either.

Corporal punishment has a legal status in every African state. We are not asking favours of governments; we are insisting that they take their human rights obligations seriously. The all-Africa report, Ending *Legalised Violence against Children*, that was launched at this conference details these obligations and includes messages from many African opinion leaders, including religious leaders. This is important, because they challenge the idea that religious texts justify violence against children.

No more adult excuses. Why should children wait?

**The plenary discussion** began with a question about the proposed 16 Days of Activism against Violence to be held from the November 16 (The World Day of Prevention of Child Abuse) and the December 10 (Human Rights Day), which also encompasses World AIDS Day on the December 1. Participants were encouraged to take forward issues raised at the conference during the 16 Days, but also not to save their activism until the end of the year!

The impact of HIV and AIDS on orphaned or vulnerable African children was considered in light of standards of care for children who have no option but to live in institutions. The CRC does contain provisions for minimum childcare standards, and a recent report of a UN Taskforce on the Girl Child affected by HIV and AIDS in southern Africa contained substantive recommendations on addressing the issue of standards. Displaced and fractured families are also especially vulnerable to violence. Protection and prevention work must be undertaken simultaneously.

Participants talked about the need to set up mechanisms to implement international conventions, so that policies reach down to grassroots level. Even where countries have signed optional protocols, they can be negligent: CEDAW and CRC are among the most ratified but least implemented conventions. We need to prioritise children's rights at domestic and international levels through integrating violence against children into national planning processes, such as Poverty Reduction Strategies, to increase resources and accountability. Civil society and pan-African courts could also be ways of holding governments accountable for violations of children's rights. The African Union's investigation into sexual misconduct in Darfur was used as an example of useful experience in engaging with gender-based violence that should be disseminated and taken forward.

# SESSION II: VIOLENCE, WOMEN AND GIRLS - THE AFRICAN DIMENSION

Chair

Adv. Bience Gawanas, Commissioner for Social Affairs, African Union, and Member of the International Board of Trustees of the African Child Policy Forum

*Violence against Girls in Africa: An overview* **Mr. David Mugawe,** Conference Director, The African Child Policy Forum

*Violence against Girls: Experience and Protection in West Africa* **Mr. Guy Massart,** West Africa Regional Research and Evaluation Advisor, Plan International

*Sexual Violence against Girls, HIV and AIDS* **Ms. Konjit Kifetew**, Project Officer UNAIDS Ethiopia

Violence against Children at Work

Mr. Yaw Ofosu, Senior Child Labour Specialist, International Labour Organization

*Violence against Girls in Crisis and Conflict Situations* **Ms. Florence Tercier Holst-Roness,** Advisor in Women and War, International Committee of the Red Cross

*Violence against Girls in Schools* **Ms. Maryce Ramsey**, Director, Safe Schools Programme

# **Violence against Girls in Africa: An overview by Mr. David Mugawe,** Conference Director, The African Child Policy Forum

**Mr. David Mugawe** argued that if we are to tackle violence against children, we must understand what we mean by violence and where and why it happens. Violence is generally considered as a violation of the rights to life, security, dignity, and physical and psychological well-being. Violence carried out against women and girls is essentially control and coercion directed specifically against a woman because of her gender.

Girls in Africa are particularly vulnerable to various forms of violence – both because of their gender and because of socio-economic and cultural conditions. But it would be a mistake to assume that girls face abuse only in such exceptional circumstances, i.e., in crisis and conflict. With girls violence does not end when a ceasefire is declared or a peace deal signed, as girls continue to face the stigma surrounding sexual exploitation, whereas former boy combatants are usually accepted by the community. Violence is widespread in schools, in homes and in the communities of African girls.

Mr. Mugawe gave the following examples:

- South African health officials say adolescent girls are twice as likely to contract HIV as boys.
- In an ACPF survey in Ethiopia one quarter of rape cases were perpetrated by a male relative. Unfortunately, many rapes go unreported to authorities in South Africa, for example, less than three per cent of rape cases are reported.
- In some regions of Nigeria, girls marry on average just after their 11th birthday.
- Prevailing poverty leaves girls with little choice but to join the workforce, often under exploitative and sometimes violent conditions. A desire to escape poverty and access wider opportunities leaves girls vulnerable to traffickers: around the world two million girls between the ages of five and fifteen are introduced into the commercial sex market each year.
- Around 130 million women and girls have undergone female genital cutting, most of whom live in Africa. Another two million are at risk of this degrading and dangerous practice every year. Although the practice is not unique to the continent, 28 of the countries where girls undergo FGC are African.
- In schools girls face violence in their classrooms and on their way to school; according to The African Child Policy Forum's retrospective survey, female teachers (16 per cent) were the main perpetrators of physical maltreatment on girls in Kenya. A national survey in South Africa found that 32 per cent of reported child rapes were carried out by teachers.
- A survey in Ethiopia by The African Child Policy Forum found that 72 per cent of children had been slapped when at school.
- In Botswana 67 per cent of schoolgirls surveyed had been sexually harassed by their teachers.
- A 2005 survey in Cameroon found that 16 per cent of secondary students had been sexually abused.

Although the impact of this violence against girls varies according to the type of violence and the context in which it is carried out, it has a number of overarching consequences. First and foremost violence against girls is a denial of their fundamental human rights as adopted in many international laws and conventions. Secondly, there is growing recognition that a country will not reach its full potential as long as women and girls are denied the opportunity to participate fully in society. Thirdly, violence has farreaching physical and psychological consequences, and can result in internalising violence as a form of conflict resolution. Fourthly, there are also costs of violence that go beyond the individual. These are referred to as socio-economic costs, and can be put into four categories:

- **Direct costs:** expenses incurred in treating, addressing and preventing violence: institutions such as the police, judiciary, medical or social services.
- Non-monetary costs: the pain and suffering of people who experience or witness violence, in some cases leading to depressive disorders, alcohol or drug abuse, or even death.
- Economic multiplier effects: reduced productivity, absenteeism, decreased labour market

participation, lower earnings and decreased investment, with a negative impact on the economy.

• **Social-multiplier effects:** the impact on interpersonal relationships and quality of life; intergenerational transmission of violence and the erosion of social capital.

The African Child Policy Forum believes that ending violence against girls in Africa is one of the most pressing challenges facing Africa today and can no longer remain hidden. The ACPF calls upon governments and civil society to act decisively and promptly in implementing the legal instruments in place to protect children from violence. Every one of us must also commit time and resources to ending the gross injustices that will continue to take place in every country across Africa until we raise our voices to end them. Lessons must be drawn from the successes of practical programmes that provide assistance to girls who have experienced violence. These can provide valuable insights for implementing similar support mechanisms across Africa.

**Violence against Girls: Experience and Protection in West Africa by Mr. Guy Massart,** West Africa Regional Research and Evaluation Advisor, Plan International

**Mr. Guy Massart** discussed the transition from traditional and cohesive egalitarian societies to modern societies fostering individual rights. A study conducted in rural Benin, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Niger and Senegal confirmed that the weakest social groups suffer the most in (temporarily) dysfunctional societies. In male-dominated societies, girls lack social capital as they are considered crucial for the reproduction of society, and their bodies are considered as prizes to be won by men. These attitudes expose them disproportionately to beatings, food deprivation, threats of witchcraft and sexually-oriented aggression.

Although local norms unanimously condemn these practices, communities often feel that the movement of girls needs to be physically constrained to specific spaces under adult control in order to maintain social order. The use of violence is considered a legitimate way to obtain obedience and conformity to social norms.

Although it may be the girl herself who decides to use her body, which often is her only resource, to escape marriage to an older man, or as a means of gaining some economic independence, it is not uncommon for families to encourage girls to engage in occasional transactional sex to supplement the family income. Whilst teenage pregnancies and abortions are common, girls are still stigmatised as promiscuous.

Without addressing power relations in rural communities, it is unlikely that girls will ever be able to acquire enough social capital to escape violence. Therefore, any effort to support girls in their efforts to become more independent should originate from existing norms and survival strategies.

# Sexual Violence against Girls, HIV and AIDS by Ms. Konjit Kifetew, Project Officer UNAIDS Ethiopia

Ms. Konjit Kifetew discussed the contribution of gender-based violence to the continued spread of HIV, which has already claimed more than 20 million lives in Africa. The absence of specific instruments to protect girls from sexual abuse and coercion in national AIDS programmes perpetuates a situation in which millions of women continue to experience horrifying situations of sexual violence, and is partly to blame for gender-based violence remaining an important factor in Africa's HIV and AIDS pandemic.

In Africa, 58 per cent of those infected with HIV are women, with infection rates among girls in sub-Saharan Africa four to seven times higher than among boys. A study in Rwanda showed that the incidence of HIV amongst female rape victims was more than 50% higher than for women who had not been raped.

Violence against girls is an under-reported crime for complex social and cultural reasons. Women often lack the negotiating power to refuse sex. The shame and stigma associated with rape, and the real and perceived difficulties in the reporting system and within the judicial processes lead many girls and young women to decide against reporting crimes of sexual violence.

There is a wide range of international human rights laws and conventions that have the potential to provide women and girls in Africa with better protection if they are incorporated into national law. By failing to enact and enforce laws, African governments fail to take responsibility for protecting girls and women from sexual violence and the attendant increased risk of HIV.

UNAIDS recommends that governments embark on legislative and programmatic reform, promote public education and enhance family contributions to address the spread of HIV and AIDS through gender-based violence.

Violence against Children at Work by Mr. Yaw Ofosu, Senior Child Labour Specialist, International Labour Organization

**Mr. Yaw Ofosu** drew the participants' attention to the violence committed against children in the workplace. Africa has over 50 million child workers and is the only continent where the number of child workers is actually growing. Many of these children are involved in what the international community labels the 'worst forms of child labour', with over 50,000 children in prostitution and pornography, 120,000 actively involved in war, and many more abducted and trafficked for bonded labour.

Although globally more boys than girls are involved in child labour and hazardous work, girls are more often exposed to serious violence. Data is limited and difficult to collect, but it is known that girls face verbal abuse, emotional torture, denial of food and water, forced overwork, physical aggression, kidnapping, sexual violations and even murder.

Girls in domestic labour are especially at risk. Most of these girls are from extremely poor backgrounds and are hidden away, so they lack negotiating power to confront their employers about being confined to the home, working extremely long hours, facing physical, psychological and sexual abuse. These girls are at increased risk of exposure to HIV, and many suffer from psychological disorders due to their confinement in prison-like conditions. Extreme forms of violence occur when children are trafficked, with girls bearing the brunt of threatened or actual verbal, physical or sexual violence to force submission.

The most obvious solution to ending violence against children in the workplace is to end child labour altogether. As this objective is very far from realised, we need to mobilise society to establish codes of conduct, information and monitoring systems, and improve access to education for all working children.

**Violence against Girls in Crisis and Conflict Situations by Ms. Florence Tercier Holst-Roness**, Advisor in Women and War, International Committee of the Red Cross

**Ms. Florence Tercier Holst-Roness** discussed violence against girls in Africa resulting from armed conflicts and from being separated from caregivers due to being displaced. Obvious threats result from acts of war, with many children dying or becoming physically injured through direct fighting or because of landmines. However, under such conditions, girls are at increased risk of sexual violence and thus of contracting HIV and becoming pregnant, sometimes at a very early age. Early pregnancies can lead to many well-documented health-related problems such as fistula. Further, it is important not to lose sight of the emotional damage resulting from trauma and stigmatisation.

Girls associated with fighting forces are almost without exception sexually abused, and often have actively participated in violent acts themselves. Girls suffering from emotional trauma after such horrendous experiences often have to deal with the double stigma of being a former child soldier and feeling morally defiled when they attempt to reintegrate into society. Psychological support is necessary if these girls are ever to return to a normal life.

There is a strong need for a gendered approach in programmes dealing with the reintegration of children who have been associated with fighting forces and children who have been separated from their families

in times of conflict and displacement. International agencies dealing with reintegration need to assimilate their activities and produce gender- and age-disaggregated data in order to address the specific issues girls are confronted with.

#### Violence against Girls in Schools by Ms. Maryce Ramsey, Director, Safe Schools Programme

**Ms. Maryce Ramsey** presented The Safe Schools Programme, which addresses school-related genderbased violence in Malawi and Ghana to create safe environments for all girls and boys, resulting in improved educational outcomes and reduced negative health outcomes. Safe Schools aims to identify the most effective interventions in reducing gender-based violence in schools over a five-year pilot.

Physical, sexual, or psychological gender-based violence can take place in the school, on the school grounds, going to and from school, or in school dormitories. It is based on gendered norms for roles and relationships and is perpetrated by teachers, pupils, or community members, with girls and boys being victims as well as perpetrators. Violence negatively affects educational and reproductive health outcomes, but is also a human rights issue. Change is required at individual, community, institutional and national levels.

The programme takes a social mobilisation approach, involving planned actions and processes to reach, influence and involve all segments of society in order to effect behavioural change. Safe Schools works with ministries to ensure children's rights are institutionalised and protected, and strengthens their ability to implement effective teacher codes of conduct. It works with schools to train them on appropriate classroom management and preventing gender-based violence. It emphasises the role teachers can play as child protectors. With parents and community leaders, Safe Schools works to recognise and uphold children's rights and develop Community Action Plans to stop gender-based violence. Through trained and trusted counsellors, Safe Schools works with children themselves to empower them to know and claim their rights.

The programme helps develop life skills to prevent gender-based violence and engage in healthy relationships based on rights, respect and responsibility.

**The plenary discussion** posed a number of questions to the panel, including the issue of why people focus on violence suffered by girls, when boys are also subjected to violence, including sexual violence. It is our duty to protect all children, regardless of gender, although girls are generally more vulnerable to the worst forms of violence.

Participants enquired whether the Safe Schools Programme followed up allegations of rape that came out during their study. Maryce Ramsey responded that the survey found out whether children had reported any violence they had experienced and what happened in consequence. In some cases, referrals were made; for example, in Ghana, the Ministry of Education followed up an allegation of rape that was made against a teacher.

Preceding the need to mobilise resources, African governments and communities were implored to decide the actions and strategies with which they are going to address violence and the required resources can be identified following this plan of action.

It was observed that parents are themselves victims of social norms and are often ridiculed for trying to raise children in a non-violent way. We should support parents and other caregivers who do implement good practice in raising children and begin to question socially accepted practices such as bride prices. We also need to listen to children and ensure that they have a voice, by helping children to develop in a way that enables them to advocate on their own behalf. The private sector is another potential partner in the fight to counter violence against children, as one option in providing better access to services that can help children protect themselves.

#### SESSION III: VIOLENCE BY CHILDREN AGAINST CHILDREN: CHILDREN AS PART OF THE SOLUTION

#### Chair

Ms. Lena Karlsson, Global Advisor, Save the Children Sweden

*Violence by Children against Children: A Growing Concern* **Ms. Carol Bower,** Executive Director, Resources Aimed at the Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect (RAPCAN)

*The Southern Africa Experience* **Dr. Anthony Simpson**, Social Anthropology Department, Manchester University, UK

*The Asian Experience* **Ms. Lena Karlsson,** Global Advisor, Save the Children Sweden

*Comments by Children* **Mr. Mohammed Seyid** (Kenya) & **Mr. Basim Elias** (Sudan)

**Violence by Children against Children: A Growing Concern by Ms. Carol Bower,** Executive Director, Resources Aimed at the Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect (RAPCAN)

**Ms. Carol Bower** shed some light on the occurrence and impact of violence by children against children. This phenomenon is not new, but there are signs that it is increasing. It has been recognised only recently that child-on-child violence is not an innocent aspect of childhood and that adult violence has its roots in childhood.

Peer-on-peer violence includes almost all the same forms of violence as those committed by adults on children. Children have been found to inflict emotional, physical and sexual abuse on other children. The statistics are shocking: around 38 per cent of children interviewed in South Africa reported some form of child-inflicted violence in the previous seven weeks, and 40 per cent of all reported rapes in South Africa involve an under-18 year old perpetrator. Some sex-offenders are as young as seven years old.

The roots of this child-on-child violence are complex, but in essence can be traced back to children witnessing adults hurting each other and children. Many African cultures place a high value on dominance and power. Children who perpetrate violence are likely to become violent adults, whilst child victims can develop physical and psychological problems as adults.

We need to listen to victimised children to help them deal with their experiences. Children require greater supervision to prevent further violence. Violence needs to be reported to show that there are consequences following violent behaviour.

The victimising child needs to be made aware that violence will not be tolerated and to accept the negative consequences of their behaviour. They need to be taught appropriate conflict resolution skills and empathy for their victims.

**The Southern Africa Experience by Dr. Anthony Simpson,** Social Anthropology Department, Manchester University, UK

**Dr. Anthony Simpson** recalled his studies in Zambia on constructions of masculinity and their impact on gender-based violence. In order to confront violence against girls, we must recognise the violence committed against boys in the lessons they are given about how to be 'real' men. Young men often described their fathers as silent and emotionally distant figures, or as violent, brutal, rough, harsh and fierce. An absence of emotional warmth and physical affection between first sons and their fathers is considered normal in African families.

A significant method of a father's discipline was physical punishment and the almost constant threat of it. Many boys recall witnessing their fathers beating their mothers, and being unable to intervene. A man's actions towards his wife and children express his power and ownership over them, and boys learn that 'real' men claim superiority over women. This claim is often sustained with reference to men's greater physical strength, African tradition and Christianity.

Boys also have to struggle among peers to achieve manhood. Older boys often force their juniors to fight age-mates, and multiple-partner sexual intercourse is made into an important measure of manliness. Demonstrations of sexual potency need to involve penetrative vaginal intercourse - the only activity judged to be proper sex. Although girls' sexual desire needs to be recognised so they are not always cast as victims, the violent conquest of women is a central element in male competition.

Process drama is a very useful tool to facilitate the interrogation of stereotypical constructions of masculinity and femininity leading to gender-based violence. The experience outlined here from Zambia shows the willingness of youth to find solutions for these problems. They must not be denied this opportunity.

#### The Asian Experience by Ms. Lena Karlsson, Global Advisor, Save the Children Sweden

**Ms. Lena Karlsson** informed the meeting about the experience of child participation in efforts to end violence against children in South Asia. Children, especially boys, in South Asia learn that conflicts are resolved through violence (bullying, sexual abuse, etc.), but when asked indicate they would much prefer non-hegemonic forms of masculinity that promote tolerance, non-violence, respect and gender equality.

Most programmes and initiatives to end violence are designed by adults and ignore the active participation of children. However, children want to be part of the solution and ask adults to encourage children's involvement, share information, model participatory behaviour and help them to develop the skills needed to play their part, whilst creating a safe environment for participation. Child participation is not only important because it is a right, but also because it increases the effectiveness of interventions and empowers children as current members of civil society. Meaningful participation is characterised by an ethical, safe, non-discriminatory and child-friendly approach.

Examples from Bangladesh, Nepal and India show that children are able to bring the degree of violence in their communities to the surface using street theatre, discussion groups and children's clubs, and can even contribute to mobilising state legislative powers to incorporate legal instruments banning the use of violence against children. Twenty-five South Asian children participated in the Regional Consultation for the UN Study on Violence against Children in Pakistan, and a delegation of children is part of the South Asia Forum on Violence against Children.

#### **Comments by Children**

**Mr. Mohamed Seyid** from Kenya and **Mr. Basim Elias**, assisted by Ms. **Aliya Musa**, from Sudan brought a youth perspective to the issue of violence against children, following the Children's Consultation preceding the conference.

Mohamed Seyid talked about his experiences of child-to-child violence. He explained that bullying at school can take the form of name calling or beating, and is often based on ethnic or religious divisions. Many children experience violence at home from siblings; in particular, sisters are abused by their brothers if they refuse to do housework. Street children - especially recent arrivals to the street - are vulnerable to attack or robbery by other street children. Children with rich or influential parents can sometimes take advantage of their position to attack less well off children.

Recommendations arising from the Children's Consultation focus on the need for teachers, parents and

other adults not only to listen to children but to take action. Children and adults should learn about the CRC and gender discrimination through awareness raising activities in public spaces, universities and other places. Adults need to stop using violence against children or violent behaviour will continue in the next generation. One of the reasons for violence against children was identified as stress about money, so the government needs to create more employment opportunities. Rehabilitation is a more effective strategy for violent children than prison, and children should never be imprisoned alongside adult criminals. Finally, both girls and boys should respect each other, and carry out their responsibilities as well as asking for their rights.

Basim Elias described some of the actions taken to combat violence against children by a network of child rights organisations in Sudan. Members of the network have visited marginalised communities, such as orphanages and camps for displaced people, to conduct orientation sessions, peer-to-peer training and training for trainers on violence against children, communication skills, FGM, HIV and AIDS, and the CRC. Another strategy is awareness raising in public places, schools and universities. Children and youth have participated in discussions with the government and local NGOs to try and address the gaps between CRC obligations and current laws. In 2005, a two-day workshop for 20 youth NGOs was held to inform them about harmonisation of the CRC, and 50 children from different Arab countries were trained on children's rights.

We encourage children to take matters forward and act on the recommendations to stop violence against children.

**The plenary discussion** began with a comment about the recommendations calling for the passing of new laws. To put in place effective laws that will have an impact, strong social consensus about the legislation is needed. Listening to and involving children is an important way of making sure that laws are backed up by commitment within Africa.

Participants considered the impact of violence in the media on our children. It was agreed that this is a complicated issue and that it is not possible to determine the impact of the media without considering the larger context, but that the media could be a positive force for change. One of the youth participants felt that violent television and films did affect children, who sometimes want to re-enact what they have seen, but added, "our fathers are the ones who buy the televisions."

Another young participant stressed the importance of rehabilitation for children convicted of crimes, especially when minor, rather than putting children in prison with adults. Children and adults need to work together to examine the factors in society that create violent behaviour. Unlike in the past, children absolutely have to be part of the solution.

#### SESSION IV: TOWARDS A COMMON POSITION

Chair

Ms. Christine Cornwell, Member of the International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum

DAY 2

#### The UN Report on Violence against Children

**Prof. Paulo S. Pinheiro,** Independent Expert for the UN Secretary-General's Study on Violence against Children

What does it mean for Africa?

**Discussants:** 

Hon. Sofia Simba, Minister for Community Development, Gender and Children, United Republic of Tanzania

**Ambassador Moushira Khattab**, Secretary General, National Council for Childhood & Motherhood, Egypt, and Vice Chair of UN Committee on the Rights of the Child

**Prof. Jaap Doek,** Chair, UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, and Member of the International Board of Trustees of the African Child Policy Forum

Mr. Don McPhee, Regional Programme Support Manager, West Africa Regional Office, Plan International

**The UN Report on Violence against Children by Prof. Paulo S. Pinheiro,** Independent Expert for the UN Secretary-General's Study on Violence against Children

**Prof. Paulo Pinheiro** highlighted the main recommendations of his report on Violence against Children, which he will present to the UN General Assembly in October this year, together with a more substantial book. The central message of the Study will be that no violence against children is justifiable, and arguments about tradition, excuses of necessity or disguise as discipline will not be tolerated. Children are vulnerable and that should be an unassailable case for more – not less – protection from violence. A world that allows violence against children has no hope of combating violence in the adult world.

The report will not propose new international instruments, but instead will argue for effective action based on current state obligations. All sectors in society share responsibility for condemning, preventing and responding to violence against children. The report suggests that a high-profile and influential international mechanism is required to ensure coordinated follow-up action and monitoring of progress. In order to ensure that the issues raised by the report remain high on the agenda, a Special Representative to the UN Secretary General should be appointed. This person should ensure the continued participation of children and young people in the process, bringing them to the heart of the UN.

Prof. Pinheiro expressed his hope that the African Union will consider how best to work globally and link to the Special Representative, thus ensuring that the report becomes a living instrument; a catalyst for real and lasting change in the lives of African children and a decisive turning point towards the elimination of violence against children.

Hon. Sofia Simba, Minister for Community Development, Gender and Children, United Republic of Tanzania

**Hon. Sofia Simba** said that the UN Secretary General's Study on Violence against Children covers all the salient features of violence against girls. However, its success remains dependent on effective implementation.

African societies consider children as a gift and as a means to secure their future, but continue to inflict violence against them. This violence is preventable and the family is in a unique and important position to change the current situation. Questions need to be asked about what has happened to the traditional African family system, and whether modern lifestyles are causing family systems to disintegrate.

African countries have formulated laws and conventions, but they are not enough. Many cases go unreported, as they are not regarded as violence. Violence against girls is entrenched in many people's mindsets, so laws must be complemented by creating awareness, campaigning and advocacy to ensure proper child care.

The recommendations of the UN Secretary General's Study on Violence against Children must take into account the paucity of resources in Africa. It should also emphasise the fundamental causes of violence against children in Africa.

**Ambassador Moushira Khattab**, Secretary General, National Council for Childhood & Motherhood, Egypt, and Vice Chair of UN Committee on the Rights of the Child

**Ambassador Moushira Khattab** began by noting that the Regional Consultations are a major departure from similar studies carried out before. The process has been as important as the study itself.

Africa is aware of the problem of violence against children and is taking some positive steps; for example, Egypt's First Lady is taking steps to address trafficking and child exploitation. Particular attention must be paid to the needs of vulnerable children. All children must enjoy human rights on an equal footing. No religion in the world encourages or sanctions violence, but negative traditions and customs continue to permit violence to continue.

The Convention on the Rights of the Child has been ratified by almost every country, but implementation is lacking. The report must lead to strategies and steps to be taken at national and international levels to provide protection, interventions and rehabilitation. Nothing within the study is surprising, and it does not draw new conclusions. If we listen to the study's recommendations and implement them we will end violence against children. A steering committee should monitor the implementation of the report's recommendations and data collection should be disaggregated by country, with coordinating bodies at national level.

Accountability and good governance within the family, schools and institutions will help ensure a commitment to ensuring human rights for children.

**Prof. Jaap Doek**, Chair, UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, and Member of the International Board of Trustees of the African Child Policy Forum

**Prof. Jaap Doek** began by outlining what the study means to children. He felt that it should be regarded as an adult promise to stop violence against children as well as a tool that children can use to initiate action wherever they are.

It is also an instrument for governments, providing recommendations for eliminating violence against children. Governments should produce National Plans of Action within six months (before July 1, 2007) of the report being submitted to the General Assembly. Governments must ensure that they budget for these recommendations and include children's participation in strategies to eliminate violence against children. The report will assist NGOs by strengthening their efforts and rationalising their work as partners with governments.

African Union member states are urged to report on their progress towards implementing the African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child before 2009 to the African Committee of Experts on the

Rights and Welfare of the Child.

#### Mr. Don McPhee, Regional Programme Support Manager, West Africa Regional Office, Plan International

**Mr. Don McPhee** identified children's participation as central to the implementation of the report. Therefore resources must be allocated to children and children's organisations for the implementation of the report's recommendations.

He called on the study to focus on the power relationships involved in violence against girls and the need to change perceptions. There is a need for equal partnership between NGOs from the north and south, instead of the paternalistic type of partnership that currently exists, as well as integration and coordinated action between the African Union, the UN system and civil society organisations. Civil society organisations must be supported and their capacity built to assist their efforts to eliminate violence against girls. This must be a feature of the report and the action plans, as well as the implementation process. Overall, the report needs to emphasise partnership, and changes in perceptions and attitudes.

**In the plenary discussion,** the point was made that we need to look at the alternatives to corporal punishment. It was agreed that any form of violence is unacceptable. The youth delegates suggested that establishing counselling and guidance clubs would be a more effective alternative to corporal punishment in schools, and this could be achieved by training peer educators as counsellors.

Another suggestion was that partnership with telecommunications companies could enable telephone help-lines to be set up for children experiencing violence, which would be especially helpful for those in rural areas. Improved communications would generally enable both adults and children to report violence, as long as there is sufficient awareness. Even where there are mechanisms in place, they will not be properly used or operate effectively if people lack awareness of the problem. Many countries do have effective reporting systems and these can be regarded as examples of best practice; for example, in Egypt, where cases of violence can be reported to a separate body rather than the police. The media can also play a role in the way violence is represented and perceived in society.

Girls, especially in the ten to fourteen age group, are often under-served by interventions addressing violence against children, but this issue will be addressed in the report.

The need to prioritise was emphasised in tackling this serious problem. Children cannot wait for poverty to be overcome before their problems are addressed; violence against children needs to be tackled with urgency.

# SESSION V: TOWARDS A MOVEMENT TO STOP VIOLENCE AGAINST CHILDREN

Chair

**Mr. Kailash Satyarthi**, Chair, Global March against Child Labour, and Member of the International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum

*Grassroots Experience in Social Mobilisation: A Report from Ethiopia* **Dr. Bogalech Gebre**, Executive Director, Kembatta Women's Self Help Centre, Ethiopia

Mobilising Girls against Violence Ms. Mercy Musomi, National Coordinator, Girl Child Network, Kenya

#### Mobilising against Harmful Traditional Practices: Lessons from Africa

**Ms. Berhane Ras-Work,** Executive Director, Inter-African Committee on Traditional Practices Affecting the Health of Women and Children

#### *Social Mobilisation: Lessons from International Experience* **Mr. Sergio Kristensen**, Country Representative, Save the Children Denmark

# Moving the Cause Forward

**Dr. Amaya Gillespie**, Director, Secretariat United Nations Secretary General's Study on Violence against Children

#### Chair

**Mr. Kailash Satyarthi**, Chair, Global March against Child Labour, and Member of the International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum

**Mr. Kailash Satyarthi** began the session by commenting on the magnitude of the problem of violence against children in Africa, its causes and consequences. The session was designed to address the urgent need to find the most effective solutions and to build a mass movement to counter violence against children. Mobilisation and advocacy can make a real difference to the lives of children affected by violence; for example, the worldwide 80,000km march against child labour, championed by Dr. Assefa Bequele of The African Child Policy Forum, resulted in the ratification of a convention against the most exploitative forms of child labour by 148 countries, as well as the organisation and unionisation of many child labourers.

Children do not need to listen to any more words. They need action, as the following session illustrates. This session is about concrete interventions and examples of tackling violence against children. It aims to build a mass movement led by young people themselves.

**Grassroots Experience in Social Mobilisation: A Report from Ethiopia by Dr. Bogalech Gebre,** Executive Director, Kembatta Women's Self Help Centre, Ethiopia

**Dr. Bogalech Gebre** shared the experience of the Kembatta Women's Self-Help Centre (KMG) in southern Ethiopia. She explained that every October, girls from that area present themselves as marriageable young women. Traditionally, they have to 'remove the dirt' by having their fingernails pulled out and their genitalia cut. Many girls would nearly bleed to death, but they would still hold their heads high, wear a special hair style and be proud of becoming a woman. In October 2004, for the first time thousands of Ethiopian girls enjoyed that pride without pain, bleeding or death as more than 100,000 people celebrated a dramatic decline in FGM, abduction for marriage, widow inheritances and other harmful traditional practices.

Women are most unsafe in the home. Global studies indicate that domestic violence claims more female lives than AIDS, TB or malaria in the 15 to 44 age group. The home is where sons learn about violence and learn that women are passive resources to be exploited. The home is where girls learn their fate as subjects of male dominance, and are conditioned to be submissive. KMG believes that in order to help women escape violence, they must transform from being passive objects to active citizens. KGM runs a programme called Community Capacity Enhancement. Part of the programme involves community conversation, which is an interactive process of observing, reflecting, questioning and consensus-based decisions for change. The programme builds on the age-old African tradition of communities gathering under the village tree to resolve personal and tribal disputes. Using this approach, for the first time people saw moving pictures of what it really means to be mutilated and to bleed. There were some who fainted during the video.

Change can start with one woman, as a personal, internal revolution of women changing within themselves. However because of women's lack of access to information and knowledge, and because women perceive themselves as objects, change is slow and difficult. Communities have the capacity to change, but this requires time and investment. It took the courage of one girl to change the whole attitude towards abduction in one area. Her abductor was imprisoned, demonstrating the lack of impunity to the



#### whole community.

Mobilising Girls against Violence by Ms. Mercy Musomi, National Coordinator, Girl Child Network, Kenya

**Ms. Mercy Musomi** provided the participants with the experience of the Girl Child Network (GCN), an umbrella organisation responsible for the coordination and dissemination of information about the activities of more than 300 associated NGOs working for the rights of girls in Kenya.

Over 90 per cent of the women who seek help from GCN have suffered from various forms of genderbased violence for long periods in their lives, primarily in the privacy of their homes. Although society publicly condemns violence against girls and women, young boys learn from an early age to consider violence as a normal way of life. Girls and women are discouraged from publicly talking about the violence they experience by their friends and relatives.

Most girls and women have no knowledge of their basic rights. Even if they are aware, the social and economic costs of going to court are often beyond the means of these girls, who are usually economically dependent on the very people that commit acts of violence against them. If they do report acts of violence to the chief or village elder, public medical institutions or the police, often they encounter reluctance to take their cases seriously. In extreme cases, these women are further abused by these duty bearers. Halfway houses where women can stay during the trial are almost non-existent. As a result, domestic violence remains largely unreported.

A multi-faceted approach is required to create a culture in which gender-based violence is considered unacceptable, targeting the media, religious institutions and the justice system. It is crucial to inform children at a young age about their rights to prevent existing patterns of violent behaviour becoming part of the culture of the next generation.

The following means have been used to reach children:

- Child rights clubs in over 200 schools
- Video programmes, made collaboratively with children and adults, used to address adults on how to ensure protection of girls
- Child exchange programmes, where children learn by discussing issues with each other. The challenge is ensuring that adults accept their views
- Games for peer education amongst girls and boys.

**Mobilising against Harmful Traditional Practices: Lessons from Africa by Ms. Berhane Ras-Work,** Executive Director, Inter-African Committee on Traditional Practices Affecting the Health of Women and Children

**Ms. Berhane Ras-Work** reminded the participants that many forms of violence against girls in Africa abound within the family. As most of this gender-based violence is part of African culture and tradition, it is not seen negatively, but rather as part of a good upbringing for girls.

For instance, FGM is revered by its practitioners for bringing positive values to the initiated girl. Early marriage boosts the father's ego, as his young daughter is being married as a virgin. Abduction of a young teenager for marriage is not generally seen as wrong and disagreements are often settled amicably between the two families. Other forms of violence against girls in the family include preference for sons over daughters, excessive workload for girls, and discrimination in nutrition and formal education against girls. As well as such culturally condoned forms of violence, many girls are subjected to such perversions as incest, commercial sexual exploitation and trafficking.

Legislation against all forms of violence against girls is desirable but must be accompanied by creating

awareness at community level and training of peer educators for any sustainable change of attitude and behaviour to take place. Governments should take education for girls more seriously, as a way of introducing girls to their rights and increasing their opportunities.

The Inter-African Committee adopts a multi-pronged and holistic approach in its campaigns to end gender-based violence at the national, regional and international levels. This includes raising awareness of different target groups, training trainers, and lobbying governments to develop policies and programmes that address gender issues.

February 6 has been declared the International Day of Zero Tolerance on FGM and other Harmful Traditional Practices, which demonstrates an emerging paradigm shift that we must build on.

**Social Mobilisation: Lessons from International Experience by Mr. Sergio Kristensen,** Country Representative, Save the Children Denmark

**Mr. Sergio Daniel Kristensen** started by sharing some children's words and their perceptions of violence, urging that interventions focus on prevention and protection wherever possible.

Save the Children is the world's largest independent movement for children, working in 110 countries worldwide, including on the issue of violence against children. Violence is any aggressive behaviour that is physically, sexually or emotionally abusive. Violence is a global phenomenon, occurring irrespective of material wealth or state ideology, and is often inflicted on children by those who are in charge of their care or education, including in the home, schools, medical and care institutions, in detention, in work places and on the streets.

Save the Children stresses that all violence against children is an abuse of their rights and is never acceptable, and that all children have the right to be protected from violence. The following are key actions in addressing violence against children:

- Inter-agency and international cooperation to ensure long lasting reforms
- The establishment of standards against violence; for example, Save the Children has a Child Protection Policy and Code of Conduct for all its staff
- Consistent planning to ensure that all projects include awareness raising, competence building and training
- Prevention and protection should be prioritised wherever possible; identifying new forms of violence and being on special alert in situations of conflict, when violence tends to increase
- Advocacy to guarantee the existence and enforcement of effective legislative protecting children, and to ensure that states explicitly prohibit all kinds of violence against children

Moving the Cause Forward by Dr. Amaya Gillespie, Director, Secretariat United Nations Secretary General's Study on Violence against Children

**Dr. Amaya Gillespie** recalled that the UN Study on Violence against Children is largely the result of concerns over what the system has not delivered, over what communities are suffering and over patterns of unnerving levels of violence against children. She encouraged delegates to remember that the study is a mobilisation effort, not only a piece of research. The hope is that the study will be used as a platform to encourage people already working to combat violence against children to step up their efforts. The UN Secretary General will launch the study internationally for governments, but regional and national launches are very welcome.

There is plenty of research on behaviour change, and the experience of all participants gathered at this conference shows that change is not only possible, but does not have to take a very long time given the right conditions. If we are clear about what it is we want to achieve, and are focused on very specific behaviours, we will be able to provide the right level of knowledge to the right people.

Mobilising people is about changing or influencing attitudes; a quotation from a child sums up the hopes of activists against violence, "It should be modern not to be violent." Being afraid of irritating people should not be an excuse for not making stopping violence against children everyone's business. No one should be a bystander. We need action because good ideas alone are not enough. We should use the platform of the study now, since it is unlikely that the current energy and support around the world can be rallied again anytime soon.

**During the plenary discussion,** some questions were raised about the way statistics on FGM are collected, due to the sensitivity of the subject. Calls were made to re-examine FGM statistics to avoid underreporting, and to look at non-traditional methods of collecting data as well as mobilising against the practice.

Interest and appreciation of Dr. Bogalech's successful work was expressed by many participants. Disseminating lessons as widely as possible is vital in order to learn lessons on tackling FGM and other forms of violence against children. Dr. Bogalech talked about her experience developing methodologies based on pilot schemes and training local people to work within their own communities and develop consensus among all actors. She added that current legislation against FGM is weak and not a sufficient deterrent.

Some participants felt that the global movement against FGM has made a lot of progress combating ideas about medical or religious obligations. However, it was pointed out that northern countries have made great progress putting in place legislation despite the limited scale of the practice, whereas African governments are lagging behind although FGM affects millions across the continent.

Men can feel like the target of campaigns about violence against women and children, including practices such as FGM, and may go on the offensive. There needs to be investment in reaching men and boys, so that they can become champions of the cause and grow up respecting women from childhood. Information about FGM should be integrated into school curricula; for example, in biology lessons.

Save the Children informed all delegates that their Code of Conduct and other policies can be downloaded from their website (www.savethechildren.org). This can provide a starting point for other organisations and avoid duplication of work.

Governments need to be made more accountable in terms of their work on violence against children, and civil servants need clear guidelines on what to do when faced with cases of violence. Calls were made to make sure those children with disabilities, and orphans and vulnerable children are not excluded from policies and programmes.

# SESSION VI: WHAT CAN GOVERNMENTS DO?

#### Chair

Ms. Etta Tadesse, Country Representative, UNFPA Ethiopia

# Holding Governments to Account

**Ambassador Moushira Khattab**, Secretary General, National Council for Childhood and Motherhood, and Vice Chair of UN Committee on the Rights of the Child

*Establishing Child Protection Systems* **Ms. Margie de Monchy**, Child Protection Advisor, UNICEF, Nairobi

#### Addressing Violence: The South African Experience

Adv. Thoko Majokweni, Director, National Prosecuting Authority of South Africa

Establishing an Effective Legal System to Deal with Violence

**Ms. Souad Abdennebi-Abderrahim**, Regional Advisor for the Promotion of Women's Human and Legal Rights, UNECA

Holding Governments to Account by Ambassador Moushira Khattab, Secretary General, National Council for Childhood and Motherhood, and Vice Chair of UN Committee on the Rights of the Child

Ambassador Moushira Khattab discussed what governments can do to prevent violence against girls. Governments must honour their international commitments and withdraw any reservations they might have about the CRC. Governments must enact laws that protect children and prohibit and criminalise all forms of violence against them, as well as periodically reviewing their legislation to ensure its conformity with international instruments and its continued relevance. Implementing laws requires obligatory reporting of violence, and adequate financial resources allocated to national plans of action to combat violence against children. To make progress, society needs to be aware, civil society strengthened and children actively involved. Particular attention needs to be paid to educating society about the harmful consequences of many traditional practices, reversing the claim of tradition or culture as excuses.

Every child who is a victim of abuse or exploitation is entitled to the most effective form of protection, requiring immediate action as soon as such incidents occur or are suspected. State parties should develop effective systems of reporting, referral, investigation, treatment and follow-up, as well as establishing data systems on violence against children.

In three regional consultations in Africa, African governments have been very active in supplying the UN Study on Violence against Children with information about the current state of affairs, a road map towards further improvements and carefully worded constraints and aspirations. We hope that African governments are committed to continue the journey with the same enthusiasm and are confident that their priorities will be reflected in Prof. Pinheiro's recommendations to the UN General Assembly later this year.

# **Establishing Child Protection Systems by Ms. Margie de Monchy,** Child Protection Advisor, UNICEF, Nairobi

**Ms. Margie de Monchy** argued that an effective child protection system needs to involve a well integrated collaboration among various government sectors and civil society at all levels. It needs to respond to children at risk of abuse with early interventions and provide timely services to all children who are victims of abuse with appropriate health care, legal assistance and support for recovery and reintegration.

Governments must ensure that adequate standards are in place for the care and protection of children, that the roles and responsibilities of the state and civil society are clearly defined, that all parties are accountable, and that funds are available for state services as well as civil society programmes. Specifically, five key components for adequate child protection need to be in place:

- Support community-based monitoring mechanisms to identify children at risk, recognise signs of abuse, respond as appropriate and refer as needed. Families and communities are the first line of defence for children, so creating mechanisms for them to report cases of abuse is vital.
- The second line of defence is the network of basic service providers with whom children come into contact on a regular basis. Therefore, we need to build capacity of teachers, health and social workers to prevent and respond to cases of abuse.
- Strengthen social welfare systems to provide standards of care, monitoring and services. Social workers are essential to the follow-up support needed during the reintegration process.
- Strengthen specialised child protection services in police and justice systems with procedures that are child-sensitive and age-appropriate.
- Ensure legislation and enforcement policies are in line with international standards, with sufficient

resources to ensure implementation.

Addressing Violence: The South African Experience by Adv. Thoko Majokweni, Director, National Prosecuting Authority of South Africa

**Adv. Thoko Majokweni** informed the audience about the South African approach in dealing with the high incidence of rape in the country. South Africa has declared the prevention of sexual violence against women a priority and in 1999 established the specialised Sexual Offences and Community Affairs Unit. The unit is mandated to assess best practices in reduction, management and victim support mechanisms, with the objective of improving conviction rates, eliminating secondary victimisation by questioning their credibility or condemning them to living with their rapist and ultimately reducing the incidence of sexual offences.

The unit developed a model called Thuthuzela, or Comfort, which is a radical approach to rape care management. It aims to provide women and girls with more humane treatment by reducing secondary victimisation, reducing the time it takes to bring a case to court and improving the conviction rate. Beginning at the police station, rape survivors are removed from the public to a victim-friendly room, while they wait for an ambulance to transport them to the Thuthuzela centre. Doctors, police and other assistants are trained to be sensitive and to explain the procedures to survivors so that they are informed at all times.

A huge success factor of Thuthuzela is that it is driven by passionate, committed individuals who regularly go beyond the call of duty. The streamlining of procedures with the objective of improving conviction rates has helped to significantly increase the number of sexual violence and abuse cases brought to court, and a sharp increase in convictions since 1999. An integrated inter-departmental communication strategy is now trying to raise awareness on the issue and reduce the incidence of sexual assaults in the country.

**Establishing an Effective Legal System to Deal with Violence by Ms. Souad Abdennebi-Abderrahim,** Regional Advisor for the Promotion of Women's Human and Legal Rights, UNECA

**Ms. Souad Abdennebi-Abderrahim** stated that women and girls often do not have access to their rights because of discrimination based on gender and the status of children. Many countries have paid particular attention to girls in their national action plans. However, despite awareness of their status, legal protection for women and girls remains weak and inefficient. Lack of knowledge about children's rights further compounds this situation and cases of violence against girls are not followed up because of persistent negative attitudes towards women and girls.

According to Human Rights Watch, many South African schools keep rape claims quiet. Although the government acknowledges that there are problems, there is little - if any - coordination between schools and government departments.

International humanitarian law applies to all human beings and the CRC is binding on all parties. We must now lobby African countries to ratify and implement their obligations. We must also address the challenges to international laws that are apparent at domestic level. The implementation of international law is often hindered by customary law. There is also an issue of the jurisdictional pluralism surrounding violence against girls. Children face additional barriers to seeking legal redress. For example, in Liberia and Cameroon children cannot talk during court proceedings. There are no child-friendly courts in many countries. Judicial staff are predominantly male. Many of the people responsible for responding to cases of violence against girls are not aware of international humanitarian law on human rights.

More effective reporting mechanisms, combined with efficient legal systems with specific provision for children, are needed if we are to address violence against girls.
**Plenary Discussion** raised the need for governments to be involved in any actions to protect children from violence. Governments also should be obliged to establish a department responsible to act on the CRC to ensure that they do not simply ratify the convention and fail to act on their commitments. A mechanism to capture the voices of civil society organisations also is needed. It was stressed that working with religious and tribal leaders can have a positive impact on ending violence against women and girls.

The problem of collecting evidence in rape cases was also raised. It was pointed out that many witnesses are prevented from coming forward by beliefs and societal conditions. Panellists suggested that the capacity of governments and civil society must be increased to improve this situation. Ms. Margie de Monchy also pointed out that many countries are experimenting with community-based child protection structures that are then taken up at governmental level. She pointed out that Tanzania and South Africa have integrated child protection into their National Plans of Action.

Ambassador Khattab acknowledged the need for strong monitoring systems, but suggested that they should not be regulated by one body and should be multi-disciplinary.

It was agreed that the research reports that were presented at the conference should be made available.

#### SESSION VII: THE DECLARATION

#### Chair

**Prof. Jaap Doek**, Chair, UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, and Member of the International Board of Trustees of The African Child Policy Forum

**Prof. Jaap Doek** began by thanking members of the committee for all the hard work involved in drafting the declaration. Two committee members, Misrak Elias and Rose September, expressed their hope that the final declaration reflects the views, concerns and priorities arising from the conference. The committee endeavoured to capture the wealth of experience and the rich exchange of ideas of the participants, and to articulate the urgent commitments required to stop violence against children.

The declaration was formally endorsed by the assembly, with participants affirming that the contents embody the spirit of the conference and provide a strong platform for mobilisation. Rather than specifying every specific convention or protocol, it was agreed that the phrase, 'all relevant international human rights legal instruments' would cover all potentially useful precedents. Stakeholders are encouraged to use the declaration to its maximum potential, so that all involved can move from intentions to action on this pressing issue affecting millions of African children. Professor Paulo Pinheiro agreed to use the declaration as constructively as possible in his report to the UN on violence against children.

### **Text of Declaration**

The Second International Policy Conference on the African Child: Violence against Girls in Africa, May 11 and 12, 2006, United Nations Conference Centre, Addis Ababa

#### The Africa Declaration on Violence against Girls

We, the participants of the Second International Policy Conference on the African Child: *Violence against Girls in Africa*, held in Addis Ababa 11-12 May, 2006 drawn from 25 countries, including over 600 participants from national, regional and international organisations and 22 children from six African countries, call for action by all African governments and other stakeholders<sup>2</sup> to take immediate steps to end all forms of violence against children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All African Governments, civil society organisations, families, children, parents and custodians, the African Union, the African Inter-Parliamentary Union, United Nations agencies and other international development and human rights organisations.

All children, without discrimination, have fundamental human rights. Violence against children whether it is physical, psychological or sexual is a gross violation of these fundamental human rights. We believe that the pervasive violence directed against children globally and in Africa, in their homes, schools, communities, places of care and other settings is preventable, intolerable and must stop.

Violence against children has incalculable costs to present and future generations and it undermines human development. We recognise that virtually all forms of violence are linked to entrenched gender roles and inequalities, and that the violation of the rights of children is closely linked to the status of women.

The situation of African girls is especially critical as a result of discriminatory and patriarchal practices, inequality, exclusion, inadequate legal protection, lack of educational opportunities, the disproportionate impact HIV and AIDS has on them, as well as the persistence of poverty. Failure to address these situations constitutes not only a grave violation of human rights, but threatens the very fabric of society.

We are inspired by the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Convention on the Rights of the Child and its Optional Protocols, the African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child, the Convention on the Elimination of all forms of Discrimination against Women, the ILO Convention no. 182 on the Worst Forms of Child Labour, international humanitarian laws and human rights instruments as well as the African Union Common Position on Children: Africa Fit for Children (Cairo). We are profoundly concerned that the rights enshrined in these Conventions and agreements are not adequately integrated into domestic laws, policies and practices and therefore have not yet had a meaningful impact on the everyday lives of African girls and boys.

We believe that governments and civil societies are all individually and collectively responsible and mutually accountable to ensure that every child lives in a world free from violence. We also believe that governments have the primary responsibility and obligation to take concrete and immediate action to end all forms of violence against children, particularly girls.

#### We therefore strongly urge the Member States of the African Union:

- (a) to take all necessary measures for the effective prohibition of all forms of violence against children, including developing and implementing comprehensive National Plans of Action to protect children, which are supported with adequate human and financial resources by 2010.
- (b) to immediately enforce the actions recommended under (a) above, especially with regard to the following conditions that constitute a grave violation of the rights and fundamental freedoms of girls:
  - Rape/defilement and other forms of sexual violence in the home, in schools, in places of care, in communities and other settings
  - Gender inequality which leads to violence against girls, discrimination, and the disproportionate spread of HIV and AIDS among girls and young women
  - Harmful traditional and cultural practices including but not limited to female genital mutilation/cutting (FGM) and honour crimes
  - Trafficking, abduction and commercial sexual exploitation including prostitution and pornography
  - Conscription of girls into armed conflict and their sexual exploitation in conflict and postconflict situations
  - Child marriage, forced marriage and marital rape
  - Corporal punishment and other humiliating forms of punishment
  - Worst forms of child labour including harmful domestic work
  - Migration for unsafe illegal work which affects safety and security of children
- (c) to establish effective and easily accessible complaints mechanisms for children, which respect their

privacy, with appropriate guarantees of confidentiality; and effective monitoring of the rights of the child to be protected against all forms of violence via country, regional and international monitoring mechanisms.

(d) to provide all children, especially girls, who experience violence with multi-disciplinary services including counselling and other resources that they need for full recovery and reintegration in their communities, and with legal support (including provision for compensation), and to ensure that perpetrators are brought to justice and rehabilitation.

#### We urge all governments and other stakeholders:

To take all necessary measures conducive to creating a safe, violence-free, non-discriminatory environment for the full and harmonious survival, development and participation of girls; and to institutionalise the following specific actions:

- Build a culture of peace and prevent violence through promoting positive, non-violent, non-discriminatory forms of child rearing, teaching and conflict resolution.
- Promote gender equality and take immediate measures to reform the laws, policies, attitudes and practices which discriminate against girls and women and fail to protect them.
- Support the capacity of families to adequately protect their children.
- Create safe spaces for girls and provide anti-bullying programmes in schools and communities.
- Promote the full participation of children, developing their skills and potential, and promote the right of girls to express their views and have them taken seriously.
- Support the participation of boys and men, as well as children's organisations, as part of the solution to end violence against girls.
- Promote a culture of peace, respect for human dignity, non-discrimination and non-violence through mobilising local governments, communities, the media, faith-based organisations and traditional leaders.
- Conduct research to deepen understanding of the causes and impact of violence against children, especially girls, and build strong relationships with research institutions/organisations in the quest to impact policy and practice.
- Ensure the integration of actions called for in this declaration into existing national, regional and international campaigns and events such as February 6, the International Day on Zero Tolerance Against FGM and other Harmful Traditional Practices; June 16, the Day of the African Child; November 25 to December 10, Sixteen Days of Activism on Violence against Women and Children; as well as the agenda of the African Union Common Position on Children: Africa Fit for Children (Cairo Declaration 2001).

#### We further urge the Member States of the African Union to:

- Place the issue of violence against children, especially girls, on the African Union Summit's agenda as soon as possible and to link it to the follow-up of the Cairo Plus 5 agenda on the African Union Common Position on Children: Africa Fit for Children.
- Ratify all the relevant international human rights and international humanitarian instruments, including ILO Convention no. 182 on the Worse Forms of Child Labour, the Optional Protocols to the Convention on the Rights of the Child and those pertaining to the African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child.
- Recognise and give priority follow-up attention to the recommendations of the regional consultations in the context of the United Nations Secretary General's Study on Violence against Children.

#### We strongly recommend that the African Union:

• Strengthen the capacity of the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child and facilitate the participation of children and young people.

- Obtain agreement from Member States to report to the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child on their implementation of the recommendations of the Regional Consultations and the final report of the United Nations Study on Violence against Children, before the end of 2010.
- Support the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child to draft and adopt guidelines for the content and review of these reports.
- Establish a Special Envoy on Violence against Children to serve as a mechanism for preventing, reporting and monitoring violence against children, in collaboration with the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child.
- Promote and support the development of a structural cooperation between the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child and the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child in order to establish a practice of monitoring that most efficiently contributes to the implementation of the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child.

We request that the United Nations Secretary General's studies on violence against children and women give special attention to eliminating violence against girls in Africa, and note their specific vulnerabilities.

Building on the Security Council Resolution 1325, **we call on the United Nations Security Council** to adopt a Resolution on Violence against Girls and Women in Armed Conflict, which addresses impunity and enhances State accountability.

#### **Our Collective Commitment**

We, the participants of this conference both adults and children, have a vision of an Africa that is humane and free from violence, that promotes a culture of rights, and nurtures its children to achieve their full potential. We have a vision of an Africa in which girls enjoy equal rights and freedoms, respect and dignity without fear of gender-based violence.

We pledge to commit ourselves individually and collectively, including both girls and boys, to eliminate violence against children in general and girls in particular.

We hereby undertake to ensure rigorous follow-up actions pertaining to the resolutions of this Conference including disseminating the proceedings within each of our organisations and to conduct ongoing national campaigns such as the Day of the African Child and the Sixteen Days of Activism on Violence against Women and Children.

We urge the organiser of this Conference, The African Child Policy Forum, to forward this Declaration and the Children's Declaration to all concerned bodies as soon as possible and to put in place an operational mechanism to follow-up the outcomes of this conference.

Adopted in Addis Ababa on May 12, 2006

#### **Children's Statement**

As children from all over Africa, we would like to thank all the NGOs who organised the children's meeting, especially Save the Children's Regional Office for East and Central Africa.

We would also like to thank the ACPF for having organised this conference. We would like to encourage you to continue to organise these kinds of forums and continue to invite children and young people from all over Africa.

We would also like to thank Professor Paulo Pinheiro for making the effort to come and share his time with us children.

We, girls and boys from six countries (Ethiopia, Kenya, Senegal, Somalia, Sudan and Uganda) commit ourselves to:

- Sensitise other children and our communities on children's rights
- Form child clubs to teach children and communities about child rights and violence against children
- Do our best not to violate other children's rights
- Use dialogue and discussion with our peers, parents or guardians and teachers to solve conflicts.

We would like our governments and other responsible organisations to:

- Adopt and implement laws against all forms of violence, including corporal and other forms of humiliating punishment, child sexual abuse, FGM, etc.
- Create awareness raising programmes on violence against girls and boys
- Give a chance to girls and boys to participate in all activities to fight violence and discrimination
- Create awareness among the population on the consequences of violence by using child-friendly tools; for example, the media, to reach children and adults
- Create child-friendly reporting centres where children can report abuse cases
- Create guidance and counselling clubs in schools
- Enable children to have access to information about international, regional and national mechanisms such as CRC and ACRWC
- Encourage a follow up on the UN Study on Violence against Children recommendations, three years after the study has been finalised. Children should be involved in this follow up to see how much the governments have done to implement recommendations and how much they have done to involve children in the process.

We would now like to conclude with a poem.

Violence, violence, violence Why do you need to focus your eyes so much on the African children? Why do you want to ruin the fruits of tomorrow? We the African children are tired of sexual violence, corporal punishment and gender inequality

Violence, violence, violence Where do you come from? Who are your parents? Why are you the enemy of peace and love? Oh, God, we wish one day, violence and peace could have a peaceful talk

Violence, violence, violence You made us the children of Africa Lose all the hopes of educational life You made our future useless We are the future leaders and doctors Teacher, parents, doctors, leaders and all the people Why do you violate us?

We the African children want peace, love, care and unity Give us peace today if you want good fruits tomorrow!

#### CLOSING SESSION: A CALL AND PROMISE FOR ACTION

#### Chair

**H.E. Dr. Salim A. Salim,** AU Special Envoy and Chief Mediator for the Inter-Sudanese Peace Talks on Darfur; Secretary-General OAU (1989-2001); Chairman, International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum

#### Statements by:

H.E. Tim Clarke, Head of Mission, European Union, Ethiopia

Mr. Per Engebak, Regional Director, Eastern and Southern Africa, UNICEF

Mr. David Muthungu, Regional Director, Southern and Eastern Africa, Plan International

Hon. Sofia Simba, Minister for Community Development, Gender and Children, United Republic of Tanzania

Hon. Carina Hagg, Member of the European Parliament

**Mr. Jean Baptiste Zoungrana**, Chairperson, African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child

**Prof. Paulo Pinheiro,** Independent Expert for the UN Secretary-General's Study on Violence against Children

#### Special Guest Speaker

**His Grace Archbishop John Onaiyekan**, Catholic Archbishop of Abuja, and former President of the Catholic Bishops' Conference of Nigeria

#### H.E. Tim Clarke, Head of Mission, European Union, Ethiopia

**H.E. Tim Clarke** reminded the audience of some of the statistics presented during the conference: 40 million children under 15 are victims of violence every year, 140 million girls have undergone FGM and another three million will be condemned to this practice every year. These figures are insane, numb the mind, revolt and are repugnant. They shake all of us, cosseted in our comfortable offices.

Walking out of this sumptuous conference hall, within minutes you will come across girls begging in the streets. Girls without access to education, to health care or parental affection, probably sexually abused, beaten by their parents or neighbours and denied love, affection and a caring environment. After a while, habit breeds indifference and the girls become a nuisance, an embarrassment. They become non-people. You avert your gaze and move on; they are someone else's problem, out of sight, out of mind.

He told the participants that, although he has dedicated 25 years of his life to gender issues in development, not enough has changed in that time and perhaps there is a need for different methods. It must be bottom-up, people-centred, non-bureaucratic, personalised, empowering and sustainable. There are in this hall some extraordinary people, who challenge the status quo. They find tangible solutions, initiated in communities, small-scale but capable of massive replication elsewhere if the right approach is used.

The Commission of the European Union has to change. We must become a campaigning organisation fighting for women's and children's rights. We must become a driving force for giving girls a chance. Let's together make a pledge to make a difference.

#### Mr. Per Engebak, Regional Director, Eastern and Southern Africa, UNICEF

**Mr. Per Engebak** congratulated the ACPF for bringing together such an impressive group of experts on violence against children. We now have a study (The UN Study on Violence against Children) that is providing an in-depth global picture of the magnitude, causes, and consequences of various types of violence against children. It also identifies protective possibilities and documents good practices. Within Africa, the study has provoked dialogue at national, sub-national and regional levels about difficult or sensitive issues and practices that are deeply rooted in society yet may be harmful to children.

How can we make a visible difference towards eliminating violence against girls? First, we need to support mechanisms that help to hold governments and civil society accountable for the commitments made to children. Next, we need to ensure that children are protected by comprehensive national legislation, whilst promoting and supporting inclusive social protection systems. We also need to build the capacities of communities and social workers, and replicate and scale-up good models of specialised child protection services. We need to establish better data collection and make better use of the ongoing research agenda. We need to effectively address deeply rooted social, cultural and religious beliefs and customs that are used to justify violence against children, especially girls.

Finally, we need to continue the momentum initiated by the study to keep the issue high on the national and regional agendas, to ensure that the voices of girls are heard. The obstacles to fighting violence against girls need to be removed if we want to make progress in achieving the Millennium Development Goals and create an Africa fit for children.

#### Mr. David Muthungu, Regional Director, Southern and Eastern Africa, Plan International

**Mr. David Muthungu** thanked the ACPF, on his own behalf and on behalf of Plan International, for bringing this issue to the fore at a time when the global community awaits the final report of the UN Study on Violence against Children. He applauded the ACPF and all participants for their contributions, in particular the children. These two days have provided an opportunity to reflect on various factors and issues that contribute to violence against children, especially girls.

This violence is unacceptable, particularly when there are resources available as well as a critical mass of willing people and organisations working to stop this, as evidenced by the vibrant participation in this room. For this reason, he focused specifically on the way forward and made the following pledges on behalf of Plan International.

Plan International pledges to:

- Promote children and youth participation in order to advance and contribute to good governance in Africa
- Promote and enhance work with partners to help strengthen civil society in addressing violence against children and other forms of abuse of children's rights.
- Intensify efforts to eliminate the practice of FGM in Africa.
- Continue to be guided by the themes and strategies contained in Plan's Strategic Framework: Children in Africa.

He invited all to join Plan in fulfilling these pledges and stressed that Plan is looking forward to working with others in this worthwhile endeavour.

# Hon. Sofia Simba, Minister for Community Development, Gender and Children, United Republic of Tanzania

**Hon. Sofia Simba** acknowledged that every conference participant will return to their respective country with a lot to do. She stated that in her role as Minister for Community Development, Gender and Children in Tanzania, she would call a meeting of those responsible for children within the government and draw up a plan of action including strategies for implementation.

She ended by stating that combating violence against children is her highest priority and expressing the hope that the other conference participants regard the problem in the same light.

#### Hon. Carina Hagg, Member of the European Parliament

**Hon. Carina Hagg,** representing a group of parliamentarians from eight different European countries, informed the conference audience about the lessons learned from their visit to Ethiopia. She recognised that the persistence of harmful practices such as early marriages, marriage by abduction and female genital mutilation all constitute violations of bodily integrity of and pose severe health risks to girls and women in Africa.

She stated that: 'If we are to meet the Millennium Development Goals and reduce maternal and child morbidity and mortality, these practices will have to end. We parliamentarians recognise our important role in enhancing the sexual and reproductive health and rights [of women and girls]. We have a moral imperative in creating a [relevant] legislative and policy framework...and are committed to work for the allocation of resources.'

# **Mr. Jean Baptiste Zoungrana**, Chairperson, African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child

**Mr. Jean-Baptiste Zoungrana** thanked the ACPF for having organised this conference, and all of the speakers and participants for their valuable insights into the causes and effects of violence against girls in Africa.

Violence is experienced by children irrespective of their gender, age, social status or the economic position of their parents, and regardless of the level of economic development of their country. Although a lack of statistical data and holistic academic research limits our capacity to understand the full extent of adult-to-child and child-to-child violence in Africa, this conference has brought us to an understanding of the severe physical, psychological, economic and cultural consequences of violence on the individual, community and society at large.

The African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child is committed to ending all forms of violence against children in Africa. As chairman of this Committee, Mr Zoungrana invited state governments, technical and financial partners, civil society and children themselves to mobilise society on this issue, and to reflect on actions to be taken. In particular, the following forms of violence need to be ended immediately:

- FGM, arranged marriages and sexual exploitation of girls
- The use of child-soldiers and girls as sex-slaves of fighters
- Violence against children in the family, in schools, in the workplace and on the streets
- Child-to-child violence
- The discrimination and stigmatisation of orphans and other vulnerable children.

He drew the attention of participants to the theme of this years' Day of the African Child, which is The Right to Protection: Stop Violence against Children.

Prof. Paulo Pinheiro, Independent Expert for the UN Secretary-General's Study on Violence against Children

**Prof. Paulo Pinheiro** pointed out that the foremost conclusion of this meeting is that we need to keep girls in mind when we do anything that might concern them.

Prof. Pinheiro pledged - personally and on behalf of the Coordinating Committee of the UN Study on Violence against Children - that every recommendation within the UN Secretary General's Study on Violence against Children will aim to have a positive impact on the lives of African children.

#### **Special Guest Speaker**

**His Grace Archbishop John Onaiyekan,** Catholic Archbishop of Abuja, and President of the Catholic Bishops' Conference of Nigeria

**His Grace John Onaiyekan** recalled the in-depth discussions based on the presentations of eminent experts on violence against girls in Africa. He asked how it could be that in a culture that loves children so much, there is so much pain, suffering and distress among our children.

The answer lies in part in increasing urbanisation, exposing African children to a sometimes hostile environment and making it difficult to expose child molesters. Economic pressures leave parents little time to look after their children, often forcing children to work and exposing them to further abuse. In extreme cases, parents practically sell their children in order to make ends meet, surrendering them to trafficking or child slavery. There is also the abomination of child soldiers, who are robbed of their childhood and wounded for life. Social stratification is destroying the African culture of basic communal egalitarianism, and has nurtured a generation of children who grow up thinking they are nobodies. It is a social time bomb that we neglect at our great risk.

If the African child is exposed to so much danger, it is largely because African society is equally exposed to such dangers. We cannot rescue the child without looking at what is happening in contemporary African society. The challenge of good governance in Africa remains pressing. We know that our continent is not poor, but that we need to manage ourselves better. It is only then that our children will have a reasonable chance of a better today and a brighter future.

Promoting the rights of the child should, however, never be presented to the exclusion of the rights of parents to exert control and guidance over their wards. That some parents may fail tragically does not justify transferring the responsibility for children to government officials or NGO activists. Although the majority of child abuse is perpetrated by parents, close relations, teachers and others who ought to protect children, I would still like to believe that the majority of parents and caregivers are still loving and caring. We cannot write them off. We need to put more effort into supporting families and caregivers. More efforts should be made to acknowledge and sustain the positive roles that traditional and religious institutions play in caring for children.

It is not right that the children in one part of the world should be dying of starvation and disease, while in other parts of the world they are wallowing in affluence. Those who are well off should feel for those who are in distress.

As a Catholic Archbishop, permit me to refer to some Christian principles. Jesus was a child of poor parents, born in a manger and carried away as a refugee. Jesus has a special love for children and even went as far as to stress that "unless you change and become like little children, you will never enter the Kingdom of Heaven." The church to which I belong mobilises children to reach out to fellow children. It might be useful to study ways of involving religion-based children's organisations.

Our shared convictions and concerns about children in Africa have brought us all together. These

convictions and concerns have been carefully formulated in the final declaration, which will help us to sustain our enthusiasm and help share with others what we have received here. We hope that the declaration will be acted upon by governments in Africa and beyond. I am sure that God will bless our efforts to protect our children.

## ANNEX I PROCEEDINGS OF ALL-AFRICA CONSULTATIVE MEETING OF CHILD RIGHTS, YOUTH AND HUMAN RIGHTS ORGANISATIONS

#### Theme:

Fostering and Strengthening an Africa-wide Movement for Children - Perspectives, Rationale and Mechanisms.

#### **NGO Session One**

#### Chair

**Ms. Berhane Ras-Work,** Executive Director, Inter-Africa Committee on Traditional Practices Affecting Women's and Children's Health

*Introductory Remarks* **Mr. David Mugawe,** The African Child Policy Forum

Fostering and Strengthening an Africa-wide Movement for Children: Perspectives, Rationale and mechanisms

**Ms. Wambui Njuguna**, Regional Programme Director, African Network for the Prevention and Protection against Child Abuse and Neglect (ANPPCAN)

Dr. Moussa Sissoko, President, Coalition of NGOs working for Children in Africa (CONAFE)

Ms. Stella Ayo-Odongo, National Coordinator, Uganda Child Rights NGO Network

Mr. Fabrizio Terenzio, Environmental Development Action (ENDA) Third World, Equipe Jeunesse Action, Senegal

Ms. Awa Niang, Africa Movement of Working Children and Youth, West Africa Region

**Mr. David Mugawe** welcomed members of the Civil Society Organisations to the All-Africa Consultative Meeting. He mentioned that while planning for the International Policy Conference it was realised that there will be a good representation of Civil Society Organisations from across Africa, in addition to a number of Network Organisation that would be represented at the Conference. All these organisations share the goal of addressing the issue of child rights and welfare.

The last two decades have witnessed the emergence of numerous organisations, networks and associations working for the promotion and realisation of child rights and welfare in Africa. The approach pursued by the various organisations and groups to achieve this goal has been varied, ranging from the direct provision of services and support at the grassroots level to campaigning and advocacy work for policy and attitudinal changes at the national level. Much has been accomplished by these organisations in improving the lives and conditions of children. However, much more remains to be done through concerted effort and greater collaboration among all concerned for African children's rights and welfare.

It was therefore in light of this, that an All-Africa consultative meeting on an Africa-wide movement for children was proposed. David mentioned that this meeting was to hold discussions on the theme of Fostering and Strengthening an Africa-wide movement for children: Perspectives, Rationale and

Mechanisms. The meeting intended to foster and strengthen a continent-wide movement for and on behalf of children and youth in Africa, and to develop:

- Strategies to increase effective networking and coordination among all concerned
- Ways to promote the (implementation of the) African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child (ACRWC) and the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC).

Participants were asked to discuss their own experiences as well as the experience of major networks and consortiums of child-focused organisations, and deliberate on a way forward and on joint action at the pan-African level.

In conclusion he acknowledged the contribution of CONAFE, ANPPCAN and The Uganda Child Rights NGO Network in collaborating with ACPF in organising the meeting.

**Ms. Wambui Njuguna** argued that an Africa-wide movement for children is long overdue. There is strength in numbers, and the movement must be huge to make its presence felt on the continent. Africa provides the world with problems that the world cannot relate to, blaming them for our own omissions but expecting them to come to our aid. We have to reduce the burden that we give others to solve. Traditionally, children in Africa belong to the entire clan. Creating an African movement for children should not be difficult with the African spirit of harambee, or togetherness.

In Africa, governments ratify conventions simply to please donors, but in reality they rarely implement their commitments. In some cases, governments even expect civil society organisations to implement programmes on their behalf, and often don't take action unless pushed by civil society. When governments have their priorities skewed, strong movements are needed as whistle blowers to alert the world to help stop abuse and child rights violations. Our collective involvement in a movement would help us to discover each other's work, and improve our use of existing instruments and networks to further our individual causes.

Prerequisites for a successful movement are:

- Minimal gaps in vision, purpose, background, etc. between members
- A burning issue that brings members together
- Recognition of individual capacities and contributions
- Transparency and accountability
- Availability of financial and human resources
- Sense of belonging
- Opportunity to regularly review purpose and methodology
- Binding rules and regulations

The movement should be African-driven and could be hosted by member organisations on a rotational basis, making use of existing infrastructures for implementation and communication.

**Dr. Moussa Sissoko** stressed the existing strengths of African institutions in community health, education, advocacy, etc. which could be built on in the establishment of an African Movement for Children. He recalled the establishment of the Coalition of African Organisations working with Children (CANGOC, or CONAFE in the French acronym) in June 2003 in Bamako, Mali, with representatives from organisations from 34 African countries. The coalition was established with the following objectives:

- Design and carry out lobbying and advocacy activities
- Share best practices
- Reinforce follow-up mechanisms on child rights issues
- Reinforce national child rights and development coalitions

Recognising the importance of existing networks operating at national level, a pan-African network or movement should develop organically along programmatic lines rather than set up another infrastructure. An African movement for children should:

- Reinforce itself through spontaneous exchange of information
- Share information on individual programmes in order to optimise the impact of interventions and avoid duplication
- Develop strategic partnerships with actors such as the African Union
- Promote best practices
- Jointly develop mechanisms for resource mobilisation for the activities of the movement and its member organisations, with a focus on generating African support to decrease external dependence
- Promote 'real' child participation, to avoid children who 'parrot' what they think adults want to hear

Africa is rich in experience, and it should develop its internal potential to mobilise different actors and develop complementary actions, exchange of experiences and funding mechanisms.

**Ms. Stella Ayo-Odongo** stated that the contribution of civil society organisations in child rights discourse cannot be overemphasised. Across the continent, numerous organisations are making a difference in the lives of many children. Civil society organisations have contributed to advocacy, awareness raising, and service delivery and proved their effectiveness in tracking children's progress and monitoring violations of their rights. There is increasing recognition of the role of civil society by governments, the African Union, European Union, United Nations and other regional bodies. The next step is for civil society to start demanding governments deliver on their promises made internationally and regionally.

The need for an Africa-wide movement, building and establishing coalitions as a strategy for advocacy and influencing change, is part of a global trend for collective action. The Global Movement for Children (GMC) is proof that it can work. The GMC was initiated in 2002 and has contributed to bringing children to the centre of global debate, decision making and action. This success needs to be consolidated and used to bolster regional action.

This All-Africa Consultation should serve as a launch pad for a movement, which could be known as the Africa Movement for Children (AMC). This AMC should liaise with existing regional bodies, such as the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child (ACERWC), Eastern Africa Community (EAC), Economic Community of Western African States (ECOWAS), Southern African Development Community (SADC), Inter-governmental Authority on Development (IGAD), United Nations Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC), etc., to promote the further ratification and implementation of the African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child (ACRWC), and to provide opportunities for children to participate within the framework of collective action.

Participants in the proposed AMC need to agree on clear goals, agree to communicate and meet periodically, and commit resources, in order to make the movement a key partner in generating a regional agenda for children in Africa.

**Mr. Fabrizio Terenzio** highlighted the importance of a participatory approach to a movement for children, due to his experience with Environmental Development Action in the Third World (ENDA) and the Global Movement for Children (GMC). The most recent United Nations Special Session on Children was the most participatory session ever held by the UN, but some of the lessons from that experience are not being applied.

The Global Movement for Children in West and Central Africa has provided a unique opportunity for all stakeholders to share their experiences as equals, rather than as funders and funding recipients. During the past three years, the GMC has made good progress in terms of organisational development and

building collaboration between child rights groups. African civil society must be able to sit at the table as an equal and respected partner. Child participation has been integrated into planning and review processes, including a peer review of ECOWAS and a Special Session of African Congress, when a Kenyan child was able to ask heads of state about budget allocation for children's issues. The governments of Senegal and Mali accepted proposals put forward by youth and child organisations on the issue of child trafficking between the two countries. The child's perspective was included in the Millennium Development Goals Review Session in New York, with just one child participant from our network among the 200 seats. We have to convince people that the dynamic of such children's rights groups can really reinforce social development.

**Ms.** Awa Niang explained that she represents the Movement for Working Children, which was established in 1994 in Senegal. The members found that mobilising as group was a way of improving their conditions of life and work. The movement now encompasses the whole of West Africa and works to implement 12 means of improving conditions for working children through advocacy and grassroots work. Sensitisation campaigns on violence, trafficking and exploitation of children have yielded a number of results in changing attitudes and behaviour. The network uses the media, especially the radio, to reach the general public with messages about children's rights.

Awa informed the participants that she used to work as a street hawker selling shells. Thanks to the basic education and French lessons she received from the network, she is now capable of addressing international meetings and expressing herself in French, despite leaving school after primary level. Training and education by the network has raised the income of many working children, as well as enabling them to train their peers.

**The plenary discussion** began by emphasising the need to define the role and identify the niche of any proposed movement or coalition. A movement must have a common vision and agenda, and be based on a clear ideology around a well-thought out issue. The CRC and the ACRWC could constitute ready developed ideologies to unite behind, as well as the declaration signed by participants at this meeting.

Collaboration with all levels of government and other strategic partners was recognised as a vital part of the initiative to guarantee impact and coverage. However, taking up issues of child rights and violence against children may involve confronting governments if necessary. Minimum standards are also imperative for working in partnership with others, so that members can be held accountable. For example, some unethical NGOs take advantage of children by using them to fundraise without using the money for the benefit of children. Relationships within a network should be on an equal basis, rather than dictated by donor-led priorities, or competition between NGOs for funds. Developing children's participation and voice must be integral to the network.

The proposed functions of a movement to counter violence against children were specified as; a platform for dialogue; a critical analysis of government reports supplied to the African Committee of Experts on the Welfare of the Child; sharing best practice; and designing solutions. African governments often lack high quality data about the situation of children, so a pan-African network would be in an excellent position to bridge the information gap about children's status.

Some participants felt that it was important to look carefully at current pan-African networks and their role in society, in order to examine the need to create another institution. It is important that networks are backed up by social consciousness about the issue. Nationally and regionally some networks have failed and others succeeded, so lessons need to be learned from previous experience before planning an ambitious pan-continental movement. Linking to the Global Movement for Children was suggested as a

possibility, although concern was expressed about the high membership fees.

In any alliance, leadership, sustainability and joint vision are the most important issues to ensure viability, as well as examining regional priorities. Making progress and planning concrete action on the issue of violence must be the priority for children, and we need to utilise children's capacity to act together as part of our efforts.

#### NGO Session Two:

Chair

**Prof. Jaap Doek**, Chair, UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, and Member of the International Board of Trustees of The African Child Policy Forum

*Views of partner organisations* **Mr. Per Engebak**, Regional Director, Eastern and Southern Africa, UNICEF

Mr. Kimaru Wakaruru, Regional Child Rights Programming Advisor RESA, Plan International

Ms. Lena Karlsson, Global Advisor, Save the Children Sweden

Mr. Getenet Assefa, Programme Manager, European Union

**Mr. Per Engebak**, Regional Director, Eastern and Southern Africa, UNICEF, highlighted that all the participants are important actors in our respective domains, but there is a need for greater connectivity. Over the last 10 years in Africa, there has been no lack of commitment to children in terms of conventions, initiatives and declarations. However, insufficient effort has been made to hold policy-makers accountable for these initiatives. In any good democracy, there must be clear separation of roles between the government and civil society, or accountability will suffer. The role of the movement being proposed here is to make governments accountable for upholding their commitments and promoting children's rights.

Sometime in 2006 there will be an African mid-term review of progress on commitments made in 1999 at the Cairo-Plus-Five.<sup>3</sup> This is an internal African Union accountability mechanism, but it could be a unique opportunity for African civil society to hold AU member states accountable for commitments they made to children in 2001. This is an African mechanism that could benefit from the wisdom and deliberations of the participants represented here. In May 2007, there will be a follow-up to the UN General Assembly Special Session on Children. African child rights activists also have the potential to make an impact there, if we organise ourselves.

**Mr. Kimaru Wakaruru**, Regional Child Rights Programming Advisor RESA, Plan International stressed the importance of participants having a clear understanding of what they have committed to do once they leave the meeting. We are not looking to create a new structure, but have committed to take action. We need to think about the best way of communicating our agenda to potential collaborators and partners. It is an important process and should begin by determining the pace and direction of our next actions. It is imperative that we retain our links with communities at grassroots level, so that the impact of holding stakeholders accountable to their commitments to children will be felt where it is most needed. The biggest challenge for any network is inclusiveness, so we need clear strategies on how to stay accountable as a movement and how to keep all concerned involved, especially children, our most important allies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This was a review process of the 20-year Programme of Action agreed at the International Conference on Population and Development (ICPD) held in Cairo in 1994. It was stated during the process that economic development and stabilisation of population growth rates are not possible without focusing on the role and status of women

**Ms. Lena Karlsson**, Global Advisor, Save the Children Sweden recommended that the Declaration and Children's Statement from this meeting should be platforms for further action. She also observed the need for collaboration between civil society and government, recognising their strengths as well as remembering the proposed movement's role as whistle-blower and watchdog. The African Union and the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child will also be important partners. Children should be involved from the very beginning of drafting the structure and content of the movement, so that it is child-friendly in all respects.

**Mr. Getenet Assefa**, Programme Manager, European Union elaborated on the civil society fund of the European Union that was launched in June 2006 in Ethiopia. Ten million Euros has been set aside to strengthen the capacity of civil society to enable them to engage in dialogue, influence policy and strengthen service delivery.

He stated that the European Union wants to be responsive to the needs of civil society and are not seeking to set their own agenda. He urged Ethiopian organisations present to approach the EU and seek support under their children and youth programme category.

**The plenary discussion** began by re-iterating that any proposed movement should not duplicate ongoing work at local level. The conference Declaration was recommended as a framework for a way forward that is tied into local processes at country level, and should be disseminated as widely as possible.

Participants then recommended the development of a concept paper to take the process of a movement building forward. This would be developed by an interim task-force comprised of ANPPCAN, CONAFE, ACPF, SOS Children's Villages, ENDA, Resources Aimed at the Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect (RAPCAN), Uganda Child Rights NGO Network and the Africa Movement of Working Children and Youth, with ANPPCAN as the convenor. Its mandate would be to present a concept paper on organising a pan-African movement for implementing children's rights, as well as how to take forward the work of the conference and ensure the involvement of children. The task force will then circulate a draft, with terms of reference, to the larger group through email, to be finalised by October or November. Important issues to consider include organisational structure, membership, knowledge management and communication. Priority themes for the movement could include conflict resolution, orphans and street children, and sexual abuse of boys. Also, it was suggested that the movement could possibly take up one important issue at a time. January 1, 2007 was proposed as the official launch date of the movement.

The term 'movement' may have to be amended, as it is associated with political opposition in some African countries.

The African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child commended the desire for an Africa-wide movement and welcomed partnership and collaboration with NGOs and civil society to ensure implementation of the African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child. Participants were reminded of the upcoming African Day of the Child and the possibility for working collaboratively.

There was a plea for participants to actively play a role in positively shaping the destiny of Africa, rather than its destiny being, at best, government driven and predominantly externally driven. The civil society sector needs to make serious efforts to organise itself in order to have a real impact on policy. There will be no real impact if the focus stays at micro-level. Regional movements and networks may be able to accomplish what national level NGOs do not have the capacity to achieve, and networks can also support the work of individual level NGOs. The envisaged network needs to collaborate with governments, but also should be firm with authorities who are not living up to their commitments.

The session concluded with calls for condemnation of the Ugandan government's clamp down on civil society for speaking out on violations against children. This action threatens all of African civil society, and recommendations were made to address this as follows:

- The CRC Committee will raise the issue next week during their meeting, on behalf of Ugandan civil society
- ANPPCAN Uganda will work on a document to be circulated, further improved and then presented in October or November by the task force as a resolution or an expression of solidarity. The document needs to contextualise the Ugandan issue with similar clamp downs on civil society in Eritrea, Zimbabwe, etc. and link it to a proposed peer review system adopted by AU.

## ANNEX II Full Text of Declaration

The Second International Policy Conference on the African Child: Violence against Girls in Africa, May 11 and 12, 2006, United Nations Conference Centre, Addis Ababa

#### The Africa Declaration on Violence against Girls

We, the participants of the Second International Policy Conference on the African Child: *Violence against Girls in Africa,* held in Addis Ababa 11-12 May, 2006 drawn from 25 countries, including over 400 participants from national, regional and international organisations and 22 children from six African countries, call for action by all African governments and other stakeholders<sup>4</sup> to take immediate steps to end all forms of violence against children.

All children, without discrimination, have fundamental human rights. Violence against children whether it is physical, psychological or sexual is a gross violation of these fundamental human rights. We believe that the pervasive violence directed against children globally and in Africa, in their homes, schools, communities, places of care and other settings is preventable, intolerable and must stop.

Violence against children has incalculable costs to present and future generations and it undermines human development. We recognise that virtually all forms of violence are linked to entrenched gender roles and inequalities, and that the violation of the rights of children is closely linked to the status of women.

The situation of African girls is especially critical as a result of discriminatory and patriarchal practices, inequality, exclusion, inadequate legal protection, lack of educational opportunities, the disproportionate impact HIV and AIDS has on them, as well as the persistence of poverty. Failure to address these situations constitutes not only a grave violation of human rights, but threatens the very fabric of society.

We are inspired by the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Convention on the Rights of the Child and its Optional Protocols, the African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child, the Convention on the Elimination of all forms of Discrimination against Women, the ILO Convention no. 182 on the Worst Forms of Child Labour, international humanitarian laws and human rights instruments as well as the African Union Common Position on Children: Africa Fit for Children (Cairo). We are profoundly concerned that the rights enshrined in these Conventions and agreements are not adequately integrated into domestic laws, policies and practices and therefore have not yet had a meaningful impact on the everyday lives of African girls and boys.

We believe that governments and civil societies are all individually and collectively responsible and mutually accountable to ensure that every child lives in a world free from violence. We also believe that governments have the primary responsibility and obligation to take concrete and immediate action to end all forms of violence against children, particularly girls.

#### We therefore strongly urge the Member States of the African Union:

- (a) to take all necessary measures for the effective prohibition of all forms of violence against children, including developing and implementing comprehensive National Plans of Action to protect children, which are supported with adequate human and financial resources by 2010.
- (b) to immediately enforce the actions recommended under (a) above, especially with regard to the following conditions that constitute a grave violation of the rights and fundamental freedoms of girls:
  - Rape/defilement and other forms of sexual violence in the home, in schools, in places of care, in communities and other settings

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> All African Governments, civil society organisations, families, children, parents and custodians, the African Union, the African Inter-Parliamentary Union, United Nations agencies and other international development and human rights organisations.

- Gender inequality which leads to violence against girls, discrimination, and the disproportionate spread of HIV and AIDS among girls and young women
- Harmful traditional and cultural practices including but not limited to female genital mutilation/cutting (FGM) and honour crimes
- Trafficking, abduction and commercial sexual exploitation including prostitution and pornography
- Conscription of girls into armed conflict and their sexual exploitation in conflict and postconflict situations
- Child marriage, forced marriage and marital rape
- Corporal punishment and other humiliating forms of punishment
- Worst forms of child labour including harmful domestic work
- Migration for unsafe illegal work which affects safety and security of children
- (c) to establish effective and easily accessible complaints mechanisms for children, which respect their privacy, with appropriate guarantees of confidentiality; and effective monitoring of the rights of the child to be protected against all forms of violence via country, regional and international monitoring mechanisms.
- (d) to provide all children, especially girls, who experience violence with multi-disciplinary services including counselling and other resources that they need for full recovery and reintegration in their communities, and with legal support (including provision for compensation), and to ensure that perpetrators are brought to justice and rehabilitation.

#### We urge all governments and other stakeholders:

To take all necessary measures conducive to creating a safe, violence-free, non-discriminatory environment for the full and harmonious survival, development and participation of girls; and to institutionalise the following specific actions:

- Build a culture of peace and prevent violence through promoting positive, non-violent, non-discriminatory forms of child rearing, teaching and conflict resolution.
- Promote gender equality and take immediate measures to reform the laws, policies, attitudes and practices which discriminate against girls and women and fail to protect them.
- Support the capacity of families to adequately protect their children.
- Create safe spaces for girls and provide anti-bullying programmes in schools and communities.
- Promote the full participation of children, developing their skills and potential, and promote the right of girls to express their views and have them taken seriously.
- Support the participation of boys and men, as well as children's organisations, as part of the solution to end violence against girls.
- Promote a culture of peace, respect for human dignity, non-discrimination and non-violence through mobilising local governments, communities, the media, faith-based organisations and traditional leaders.
- Conduct research to deepen understanding of the causes and impact of violence against children, especially girls, and build strong relationships with research institutions/organisations in the quest to impact policy and practice.
- Ensure the integration of actions called for in this declaration into existing national, regional and international campaigns and events such as February 6, the International Day on Zero Tolerance Against FGM and other Harmful Traditional Practices; June 16, the Day of the African Child; November 25 to December 10, Sixteen Days of Activism on Violence against Women and Children; as well as the agenda of the African Union Common Position on Children: Africa Fit for Children (Cairo Declaration 2001).

#### We further urge the Member States of the African Union to:

• Place the issue of violence against children, especially girls, on the African Union Summit's agenda as soon as possible and to link it to the follow-up of the Cairo Plus 5 agenda on the African Union

Common Position on Children: Africa Fit for Children.

- Ratify all the relevant international human rights and international humanitarian instruments, including ILO Convention no. 182 on the Worse Forms of Child Labour, the Optional Protocols to the Convention on the Rights of the Child and those pertaining to the African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child.
- Recognise and give priority follow-up attention to the recommendations of the regional consultations in the context of the United Nations Secretary General's Study on Violence against Children.

### We strongly recommend that the African Union:

- Strengthen the capacity of the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child and facilitate the participation of children and young people.
- Obtain agreement from Member States to report to the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child on their implementation of the recommendations of the Regional Consultations and the final report of the United Nations Study on Violence against Children, before the end of 2010.
- Support the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child to draft and adopt guidelines for the content and review of these reports.
- Establish a Special Envoy on Violence against Children to serve as a mechanism for preventing, reporting and monitoring violence against children, in collaboration with the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child.
- Promote and support the development of a structural cooperation between the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child and the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child in order to establish a practice of monitoring that most efficiently contributes to the implementation of the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child.

*We request that the United Nations Secretary General's* studies on violence against children and women give special attention to eliminating violence against girls in Africa, and note their specific vulnerabilities.

Building on the Security Council Resolution 1325, **we call on the United Nations Security Council** to adopt a Resolution on Violence against Girls and Women in Armed Conflict, which addresses impunity and enhances State accountability.

## **Our Collective Commitment**

We, the participants of this conference both adults and children, have a vision of an Africa that is humane and free from violence, that promotes a culture of rights, and nurtures its children to achieve their full potential. We have a vision of an Africa in which girls enjoy equal rights and freedoms, respect and dignity without fear of gender-based violence.

We pledge to commit ourselves individually and collectively, including both girls and boys, to eliminate violence against children in general and girls in particular.

We hereby undertake to ensure rigorous follow-up actions pertaining to the resolutions of this Conference including disseminating the proceedings within each of our organisations and to conduct ongoing national campaigns such as the Day of the African Child and the Sixteen Days of Activism on Violence against Women and Children.

We urge the organiser of this Conference, The African Child Policy Forum, to forward this Declaration and the Children's Declaration to all concerned bodies as soon as possible and to put in place an operational mechanism to follow-up the outcomes of this conference.

## ANNEX III FULL TEXT OF INDIVIDUAL PLEDGE

### PLEDGE TO STOP VIOLENCE AGAINST CHILDREN

Concerned by the persistence of widespread violence against children and by the silence and inaction that perpetuates it.

I, \_\_\_\_\_, pledge:

To make a personal, lifetime commitment to help end all forms of violence against all children.

To immediately begin by changing my attitudes and behaviour:

- by examining how I, as an individual, contribute to violence against children through my actions, by keeping silent or by turning a blind eye;
- and by better informing myself about how and why children are subject to violence.

To speak out against violence against children wherever and whenever it occurs be it in my family, at my work or in my community.

To work for a society that is humane and free of violence, and where children are raised in an environment of peace and security, by nurturing a culture of rights and dialogue.

To be personally accountable for the action that I take, however big or small, to make these commitments a reality and to review these commitments in one year.

To dedicate this pledge to life, love and security for all the world's children.

This pledge was made at The African Child Policy Forum's Second International Policy Conference on the African Child: Violence Against Girls in Africa, May 11-12, 2006.

# ANNEX IV CHILDREN'S CONSULTATION: VIOLENCE AGAINST CHILDREN

Forty four children from Somalia, the Sudan, Senegal, Kenya, Uganda and Ethiopia and their interpreters convened at the Addis Ababa Hilton in a regional conference organised by Save the Children Sweden for two days (May 9-10). They discussed various issues on violence including its causes and forms as well as solutions. A presentation was made by Ms. Lena Karlsson, Global Advisor, Save the Children, Sweden on the process of the UN Study against Children. The session dealt with overall recommendations made by children in the process, recommendations the study is expected to make and the follow-up to the UN study.

Following a presentation by Mr. Shimelis Tsegaye from the ACPF about the Forum and the general objectives and programme of the May 11-12 conference, the participants took up the issue of where, how and when in the conference children shall make their collective as well as individual contributions.

A brief introduction on the draft declaration was given in a child friendly way by the ACPF representative, following which group discussions took place within three groups, which were set up with a good intercultural mix:

- One of the groups discussed the draft declaration. This group's discussions were informed by the deliberations of the previous sessions in which the forms of violence and their solutions were discussed.
- The second group dealt with the issue of violence against children by children and how children can be part of the solution.
- The third group drafted the children's statement.

Many forms of violence and the corresponding actions which were not mentioned in the ACPF declaration came out of the discussion. These were taken on board the children's statement.

Finally, the meeting ended with the sharing of responsibilities and selection of group representatives in relation to children's participation in the May 11-12 conference.

The children attended and participated in the Second International Policy Conference on the African Child: *Violence Against Girls in Africa* and were guided through the process by representatives of Save the Children Sweden. They were given an opportunity during the conference to present a report on their two-day meeting.

#### Full Text of the Children's Statement:

As children from all over Africa, we would like to thank all the NGOs who organised the children's meeting, especially Save the Children's Regional Office for East and Central Africa.

We would also like to thank the ACPF for having organised this conference. We would like to encourage you to continue to organise these kinds of forums and continue to invite children and young people from all over Africa.

We would also like to thank Professor Paulo Pinheiro for making the effort to come and share his time with us children.

We, girls and boys from six countries (Ethiopia, Kenya, Senegal, Somalia, Sudan and Uganda) commit ourselves to:

• Sensitise other children and our communities on children's rights

- Form child clubs to teach children and communities about child rights and violence against children
- Do our best not to violate other children's rights
- Use dialogue and discussion with our peers, parents or guardians and teachers to solve conflicts.

We would like our governments and other responsible organisations to:

- Adopt and implement laws against all forms of violence, including corporal and other forms of humiliating punishment, child sexual abuse, FGM, etc.
- Create awareness raising programmes on violence against girls and boys
- Give a chance to girls and boys to participate in all activities to fight violence and discrimination
- Create awareness among the population on the consequences of violence by using child-friendly tools; for example, the media, to reach children and adults
- Create child-friendly reporting centres where children can report abuse cases
- Create guidance and counselling clubs in schools
- Enable children to have access to information about international, regional and national mechanisms such as CRC and ACRWC
- Encourage a follow up on the UN Study on Violence against Children recommendations, three years after the study has been finalised. Children should be involved in this follow up to see how much the governments have done to implement recommendations and how much they have done to involve children in the process.

We would now like to conclude with a poem.

Violence, violence, violence Why do you need to focus your eyes so much on the African children? Why do you want to ruin the fruits of tomorrow? We the African children are tired of sexual violence, corporal punishment and gender inequality

Violence, violence, violence Where do you come from? Who are your parents? Why are you the enemy of peace and love? Oh, God, we wish one day, violence and peace could have a peaceful talk

Violence, violence, violence You made us the children of Africa Lose all the hopes of educational life You made our future useless We are the future leaders and doctors Teacher, parents, doctors, leaders and all the people Why do you violate us?

We the African children want peace, love, care and unity Give us peace today if you want good fruits tomorrow! Thursday, 11 May 2006

0.00 - 9.00 Registration	8.00 - 9.00	Registration
--------------------------	-------------	--------------

#### 9.00 – 10.00 **Opening Session**

- About the Conference Dr. Assefa Bequele, Executive Director, The African Child Policy Forum, and Member of the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child
- Welcome H.E. Dr. Salim A. Salim, AU Special Envoy and Chief Mediator for the Inter-Sudanese Peace Talks on Darfur; Secretary-General OAU (1989-2001); Chairman, International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum
- Partnership for Children Mr. Jim Emerson, Chief Operations Officer, Plan International
- My Wishes and My Pledge for Africa's Children Dr. Rima Salah, Deputy Executive Director, UNICEF
- **Children's Declaration on Violence** A Statement by African Children
- Special Guest Madame Chantal Compaoré, Epouse du President du Faso (First Lady of Burkina Faso)
- Opening Address H. E. Girma Wolde Giorgis, President of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia

#### 10.05 - 10.45 Special Sitting: Keynote Address

H.E. President Joaquim Chissano, former President of Mozambique and current Chairperson of the Africa Forum for African former Heads of State

	10.45 - 11.15	Coffee Break
	11.15 - 12.45	Plenary Session I : Violence, Women and Girls – The International Dimension
	Chair:	Professor Jaap Doek, Chair, UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, and Member of the International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum
		■ Violence against Women: The International Dimension – Dr. Yakin Erturk, UN Special Rapporteur on Violence against Women
		Dealing with Violence: Lessons from International Experience - Ms. Nyaradzai Gumbonzvanda, UNIFEM Regional Programme Director for East and Horn of Africa
		Moving on from Violent Punishment of Children - Mr. Peter Newell, Coordinator of the Global Initiative to End Corporal Punishment of Children
		Plenary Discussion
2	12.45 - 14.00	Lunch

14.00 - 16.00	Plenary Session	n II : Violence, Wom	nen and Girls - The	e African Dimension
---------------	-----------------	----------------------	---------------------	---------------------

Chair: Adv. Bience Gawanas, Commissioner for Social Affairs, African Union, and Member of the International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum

#### **Special Presentation**

Violence against Girls in Africa: An Overview - Mr. David Mugawe, The African Child Policy Forum

#### **Panel Discussion**

- Violence against Girls: Experience and Protection in Western Africa Mr. Guy Massart, Plan International, West Africa Regional Office
- Sexual Violence against Girls and HIV/AIDS Mr. Bunmi Makinwa, UNAIDS Country Representative, Ethiopia
- Violence against Children at Work Mr. Yaw Ofosu, International Labour Organization
- Violence against Girls in Crisis and Conflict Situations Ms. Florence Tercier Holst-Roness, International Committee of the Red Cross
- Violence against Children in Schools Ms. Maryce Ramsey, Director, Safe Schools Programme, USAID.
- Plenary Discussion
- 16.00 16.30 **Coffee Break**
- 16.30 18.00 Plenary Session III : Violence by Children against Children: Children as Part of the Solution

#### Chair: Ms. Lena Karlsson, Global Advisor, Save the Children Sweden

- Violence by Children against Children: A Growing Concern Ms. Carol Bower, Executive Director, Resources Aimed at the Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect
- The Southern Africa Experience Dr. Anthony Simpson, Social Anthropology Department, Manchester University, UK
- **The South America Experience** Mr. Gary Barker, Executive Director of Instituto Promundo, Brazil
- The Asian Experience Mr. Ravi Karkara, Regional Programme Manager (Nepal), Save the Children Sweden
- Comments by Children
- Plenary Discussion
- 18.00 -18.30 Children's Choir under the direction of the renowned pianist Girma Yifrashewa
- 18.30 Reception



	Friday, 12 May 2006		
	9.00 - 10.30	Plenary Session IV: Towards a Common Position	
	Chair:	Ms. Christine Cornwell, Member of the International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum	
		The UN Report on Violence against Children - Professor Paulo Sergio Pinheiro, Independent Expert for the UN Secretary-General's Study on Violence against Children	
	Discussants:	What does it mean for Africa?	
		<ul> <li>Hon. Sofia Simba, Minister for Community Development, Gender and Children, United Republic of Tanzania</li> <li>Ambassador Salamata Sawadogo, Chairperson, AU Commission for Human and People's Rights</li> <li>Professor Jaap Doek, Chairperson, UN Committee on the Rights of the Child</li> <li>Mr. Don McPhee, Regional Programme Support Manager, West Africa Regional Office, Plan International</li> </ul>	
		Plenary Discussion	
	10.30 - 11.00	Coffee break	
	11.00 - 12.30	Plenary Session V : Towards a Movement to Stop Violence against Children	
	Chair:	Mr. Kailash Satyarthi, Chair, Global March against Child Labour, and Member of the International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum	
	Panel Discuss	ion	
		Grassroots Experience in Social Mobilisation: A Report from Ethiopia Dr. Bogalech Gebre, Executive Director, Kembatta Women's Self Help Centre, Ethiopia	
		<ul> <li>Mobilising Girls against Violence - Ms. Mercy Musomi, National Coordinator, Girl Child Network, Kenya</li> </ul>	
		Mobilising against Harmful Traditional Practices: Lessons from Africa Ms. Berhane Ras-Work, Executive Director, Inter-African Committee on Traditional Practices Affecting the Health of Women and Children	
		<ul> <li>Social Mobilisation: Lessons from International Experience - Mr. Sergio Kristensen, Country Representative, Save the Children Denmark</li> </ul>	
		Moving the Cause Forward - Dr. Amaya Gillespie, Director, Secretariat United Nations Secretary General's Study on Violence against Children	
		Plenary Discussion	
54	12.30 - 13.30	Lunch Break	

13.30 - 15.00	Plenary Session VI : What Governments Can Do	
Chair:	Prof. Dharam Ghai, Member International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum	
	<ul> <li>Getting Governments to Account - Ambassador Moushira Khattab, Secretary General, National Council for Childhood &amp; Motherhood and Vice Chair of UN Committee on the Rights of the Child</li> <li>Establishing Child Protection Systems - Ms. Margie de Monchy, Child Protection Advisor, UNICEF, Nairobi</li> <li>Addressing Violence: The South Africa Experience - Adv. Thoko Majokweni, Director, The National Prosecuting Authority of South Africa</li> <li>Establishing an Effective Legal System to deal with Violence Ms. Souad Abdennebi-Abderrahim, Regional Advisor for the Promotion of Women's Human and Legal Rights, UNECA</li> </ul>	
	Plenary Discussion	
15.00- 15.30	Coffee Break	
15.30 - 16.30	Plenary Session VII : The Declaration	
Chair:	Mr. Ben Kioko, Director and Legal Counsel, African Union	
	Presentation and Adoption of the Declaration	
16.30 - 18.00	Closing Session: A Call and Promise for Action	
Chair:	H.E. Dr. Salim A. Salim, AU Special Envoy and Chief Mediator for the Inter-Sudanese Peace Talks on Darfur; Secretary-General OAU (1989-2001); Chairman, International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum	
[This closing session will be unconventional in the sense that speakers will be expected to focus on the way forward and pledge to specific actions to end violence against children.]		

- By Children
- H.E. Ambassador Tim Clarke, Head of Mission, European Union, Ethiopia
- Mr. Per Engebak, Regional Director, Eastern and Southern Africa, UNICEF
- Mr. David Muthungu, Regional Director, Southern and Eastern Africa, Plan International
- Mr. Jean Baptiste Zoungrana, Chairperson, African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child,
- Prof. Paulo Pinheiro, Independent Expert for the UN Secretary-General's Study on Violence against Children



#### **Special Guest Speaker:**

His Grace Archbishop John Onaiyekan, Catholic Archbishop of Abuja and President of the Catholic Bishops' Conference of Nigeria

#### The Pledge

#### Saturday, 13 May 2006

#### 9.00-13.00: The All-Africa Consultative Meeting of Child Rights, Youth and Human Rights Organisations

This is a special meeting of Civil Society Organisations to discuss how they could support each other and work together so as to create a strong Africa-wide movement for the promotion and protection of the rights and welfare of children.

It is being organised in collaboration with partner organisations such as the African Network for the Prevention and Protection against Child Abuse and Neglect (ANPPCAN) and the Coalition of NGOs working for Children in Africa (CONAFE).

The meeting's programme will be circulated separately.

# **ANNEX VI - List of participants**

#### Speakers

#### Ms. Souad Abdennebi-Abderrahim

Regional Advisor for the Promotion of Women's Human and Legal Rights, UNECA Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-551 72 00 E-mail: <u>sabdennebi@unece.org</u>

#### Ms. Stella Ayo-Odongo

National Programme Co-ordinator Uganda Child Rights NGO Network P.O.Box 10293 Kampala, Uganda Tel.: 256-41-543548/256 77 2467427 Fax: 256-41-543548 E-mail: ucrnn@ultonline.co.ug

#### Dr. Assefa Bequele

Executive Director, The African Child Policy Forum and Member of the African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: assefa.bequele@africanchildforum.org

#### Ms. Carol Bower

Executive Director Resources Aimed at the Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect Suite 87, Private Gag X12, Tokai, 7966, Cape Town, South Africa Tel.: 27 0 21 712 2330 Fax: 27 0 21 712 2365 E-mail: <u>carol@rapcan.org.za</u>

#### H.E. President Joaquim Chissano

Former President of Mozambique and Current Chairperson of the Africa Forum for African former Heads of State Mozambique

#### H.E. Ambassador Timothy Clarke

Head of Mission European Union P.O.Box 5570, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-661 25 11 Fax: 251-11-661 28 77 E-mail: <u>Timothy.Clarke@cec.eu.int</u>

#### Madame Chantal Compaoré

First Lady of Burkina Faso Presidence du Faso 03 BP 7030 Ouagadougou 03 Burkina Faso Tel.: 226 50 33 37 52

#### Ms. Christine Cornwell

Member of the International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum, and Representative to UN and Geneva Based Organisations 2 Rue Marie Brechbuhl, Switzerland Tel.: 41-227400194 E-mail: <u>cornwell@bluewin.ch</u>

#### **Professor Jaap Doek**

Chairperson, UN Committee on the Rights of the Child and Member of the International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum Piustuin 20 W61HA Lisse The Netherlands Tel.: 31252 414010 E-mail: jaapedoek@cs.com

#### Dr. Yakin Erturk

UN Special Rapporteur on Violence against Women Istanbul, Turkey Tel.: 90 33 122 105 995 E-mail: <u>erturk@un.org</u>

#### **Ms. Florence Tercier Holst-Roness**

Advisor in Women and War International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251 11 5503911 E-mail: addis\_oua.ado@icrc.org

#### Ms. Lena Karlsson

Global Advisor Violence against Children Save the Children Sweden Stockholm, Sweden Tel.: 08-305104 E-mail: lena.karlson@rb.se

#### **Ambassador Moushira Khattab**

Secretary General, National Council for Childhood & Motherhood, and Vice Chair of UN Committee on the Rights of the Child Cairo, Egypt Tel.: 00202-5240288 Fax: 00202-5240701 E-mail: <u>moushirak@link.net</u>

# List of participants

#### **Speakers**

#### Mr. Sergio Daniel Kristensen

Country Representative, Save the Children Denmark P.O.Box 13375 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3728455/3728918/19 Fax: 251-11-3728920 E-mail: <u>redbarnet@ethionet.et</u>

#### Mr. Guy Massart

Regional Evaluation Advisor Plan International - West Africa Regional Office 136, Sotrac Meumoz, BP 21121 Dakar, Senegal Tel.: 00221 869 7430 Fax: 00221 860 2951 E-mail: <u>guy.massart@plan-international.org</u>

#### Mr. Don McPhee

Regional Programme Support Manager West Africa Regional Office, Plan International 136, Sotrac Meumoz, BP 21121 Dakar, Senegal Tel.: 002216393955/00221 869 7430 Fax: 00221 860 2951 E-mail: don.mcphee@plan-international.org

#### Ms. Margie de Monchy

Child Protection Advisor UNICEF P.O.Box 44145 00100 Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 254 20 622081 Fax: 254 20 622686 E-mail: <u>mdemonchy@unicef.org</u>

#### Mr. David Mugawe

Director of Operations The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: <u>mdavid@africanchildforum.org</u>

#### Ms. Mercy Musomi

National Coordinator Girl Child Network P.O.Box 2447-00200 Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 254-020-604510/607137 Fax: 254-020-604510 E-mail: <u>gcn@girlchildnetwork.net;</u> <u>mercymusomi@yahoo.com</u>

#### Mr. David Muthungu

Regional Director, Southern and Eastern Africa, Plan International P.O.Box 55569 Northlands 2116 Sandton, South Africa Tel.: 27 11 6668400 Fax: 27 11 7837988 E-mail: <u>david.muthungu@plan-international.org</u>

#### Mr. Peter Newell

Coordinator of the Global Initiative to End Corporal Punishment of Children 254 Alexandra Part RD London N 22, UK Tel.: 0044 2088899034 E-mail: <u>peter@endcorporalpunishment.org</u>

#### Mr. Yaw Ofosu

Senior Child Labour Specialist International Labour Organization P.O.Box 2788 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5444046 E-mail: <u>ofosu@ilo.org</u>

#### His Grade Archbishop John Onaiyekan

Catholic Archbishop of Abuja Archbishop's House P.O.Box 286 Garki – Abuja, Nigeria Tel.: 09-2340-661

#### Ms. Maryce Ramsey

Director - Safe Schools Program - USAID 1700 N. Moore St., USA Tel.: 703-778-2657 Fax: 703-312-6039 E-mail: <u>mramsey@devtechsys.com</u>

#### Ms. Berhane Ras-Work

Executive Director of the Inter-African Committee on Traditional Practices affecting the Health of Women and Children 145, Rue de Lausanne, 1202 Genève, Switzerland Telephone: +41-22-731220 Fax: +41-22-7381823 Email: <u>Cominter@iprolink.ch</u> or <u>berhane.raswork@iprolink.ch</u>

#### Dr. Rima Salah

Deputy Executive Director UNICEF 3 UN Plaza, H-1361, New York, NY 10017 Tel.: 212 326 7016 Fax: 212 326 7758 E-mail: <u>echarles@unicef.org</u>

#### H.E. Dr. Salim A. Salim

AU Special Envoy and Chief Mediator for the Inter-Sudanese Peace Talks on Darfur; Secretary-General OAU (1989-2001); Chairman, International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum The Mwalimu Nyerere Foundation P.O.Box 71000 Dar-es-Salaam, Tanzania Tel.: 255 22 2116040 / 2119216 E-mail: mnf-tanzania@raha.com

#### Mr. Kailash Satyarthi

Chairperson, Global March Against Child Labour President, Global Campaign for Education (GCE) Member of the International Board of Trustees, The African Child Policy Forum L-6 Kalkaji, New Delhi – 110019, INDIA Ph: +91 11 26224899, 26475481 Fax:+91 11 26236818 Email: <u>kailashsatyarthi@gmail.com</u> Web: www.globalmarch.org

#### Honourable Sofia Simba

Minister for Community Development, Gender and Children United Republic of Tanzania

#### **Dr. Anthony Simpson**

Researcher - Social Anthropology Department, University of Manchester, UK Tel.: 44 1706 213196 E-mail: <u>Anthony.Simpson@Manchester.ac.uk</u>

#### H.E. President Girma Wolde Giorgis

President of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia Addis Ababa

#### Mr. Jean Baptiste Zoungrana

Chairperson, African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child 01 BP 515 Ouaga 01 Burkina Faso Tel.: 00226-70267026 Fax: 00226-50316737 E-mail: jbzoungrana@yahoo.fr

#### **Participants**

#### Aklilu Abate

Organizing Committee Ethiopian Youth Forum - UNICEF Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5444408 E-mail: <u>akleb6@yahoo.com</u>

#### Essete Abdu

Secretary ANPPCAN Fitche, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1347739

#### Feruz Abdurahman

Counsellor Project Officer ANPPCAN - Ethiopia Chapter H. No. 760, Kebele 18, Kirkos Sub-City, P.O.Box 34359, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5530760/251-91-1602219 Fax: 251-11-5539757 E-mail: <u>annpcan-eth@ethionet.et; Feir\_ammar@yahoo.com</u>

#### Zewdie Abegaz

Section Chief Gender and Child Protection UNICEF P.O.Box 1169, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5444361 E-mail: <u>zabegaz@unicef.org</u>

#### Berhane Aberra

Senior Social Worker Protection, Respect and Opportunity for Children on the Street Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1575447 E-mail: <u>agiramai@ethionet.et</u>

#### Lulu Aberra

Community Development Program Officer SOS Children's Villages Ethiopia, National Office P.O.Box 3495, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6611655 Fax: 251-11-6611633 E-mail: <u>luluaberra@yahoo.com</u>

#### Rebecca Aberu

Project Officer Inter African Group P.O.Box 1631, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5511561 Fax: 251-11-5537603 E-mail: <u>iag@ethionet.et</u>

#### **Tigest Abye**

PR-Program Head Ethiopian Women Lawyers Association P.O.Box 13760, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5505000 Fax: 251-11-5523946 E-mail: <u>ewla@ethionet.et</u>

#### Aster Adalu

Addis Ketema K.K, Women Affair's Bureau Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-2775566

#### Mekdime Admassie

Youth Coordinator Organization for Social Services for AIDS P.O.Box 2385, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5524736/5518286 Fax: 251-11-5515306 E-mail: <u>ossa@ethionet.et</u>

#### Anania Admassu

Managing Director Children Aid Ethiopia P.O.Box 5854, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 011 551 69 59/ 011 551 40 12 Fax: 011 552 50 77 E-mail: <u>chad-et@ethionet.et</u>

#### Frezer Admasu

Marketing Manager Tibeb House Advertising and Publishing Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1634565 Fax: 251-11-6610495 E-mail: <u>frezadm@yahoo.com</u>

#### Katja Ahlfors

Head of Cooperation Embassy of Finland Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11 320 5920 Fax: 251-11 320 5923 E-mail: <u>katja.ahlfors@formin.fi</u>

#### Assen Ahmed

Program Coordinator Save the Children Finland P.O.Box 1258 code 1250, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3206431 Fax: 251-11-3206433 E-mail: <u>hassena@scfin-et.org</u>

#### Leulseged Ahmed

Executive Director African Forum of Faith-Based Organizations in Reproductive Health, Pan African Secretariat Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4669926 E-mail: <u>lahmed@ethionet.et</u>

#### Geto Aknaw Belihu

Program Director Ethiopian Human Rights and Civic Education Promotion Association (EHRCEPA) P.O.Box 22056 code 1000 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4164733 Fax: 251-11-4166169 E-mail: <u>getoaknawbelihu@yahoo.com</u>

#### Ellen Alem

Women's Rights Officer Action Aid Ethiopia P.O.Box 1261 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4654671 E-mail: <u>ellen.alem@actionaid.org</u>

#### **Awraris Alemayehu**

Child Rights Promotion Officer HIWOT Ethiopia P.O.Box 17475 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251 11 1242998/251-91-1147060 E-mail: <u>hiwotethiopia@ethionet.et;</u> <u>aberism@yahoo.com</u>

#### Zerihun Alemayehu

Program Development Officer ENDA-Ethiopia P.O.Box 25718 code 1000 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4162004/4168895 Fax: 251-11-4168896 E-mail: <u>enda-eth@ethionet.et</u>

#### Abebech Alemneh

Program Officer Inter-African Committee on Traditional Practice P.O.Box C/O ECA 3001 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 011-5445288/011 5515793 Fax: 011 551 5793 E-mail: <u>iac-htps@uneca.org</u>; <u>alemneh@un.org</u>

#### Alemtsehai Alemu

Gender & Food Security Officer UN WFP Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 011-5515188 E-mail: <u>Alemtsehai.Alemu@wfp.org</u>

#### **Bogalech Alemu**

Team Leader FP/RH/Gender Pathfinder International Ethiopia Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-116-613-330 E-mail: <u>balemu@pathfind.org</u>

#### Mammo Alemu

Public Prosecutor Ministry of Justice Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1375205

#### Shibabaw Alemu

Dean Yared School of Music - AAU Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1689621

#### Eshetu Alemu

Program Officer Christian Children's Fund Ethiopia Bole Sub City, P.O.Box 5545 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251 11 661 2928/ 251 11 663 3643 Fax: 251 11 662 45 40 E-mail: <u>ccfethiopia@ethionet.et</u>

#### Kedir Ali

Programme Officer for Education & Children's Participation Save the Children Sweden Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3210311 Fax: 251-11-3214234 E-mail: kedir.ali@swedsave-et.org

#### Dr. Mustafa Ali Ahmed

Coordinator Global Network of Religions for Children P.O.Box 1221, Dar Es Salaam Tanzania Tel.: 255 22 2850704 Fax: 255 222850447 E-mail:<u>gnrcafrica@bol.co.tz</u>

#### **Participants**

#### **Mekdim Amare**

Writer CBE Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1308383

#### **Mohammed Ambessa**

Team Leader B.L.S.A Afar Region Ethiopia Tel.: 251-033-6660196

#### Abadi Amdu

Program Manager Christian Children's Fund Ethiopia Bole Sub City, P.O.Box 5545 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251 11 661 2928/ 251 11 663 3643 Fax: 251 11 662 45 40 E-mail: <u>ccfethiopia@ethionet.et</u>

#### **Tewodros Ameha**

Healthy Choices Project Officer Meki Catholic Secretariat (MCS) P.O.Box 43, Meki Ethiopia Tel.: 251-022 1180193 Fax: 251-022 1180930 E-mail: <u>mcs@telecom.net.et</u>

### Vathani Amirthanayagam

Director-Health USAID/REDSO/PHN P.O.Box 629, Village Market 00621 Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 254-02-8622000/ 254-20-8622321/0722204018 Fax: 254-02-8633680 E-mail: <u>vathani@usaid.gov</u>

#### **Janina Andersson** European Parliamentarians Finland

#### Fisseha Andualem

Advocacy Officer Organization for Prevention, Rehabilitation & Integration of Female Street Children P.O.Box 1146, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1692868 E-mail: <u>oprifs@ethionet.et</u> Dee Dee Angagaw UNICEF P.O.Box 1169 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5515155/91-1885084 E-mail: <u>ddangagw@yahoo.com</u>

#### Aster Asfaw

Assistant National Director SOS Children's Villages Ethiopia, National Office P.O.Box 3495, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 011 6624962 Fax: 011 6611633 E-mail: <u>aster\_asfaw@hotmail.com</u>

#### Amarech Ashenafi

GCRA Plan Ethiopia P.O.Box 5696, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4670175/76/77 Fax: 251-11-4161542 E-mail: <u>amarech.ashenafi@plan-international.org</u>

#### Meaza Ashenafi

Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1932871

#### **Rediet Asmelash**

Ex. Secretary Kembatta Women's Self Help Center - Ethiopia Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11- 4670791 Fax: 251-11-4670792 E-mail: <u>kmg.selfhelp@ethionet.et</u>

#### Abeba Assefa

Social Animator Alem Children Support Organization Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3712634/3724511 E-mail: <u>acso@ethionet.et</u>

#### Andarge Assefa

Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1235435 E-mail: <u>andarge\_assefa@yahoo.com</u>

#### **Asnakew Assefa**

Design, Monitoring & Evaluation Advisor Hope for African Children Initiative Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6624661 E-mail: <u>asnakew@yahoo.com</u>

#### **Getachew Assefa**

Monitoring and Evaluation Officer Organization for Prevention, Rehabilitation & Integration of Female Street Children /OPRIFS/ P.O.Box 1146, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1476321 E-mail: oprifs@ethionet.et

#### **Belaineh Assegu**

Programme Manager Handicap National P.O.Box 25929 Code1000 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-2134747/9 Fax: 251-11- 213 4745 E-mail: <u>hn-acd@ethionet.et</u>

#### Serkalem Awlachew

Program Manager Mary Joy Aid Through Development P.O.Box 12939 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-2702108/6546385 Fax: 251-11-2700378 E-mail: <u>maryjoy@ethionet.et</u>

#### **Dr. Meheret Ayenew**

Addis Ababa University Faculty of Business and Economics Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1228972 E-mail: <u>meheretay@yahoo.com</u>

#### Sinknesh Azene

Administration and Finance Head Bethel MekaneYesus Girl's School (American Mission School) P.O.Box 1111, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-2752327 Fax: 251-11-2754321 E-mail: <u>bmys@ethionet.et</u>

#### **Gitte Lillelund Bech** European Parliamentarians Denmark

#### **Eyerusalem Begi**

Project Officer Save the Children Finland Awassa, Ethiopia Tel.: 046221147/916828465 E-mail: <u>eyerus001@yahoo.com</u>

#### **Daniel Bekele Editor**

Guble Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1176143 E-mail: <u>dan seni@yahoo.com</u>

#### Sebelewongel Belachew

Mother Development Head SOS Children's Villages Ethiopia, National Office P.O.Box 3495 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6611655 Fax: 251-11-6611633 E-mail: <u>seblebn@yahoo.com</u>

#### Dr. Dehab Belay

HIV/AIDS Program Manager Catholic Relief Services (CRS) P.O.Box 6592, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11 4652767/91-1210392 Fax: 251-11-4654450 E-mail: <u>dehabbe@crsethiopia.org.et</u>

#### **Seblework Belay**

Gender Assistant Goal Ethiopia Sidama, Ethiopa Tel.: 251-91-6825363 Fax: 251-046-2203239

#### **Tewodros Belay**

OVC Network Coordinator Orphan and Vulnerable Children Network P.O.Box 41742, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-661 53 27/91-1641751 Fax: 251-11-6611094 E-mail: <u>tedbelay@yahoo.com</u>

#### **Kassahun Belete**

Executive Director Youth Network for Sustainable Development Yeka Sub City, P.O.Box 121053 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6188798/91-1675109 E-mail: <u>ynsd-et@ethionet.et</u>

#### **Participants**

#### Dr. Hailom Benteyerga

Senior Researcher Miz-Hasab Research Center P.O.Box 170184, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6614112/ 91-1169144 Fax: 251-11-1223921 E-mail: <u>hailombante@yahoo.com</u>

#### **Guebray Berhane**

Senior Communication and Public Information Officer ILO ,P.O.Box 2788 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5444415 Fax: 251-11-5513633 E-mail: <u>guebray@ilo.org</u>

#### Amare Berhanu

Club Coordinator Talent Youth Association Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1747264

#### **Ephrem Berhanu**

Managing Director Talent Youth Association Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4667480/91-1688245 E-mail: <u>ephberu@yahoo.com</u>

#### Santiago Bernal

Country Director Plan Ethiopia P.O.Box 5696, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4670177/91-1206759 Fax: 251-11-4161542 E-mail: <u>santiago.bernal@Plan-international.org</u>

#### Berhanu Beyene

Project Coordinator Multi Sectoral Joint Project for the Prevention and Rehabilitation for Sexual Abused and Exploited Children (Joint Project of CHAD-ET, ANPPCAN, OPRIFS, CANU, FSCE-Eth) Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11- 276 4509 Fax: 011 552 50 77 E-mail: <u>beyenebm@yahoo.com</u>

#### **Tadesse Beyene**

Deputy Executive Director Alem Children Support Organization Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3712634/3724511 E-mail: <u>acso@ethionet.et</u>

#### Wolde Beyene

Country Representative Ethiopian Children's Fund Aleltu, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6625733/6620865 Fax: 251-11-6625733 E-mail: <u>ecf@ethionet.et</u>

#### Behailu Bezabih

Art Teacher Bethel Mekane Yesus School Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-2752327 Fax: 251-11-2754321 E-mail: behailubezabih@yahoo.com

#### Jamille Bigio

Information Consultant UN-OCHA P.O.Box 60252, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5444156 E-mail: <u>bigio@un.org</u>

#### Samson Birhanu

Forum Coordinator CRDA, Children and Youth Forum of NGOs Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4393488/4390322 E-mail: cyf@crdaethiopia.org

#### Yemane Bisrat

General Manager Air Link Travel Agency P.O.Box 12798, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5524050/5509047 Fax: 251-11-5518533 E-mail: <u>airlink.travel@ethionet.et</u>

#### **Tegegnwork Bogale**

Executive Director Addis Fana Ethiopia Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1223090/91-1405217 E-mail: <u>addisfana25@yahoo.com</u>

#### Dr. Tibebu Bogale

Country Representative Save the Children Finland P.O.Box 1250 code 1258 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11 320 6432 Fax: 251-11- 3206433 E-mail: <u>scfinland@ethionet.et</u>
Kirsten Brosbol European Parliamentarians Denmark

### **Bogale Buke**

Program Coordinator African Peace and Conflict Management Studies Center Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-551 5243

## Ann S. Carney

Executive Director and International Human Rights Lawyer Peace and Community Development Alliance 340 East Street, Healdsburg, California 95448, USA Tel.: 707 431 0845 Fax: 707 433 0209 E-mail: <u>ascarney@gmail.com</u>

## John M. Chaloner

Regional Director Plan International West Africa Regional Office 136, Sotrac Meumoz, BP 21121 Dakar, Senegal Tel.: 00221 869 7430 Fax: 00221 860 2951

## **Tom Chavangi**

Executive Director Children's Legal Action Network (CLAN) P.O.Box 7979-00200 Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 254-020-3867757 Fax: 254-020-386961 E-mail: <u>clan@nbnet.co.ke</u>

## **Muluemebet Chekol**

Deputy Director Save the Children USA P.O.Box 387, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4671067 E-mail: <u>mchekol@savechildrenusa-et.org</u>

Becky Cheloti Programme Officer Kenya Alliance for Advancement of Children P.O.Box 73637-00200, Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 254-020-4450256/7 E-mail: <u>bcheloti@yahoo.com</u>; <u>kaacr@kaacr.com</u>

#### **Amakelew Cherkosie**

Co-Director Forum on Street Children - Ethiopia P.O.Box 9562, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 011-5534432/5534722 Fax: 011-5534469 E-mail: <u>fsce@ethionet.et</u>

## Dawn Colemann

Public Prosecutor SOCA - National Prosecuting Authority Pretoria, South Africa Tel.: 27 012 8456136 Fax: 27 012 8457375 E-mail: <u>dcoleman@justice.gov.za</u>

## Alessandro Conticini

Child Protection Coordinator UNICEF P.O.Box 1169, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5515155

### **Sven Coppens**

Regional Learning Advisor Plan International West Africa Regional Office 136, Sotrac Meumoz, BP 21121 Dakar, Senegal Tel.: 00221 869 7430 Fax: 00221 860 2951 E-mail: <u>sven.coppens@plan-international.org</u>

#### Odete M. Cossa

Advisor IPPFARO Madison Insurance House, 1st Floor Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 254-202720280/1/2 E-mail: <u>ocossa@ippfaro.org</u>

# Sarah Isaac Daniel

Diplomat Embassy of the Republic of Sudan Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5516477

### **Sangare Daniele**

Protocol of the First Lady Embassy of Burkina Faso P.O.Box 19685 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6615863/64 Fax: 251-11-6615857

### **Corinne Davey**

Director of Learning and Resources EveryChild - UK 4 Bath Place, Rivington Street, London, EC2A 3DR United Kingdom Tel.: 0207 749 3076 Fax: 02077298339 E-mail: <u>corinne.davey@everychild.org.uk</u>

#### **Mihret Dawit**

Communication Officer Plan Ethiopia P.O.Box 5696 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1147450 E-mail: <u>mihret.dawit@plan-international.org</u>

## **Benyam Dawit Mezmur**

Doctoral Intern/Children's Rights Project Community Law Centre University of the Western Cape Private Bag X17, Bellville 7535 RSA South Africa Tel.: 27 21 959 3709/2950 Fax: 27 82 2775674 E-mail: <u>bmezmur@uwc.ac.za</u>

### **Olga De Biaggio**

Expert in Civil Society and Gender Italian Development Cooperation P.O.Box 1105 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1239600/01/02 Fax: 251-11-1239603 E-mail: <u>o.debiaggio@itdcaddis.org.et</u>

### Yeshi Debalke

Sen. Secretary UNFPA Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5444136 Fax: 251-11-5515311 E-mail: <u>debalke@unfpa.org</u>

### **Rahel Dejene**

Child Psychologist Child Abuse and Neglect Unit (CANU) Yekatit 12 Hospital P.O.Box 2450 code 1250 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1678425 E-mail: <u>rich\_dejene@yahoo.com</u>

#### **Tsegaye Dejene**

Village Educator SOS Children's Village Ethiopia P.O.Box 3495 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-371 05 94/96 Fax: 251-11-371 18 77 E-mail: <u>tsegaye-dejene@yahoo.com</u>

## **Belete Deribie**

Executive Director Ethiopian Human Rights and Civic Education Promotion Association (EHRCEPA) P.O.Box 22056/1000 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1606085/251-11-4164733 Fax: 251-11-4166169 E-mail: <u>ehrcepa@ethionet.et</u>

## Chefeke Dessalegn

Members of Trustees Africa Humanitarian Action Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.:251-91-1206871

### **Getachew Desta**

Managing Director Sheena Carriers Plc. P.O.Box 6902 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5518826 Fax: 251-11-5519123 E-mail: <u>sheena@ethionet.et</u>

## **Ambassador Mengiste Desta**

Special Representative of ANPPCAN to the African Union Commission P.O.Box 14261 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3203106

## Papa Diop

Counsellor Embassy of the Republic of Senegal Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1897834 Fax: 251-11-4660020 E-mail: <u>pudiop@hotmail.com</u>

#### Aklilu Dogisso

Manager World Vision Bole Kifle Ketema, Kebele 11,House No. 518, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6293122 Fax: 251-11-6293346 E-mail: <u>aklilu dogisso@wvi.org</u>

## Anne Domatob

Adolescent Sexual & Reproductive Health Advisor UNFPA/CST P.O.Box 8714 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251 11 544 4068 Fax: 251 11 551 7133 E-mail: <u>domatob@unfpa.org</u>

## Efua Dorkenoo

Founder Foundation for Women's Health Research and Development Unit 4, 765-767 Harrow Road, London NW10 5NY United Kingdom Tel.: 0044 2089604000 Fax: 044 89604014 E-mail: <u>efua@forwarduk.org.uk</u>

## Natalie Doyle

Project Coordinator Right to Play - Ethiopia Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4665089 E-mail: <u>rtpethiopia@yahoo.com</u>

### Ahmed Yahia Elzubier

Secretary General Youth for Children Khartoum, Sudan Tel.: 00249 912600563 E-mail: ahmedyahia1@hotmail.com

# Kabore Emmanuel

Security of the First Lady Embassy of Burkina Faso P.O.Box 19685 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6615863/64 Fax: 251-11-6615857

**Per Engebak** Regional Director, Eastern and Southern Africa

#### **UNICEF**

P.O.Box 44145 Code 00100 Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 2542062222604 Fax: 2542622078 E-mail: <u>pengebak@unicef.org</u>

### **Belachew Ensermu**

Child and Youth Care Program Officer Ethiopian Evangelical Church Mekane Yesus -Center for Mentally Challenged Children P.O.Box 81064, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-2840173/251-91-1411937 E-mail: <u>belachewen@yahoo.com;</u> <u>belachewe@eccmy.org</u>

### Sebele Eshete

Assistance Program Officer HIWOT Ethiopia P.O.Box 17475, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1242998 E-mail: hiwotethiopia@ethionet.et

### Abebaw Eshetu

Youth Leader Youth Corps Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 011 320 6302/0911852252 E-mail: <u>yc@ethionet.et</u>

### **Tewodros Eshetu**

MDGS Youth Advocate Youth Corps Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11 320 6302/91-1828531 E-mail: teddyeshetu@yahoo.com

## Zecharias Fassil

Instructor of Law Alemaya University - Faculty of Law P.O.Box 2900, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1386893 Fax: 251-11-1124216 E-mail: <u>zakfassil@lawyer.com</u>

#### Dr. Konjit Fekade

TTTM Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1211236 E-mail: <u>fekadekonjit@yahoo.com</u>

Yonas Feleke MDGs Youth Advocate in Ethiopia Youth Corps Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11 320 6302/91-1131878 E-mail: <u>yonasfel@yahoo.com</u>

#### **Ephrem Fetene**

Program Co-ordinator Youth Network for Sustainable Development Yeka Sub City, P.O.Box 121053 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6188798/251-91-1614701 E-mail: <u>ephremsa@yahoo.com</u>; <u>eshetua@yahoo.com</u>

#### Zebene Fikre

Lawyer, Child Friendly Bench ACPF Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1248920 E-mail: <u>zebenef@yahoo.com</u>

**Eva Thalen Finne** European Parliamentarians Sweden

## Dr. Tezera Fisseha

Program Support Manager Plan Ethiopia P.O.Box 5696, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4670177 /91-1248262 Fax: 251-11-4161542 E-mail: <u>tezera.fisseha@plan-international.org</u>

### Ambassador Kassa G/Hiwot

Commissioner Ethiopian Human Right Commission Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6459290

### Saba G/Medhin

Director Network of Ethiopian Women's Associations P.O.Box 27159 code 1000 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6624948 Fax: 251-11-6638437 E-mail: <u>newa@ethionet.e</u>t

#### Lullit G/Michael

Executive Director Snowball Plc. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6187373 E-mail: <u>lullit@ethionet.et</u>

### Diakhoumba Gassama

Focal Point, Women's Rights Women, Gender and Development Directorate African Union Commission P.O.Box 3243, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5525848/91-1875671 Fax: 251-11-5510154 E-mail: <u>diakhoumbag@africa-union.org</u>

## **Yohannes Gebregiorgis**

Executive Director Ethiopian Books for Children's and Educational Foundation P.O.Box 2560, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11- 467 06 43 E-mail: <u>ebcef@ethionet.et</u>

### **Daniel Gebremedhin**

Expert in Youth Policy Research Ministry of Youth and Sports Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5523470/91-1109843 E-mail: <u>soresaw@yahoo.com</u>

## Tabeyin Gedlu

Asst. Project Officer UNICEF P.O.Box 1169, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5515155/5444363 Fax: 251-11-5512816 E-mail: tgedlu@unicef.org

### **Tekle Selassie Gelan**

Orthopedic Technical Advisor 1st Chiropractic and Rehabilitation Wellness Clinic P.O.Box 4057, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5503246/91-1 231187 E-mail: teklesglan@yahoo.com

# Sebuwufu Germina

Programme Officer Save the Children in Uganda P.O.Box 12018, Kampala, Uganda Tel.: 256-41-341714/314696/0772443185 E-mail: <u>g.sebuwufu@sciug.org</u>

#### **Tesfaye Gessesse**

Poet Self employed Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1404252

#### **Kidist Getachew**

Gender and Development Officer AIDWO P.O.Box 19509, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1947260 E-mail: <u>gkki2@yahoo.com</u>

## Makda Getachew

Program Manager Pact Ethiopia P.O.Box 13180, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6626785/6/7/8 Fax: 251-11-6623789 E-mail: <u>makda@pactet.org</u>

## **Tiruberhan Getnet**

Board Member Aemiro Tiena Kibikabie Mahber - Ethiopia (Mental Health Society Ethiopia) P.O.Box 27667 Code 1000 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6637911 E-mail: <u>etiomentalhealth@ethionet.et</u>

## **Elizabeth Gezahegn**

HIV and AIDS Country Coordinator Voluntary Service Overseas (VSO) - Ethiopia P.O.Box 23531, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6512343/ 6183552 Fax: 251-11-6512349 E-mail: <u>Elizabeth.Gezahegn@vsoint.org</u>

## Hirut Girma

Attorney Ethiopia Tel.: 0911 41 69 80 E-mail: <u>Hirutsg@yahoo.com</u>

### Leulseged Girma

D/Executive Director AIDWO P.O.Box 19509 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1252075 E-mail: <u>leulsegedg@yahoo.com</u>

### Negasi Girma

Social Worker Save the Children Sweden Mekelle, Tigray Ethiopia Tel.: 251-034-4409900/91-4709285

## Azeb Girmai

Country Coordinator ENDA-Ethiopia P.O.Box 25718 code 1000 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4162004/168895 Fax: 251-11-4168896 E-mail: <u>enda-eth@ethionet.et</u>

## Efratan Gizaw

Member Girls Forum -SOS Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3485663 E-mail: <u>efratan dan@yahoo.com</u>

## Dr. Guracha Gobena

Director Repairers of Broken Walls Ministry P.O.Box 2450 code 1250, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5540970/91-1109142 E-mail: ggobena@yahoo.com

# H.E. Mr.Stephane Gompertz

Ambassador Embassy of France P.O.Box 1464, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1550066 Fax: 251-11-1551441 E-mail: <u>stephane.gompertz@dimplomatic.gov.fr</u>

### **Getachew Gonfa**

Head, NGO Registration Office Ministry of Justice P.O.Box 1370, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5531721/91-1641538

## Frederich Alwyn

Greene Representative Foundation for Women's Health Research and Development Unit 4, 765-767 Harrow Road, London NW10 5NY, United Kingdom Tel.: 0044 2089604000 Fax: 044 89604014 E-mail: <u>efua@forwarduk.org.uk</u>

#### **Ryan Grube**

Books for Africa Library Project Inc. 4003 Caprice Rd. Englewood CH 45322 Tel.: 1-937-836-1222 E-mail: <u>ryangrube@gmail.com</u>

### **Abdoul Karim Gueye**

Child Protection Advisor Plan International – West Africa Regional Office 136, Sotrac Meumoz, BP 21121, Dakar, Senegal Tel.: 221 869 7430 E-mail: abdoulkarim.gueye@plan-international.org

### Aklilu Gulay

Finance and Administration Talent Youth Association Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4667480/91-1419256 Fax: 251-11-4654088 E-mail: <u>ulklil@yahoo.com</u>

## **Adele Gurevich**

Educator International Community School P.O.Box 70282, Old Airport Road Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-371-1544/3718104/ 6625756 Fax: 251-11-371-0722 E-mail: <u>icsaddis@ethionet.et</u>

#### **Robert Gurevich**

Project Director World Learning Ethiopia P.O.Box 16891, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6628940 Fax: 251-11-6623996 E-mail: <u>gurev-wle@ethionet.et</u>

## Atsede Guta

Gender & Development Ministry of Women's Affairs Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1698964

#### **Dr.Abonesh H/mariam**

Family Health & Population Program Officer World Health Organization (WHO) ECA Compound, New Building Ground Floor, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5531550/5534777 Fax: 251-11-5514037 E-mail: <u>who-wro@et.afro.who.int</u>

#### **Carina Hagg**

European Parliamentarians Sweden

## Fofana Kadidia Haidara First Counsellor Embassy of the Republic of Mali P.O.Box 4561 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4168990 Fax: 251-11-4162838

### **Mulugeta Haile**

Director Call Ethiopia P.O.Box 40055 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5510180 Fax: 251-11-5508350 E-mail: <u>call@ethionet.et</u>

# Makonnen Haile

Writer Addis Ababa Chamber of Commerce Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5518055 E-mail: <u>makhaile2006@yahoo.com</u>

## **Biruk Hailemariam**

Receptionist & Cashier Save the Children Sweden P.O.Box 3457, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3210960/91-1451928 Fax: 251-11-3214234 E-mail: <u>biruk@swedsave-et.org</u>

#### Girma Hailu

Assistant Resident Representative UNDP P.O.Box 5580, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5155177 Fax: 251-11-5155147 E-mail: <u>girma.hailu@undp.org</u>

### Sintayehu Hailu

Program Director Mary Joy Aid Through Development P.O.Box 12939, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-2700155 Fax: 251-11-2700378 E-mail: <u>maryjoy@ethionet.et</u>

#### **Geremech Hassen**

Secretary BLSA Assosa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-057-7750753

#### Dr. Simon Heap

Global Research Portfolio Coordinator Plan-International Chobham House, Christchurch Way, Surrey, UK, GU21 6JG, UK Tel.: 44 1483 733325 Fax: 44 1483 756505 E-mail: <u>simon.heap@plan-international.org</u>

## Kari Lise Holmberg

European Parliamentarians Norway

### Dr. Khairul Islam

Regional Program Support Manager Plan International P.O.Box 55569, Northlands, Sandton, Johannesburg, South Africa Tel.: 27 11 666 8400 Fax: 27 11 783 7988 E-mail: <u>khairul.islam@plan-international.org</u>

## Ouattra Klena Jean

Minister Counselor Embassy of Burkina Faso P.O.Box 19685, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia E-mail: <u>ouattarak2@yahoo.fr</u>

## Kambire Jean Baptiste

First Counsellor Embassy of Burkina Faso P.O.Box 19685, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6615863/64 Fax: 251-11-6615857 E-mail: jbbesso585@yahoo.fr

### Tameru Jeba

Head, Planning and Programming Department Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs P.O.Box 2056, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5518391 Fax: 251-11-5518396 E-mail: <u>tamirujeba@ethionet.et</u>

## Dr. Grace M. Kalimugogo

Head, Aids Watch Africa African Union P.O.Box 3243, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5510454 Fax: 251-11-5517844 E-mail: <u>KalimugogoG@afirca-union.org</u>

# Catherine Kanabahita

Adviser Gender Royal Netherlands Embassy P.O.Box 7728, Plot 2, Nakasero Road, Kampala, Uganda Tel.: 256-41-346000/256-0772-508476 Fax: 256-41-231861 E-mail: <u>catherine.kanabahita@minbuza.nl</u>

### Margot M. Kane

Communications Officer Pathfinder International Ethiopia Ethiopia Tel.: 251-116-613-330 E-mail: <u>Mkane@pathfind.org</u>

### Grace Karanja

Program Officer World Vision Somalia P.O.Box 56527-00200 Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 254-020-4441529 Fax: 254-20-4441706 E-mail: grace\_karanja@wvi.org

### Workneh Kassie

Social Development Consultant WKT Consults P.O.Box 27400 code1000, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-662 8522/91-1236893 Fax: 251-11-551 4417 E-mail: <u>wkassie2001@yahoo.com</u>

# Dagnachew Kebede

Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1235235

## Kebede Kejela

Executive Director African Initiatives for a Democratic World Order P.O.Box 11333, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-239769 Fax: 251-11-1223434 E-mail: <u>kebedek@yahoo.com</u>

### Solomon Kelkai

Programme Director Save the Children Norway P.O.Box 6589, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-320 63 82/83/84 Fax: 251-11-320 63 81 E-mail: <u>solomonk@scne.org</u>

## Dr. Aklilu Kidanu

Director Miz-Hasab Research Center P.O.Box 170184, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6614112 Fax: 251-11-1223921 E-mail: <u>miz-hasab@ethionet.et</u>

### **Elizabeth Kifle**

Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1239220 E-mail: <u>amulatu78@yahoo.com</u>

## Rahab Njoki Kinyanjui

Program Analyst United Nations Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM) P.O.Box 30218 -00100 Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 254-2-7624383 Fax: 254-20-7624494 E-mail: njoki.kinyanjui@unifem.org

## Lucy Kirimi

Executive Director Partners for Progress (pfp) P.O.Box 15910-20100 Nakuru, Kenya Tel.: 254-51-2214268 Fax: 254-51-2212738 E-mail: <u>lucykirimi@hotmail.com</u>

### Anne Mwikali Kiusya

Probono Lawyer The CRADLE - The Children Foundation Opposite Wood Avenue Apartments, Kilimani, P.O.Box 10101-00100, Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 254 0 20387457516 Fax: 254 0 20 2710156 E-mail: info@thecradle.or.ke

#### Morissanda Kouyate

Director Operations Inter-African Committee P.O.Box 3001, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5515793/91-1808570 Fax: 251-11-5515793 E-mail: <u>morissanda@yahoo.fr</u>

## Else Kragholm

Country Director Plan International - Kenya Nairob, Kenya Tel.: 721632450 E-mail: <u>else.kragholm@plan-international.org</u>

## Anne Kruft

Theatre Producer Inspringtheatere Scheidihgslaan1, Wageningun The Netherlands Tel.: 31 317 427 443 E-mail: <u>anne.kruft@gmail.com</u>

#### Krista Kruft

Sponsorship and Grants Support Manager Plan Ethiopia P.O.Box 5696, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4670176/80 E-mail: <u>krista.kruft@plan-international.org</u>

# Jean Pierre Kucheida

European Parliamentarians France

# Tapfumanei Kusemwa

Programme Manager – Violence and Sexual Abuse Save the Children Norway in Zimbabwe 184 Fife avenue, Harare, Zimbabwe Tel.: 263 4 721541/721626 Fax: 263 4 796535 E-mail: <u>tapfumanei.kusemwa@reddbarna.org.zw</u>

### Adwoa Kwateng-Kluviste

Director Foundation for Women's Health Research and Development Unit 4,765-767 Harrow Road, London NW10 5NY, United Kingdom Tel.: 44 208 960 4000 Fax: 44 208 960 4014 E-mail: <u>forward@forwarduk.org.uk</u>

### **Charles Kwenin**

Chief of Mission IOM P.O.Box 25283, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5504028 Fax: 251-11-5514900 E-mail: <u>ckwenin@iom.int</u>

### Elfaggid Lemma

Youth Coordinator HIWOT Ethiopia P.O.Box 17475, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1237707 E-mail: <u>hiwotethiopia@ethionet.et</u>

### Leulesellasie Liben

Judge Federal First Instance Court Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1237247

#### Tanja van de Linde

Africa Area Education Advisor Save the Children USA, Africa Area Office P.O.Box 387, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3211372 E-mail: <u>tvandelinde@savechildrenusa-et.org</u>

## **Monica Lindvall**

Country Director Save the Children Sweden P.O.Box 3457, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3210960 Fax: 251-11-3214234 E-mail: <u>monica.lindvall@swedsave-et.org</u>

### Saba Lishan

Girls' Education Advisor Save the Children USA P.O.Box 387, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3728455-60 Fax: 251-11-3728045/51 E-mail: <u>slishan@savechildren.org.et</u>

#### **Bjorn Ljungqvist**

Resident Representative UNICEF P.O.Box 1169, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5444382 Fax: 251-11-5517111 E-mail: <u>bljungqvist@unicef.org</u>

#### **Mohamed Mounir Loutfy**

Second Secretary Embassy of Egypt P.O.Box 1611, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1226422 Fax: 251-11-1226432

## Maria Lourdes M. Luces

Communication and Advocacy Officer UNFPA Liaison Officer Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5444078 Fax: 251-11-5517133 E-mail: <u>luces@unfpa.org</u>

## Ahmed Abbas Mahgoub

Vice President Youth for Children Association Khartoum-Elmamoura, Sudan Tel.: 00249-912203040 E-mail: <u>ahmedabbas10@yahoo.com</u>

## Mary Manning

Associate Lecturer University of Sydney Rm 342, Merewether Bldg. H04, Sydney 2006, NSW, Australia Tel.: 61405991691 E-mail: <u>m.manning@econ.usyd.edu.au</u>

## Dr. Christine Mansfeld

Advisor for PR Organization for Social Services for AIDS P.O.Box 2385, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5524736/5535569 Fax: 251-11-5515306 E-mail: <u>ossaconsultant@ethionet.et;</u> <u>mansfeld@ethionet.et</u>

**Miguel Angel Martin Soledad** European Parliamentarians Spain

#### **Brekelmans Martinus**

Director International Advocates for Children Amsterdam, The Netherlands

#### Msafiri Wilbert Marwa

Second Secretary Tanzania Embassy Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6634353/ 91-1677927

## Mireille Massouka

Project Manager ERNWACA Regional Office BPE 1854, Bamako, Mali Tel.: 223-221-1612 Fax: 223-2212115 E-mail: <u>mmassouka@rocare.org</u>

### **Veronique Mathieu**

European Parliamentarians France

## Kojo Mbir

Program Support Manager Plan International - Ghana Accra, Ghana Tel.: 00233-2176441 Fax: 00223-2176442 E-mail: kojo mbir@plan-international.org

## **Teodesia Anton Mbunda**

Civil Servant - Comm. Development Office Ministry of Community Development Gender and Children P.O.Box 3445 Tanzania E-mail: <u>teddymbunda@yahoo.com</u>

#### Ann P. McCauley

Senior Technical Advisor USAID P.O.Box 102031, Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 254-20-8622233 Fax: 254-20-862-2680 E-mail: <u>amccauley@usaid.gov</u>

#### Andrea McDonald

Country Representative Right to Play Ethiopia P.O.Box 1375 code 1250 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4665089 E-mail: rtpethiopia@yahoo.com

#### **Kevin McNulty**

Gender-based Violence Coordinator International Rescue Committee P.O.Box 158, Shire, Ethiopia Tel.: 251 -034- 444 1616 Fax: 251-034-444-1616 E-mail: <u>kevinm@theIRC.org</u>

#### Ali Mehdi

Assistant Regional Director SOS National Coordination Office P.O.Box 1988 Khartoum, Sudan Tel.: 249 183 781419 Fax: 249 183 771621 E-mail: <u>soskdisudan@sudanmail.net</u>

## **Aytenew Meheret**

Programme Manager Women and Children Organization Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5153409/91-1226191 Fax: 251-11-4652280 E-mail: wcdo@ethionet.et

### Adanech Mekonnen

Coordinator Ethiopian Evangelical Church Mekane Yesus -Center for Mentally Challenged Children P.O.Box 7006, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 011 321 00 02 E-mail: <u>eecmy-cmrc@ethionet.et</u>

## Elizabeth Mekonnen

Consultant Elsa Consulting and Trading Plc. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5539400/5539453 E-mail: <u>elsaconsult@ethionet.et</u>

#### Nitsuh Mekonnen

Legal Officer ANPPCAN - Ethiopia Chapter H. No. 760, Kebele 18, Kirkos Sub-City, P.O.Box 34359, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5505202/ 91-1225048 Fax: 251-11-5539757 E-mail: <u>nmekonnen2000@yahoo.com;</u> <u>anppcan.eth@ethionet.et</u>

### Yomiyu Melaku

Student Bethel MekaneYesus Girl's School (American Mission School) P.O.Box 1111, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-2752327 Fax: 251-11-2754321 E-mail: <u>bmys@ethionet.et</u>

#### Abeba Mengistu

Lawyer, Child Friendly Bench The African Child Policy Forum Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1414032

#### **Bethlehem Mengistu**

Associate Program Officer Action Aid P.O.Box 1261, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4654671 Fax: 251-11-4653420 E-mail: <u>Bethlehem.Mengistu@actionaid.org</u>

## **Tsehay Menkir**

Prosecutor Addis Ababa Ministry of Justice Representative Office Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1621184

## **Tesfaye Meskele**

Member African Peace and Conflict Management Studies Center Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6466569

## Alemitu Messele

Directress Fountain of Knowledge School Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6454919 E-mail: <u>fks@ethionet.et</u>

### **Rakeb Messele**

Human Rights Consultant Self/Canadian Parliamentary Center P.O.Box 60105, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1233820 E-mail: <u>rakebm@hotmail.com</u>

## Fikralem Mezgebu

Gender Based Violence Officer International Rescue Committee T.K. International Building, Bole Road, In front of NOC Fuel Station Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6636736/91-1343879 E-mail: <u>fikeralemme@yahoo.com</u>

#### Agnetta Mirikau

Child Protection Officer UNICEF Kenya P.O.Box 44145-00100 Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 254-2-7622120 Fax: 254-2-7622746 E-mail: <u>amirikau@unicef.org</u>

### Getaneh Mitiku

Head Industrial Relations Department Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs P.O.Box 2056, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5156124

### **Kedir Mohammed**

Judge Victim Friendly Bench of the Federal First Instance Court Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1140218

## **Carmen Monton**

European Parliamentarians Spain

### **Elkane Mooh**

Regional Advisor Save the Children Sweden West Africa Regional Office BP 25934, Dakar, Senegal Tel.: 221-8691800 Fax: 221-8644463 E-mail: <u>elkane.mooh@scswa.org</u>

## Sultan Muhe

Executive Director Bright for Children Voluntary Association P.O.Box 3319 Code 1250 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1170378

# George J. Mukkath

Development Director Africa EveryChild - UK 4 Bath Place, Rivington Street, London, EC2A 3DR United Kingdom Tel.: 02077492439 Fax: 02077298339 E-mail: george.mukkath@everychild.org.uk

## **Alemtsehay Mulat**

Program Officer Save the Children Sweden P.O.Box 3457, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-321 09 60 Fax: 251-11-321 42 34 E-mail: <u>alem.mulat@swedsave-et.org</u>

### **Rihab Mohammed Musa**

Secretary for Information and Documentation Youth for Children Khartoum, Sudan Tel.: 00249 918046347 E-mail: <u>hebo802@yahoo.com</u>

## Caleb Mutandwa

Programme Manager Justice for Children Trust, Zimbabwe 145 R. Mugabe Road, Harare, Zimbabwe Tel.: 263-04-797723/263-011787155 Fax: 263-04-797723 E-mail: <u>mutandwa@jctrust.co.zw</u>

#### **Engida Nagayle**

Project Officer based in Konso Save the Children Finland Konso Special Woreda Ethiopia Tel.: 468811573 E-mail: <u>scfinland@ethionet.et</u>

### **Gaye Wilane Ndiaye**

Child Protection Assistant Plan International - Senegal BP 15042, Dakar, Senegal Tel.: 221-8653550 Fax: 221-8258868 E-mail: gaye\_wilane@plan-international.org

## General Wasihun Negatu

Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-2130721/ 91-1692192

#### **Daniel Negera**

Education Officer CISP - International Committee for the Development of Peoples W/Hararghe, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-02-5511334/ 91-1185093 E-mail: <u>cisp.aa@ethionet.et</u>

#### Amsalu Negussie

Regional Water & Sanitation Advisor Plan International - Eastern and Southern Africa Regional Office P.O.Box 55569, Northlands, Sandton Johannesburg, South Africa Tel.: 27-11-6668400 Fax: 27 11 783 7988 E-mail: <u>amsalu.negussie@plan-international.org</u>

### Selam Negussie

Center Manager/Librarian Ethiopian Books for Children's and Educational Foundation Kirkos sub-city, Keble 05, H. No. 139, P.O.Box 27762 code 1000, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11- 467 06 43 E-mail: <u>ebcef@ethionet.et</u>

## Wiseman Ngwata

Education Advisor Plan International P.O.Box 55569, Northlands, Sandton, Johannesburg, South Africa Tel.: 2711 6668400 E-mail: wiseman.ngwata@plan-international.org

## **Tomoko Nishimoto**

Deputy Resident Representative UNDP Ethiopia P.O.Box 5580, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5515917 E-mail: tomokonishimoto@undp.org

#### Wambui Njuguna

Director of Programmes ANPPCAN Regional Office 1768-00200 Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 3873990/3861086 Fax: 3876502 E-mail: wnjuguna@anppcan.org

### Helen Nkaisserry

Consultant FAWE P.O.Box 21394-00505 Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 254-020605563/ 254-0722405479 E-mail: <u>helennkaisserry@yahoo.co.uk</u>

## Valerie Nongana

Attaché Embassy of Burkina Faso P.O.Box 19685 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6615863/64 Fax: 251-11-6615857 E-mail: <u>nonganv@yahoo.fr</u>

## **Yves Francis Nongana**

Financial Attache Embassy of Burkina Faso P.O.Box 19685 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6615863/64 Fax: 251-11-6615857

### Samuel Norgah

Regional Monitoring and Evaluation Advisor Plan International P.O.Box 55569, Northlands, Sandton, Johannesburg, South Africa Tel.: 27 11 666 8400 Fax: 27 11 783 7988 E-mail: samuel.norgah@plan-international.org

#### Maria R. Notarangeli

Child Program Coordinator Italian Development Cooperation Villa Italia - Kebena - P.O.Box 1105 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1239600/01/02 Fax: 251-11-1239603 E-mail: <u>utl@itacaddis.org.et</u>

### George Nyakora

Director SOS- Kinderdorf International Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4663910 E-mail: <u>george.nvakora@soskdiea.or.ke</u>

## H.E. Mr. Gaspard Nyilinkindi

Ambassador Embassy of the Republic of Rwanda P.O.Box 5618, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6610300 Fax: 251-11-6610411 E-mail: gnvilinkindi@minaffet.gov.rw

## Edao Obse

Executive Director Kind Hearts Child Aid Development Organization P.O.Box 3726, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11- 6610969/251-91-1486265 E-mail: <u>kcado@ethionet.et</u>

#### Penina Ochola

Regional Health Advisor Plan International P.O.Box 55569, Northlands, Sandton, Johannesburg, South Africa Tel.: 2711 6668400 Fax: 2711 7837988 E-mail: <u>penina.ochola@plan-international.org</u>

### John Odour

Programme Officer Kenya Alliance for Advancement of Children P.O.Box 73637-00200 Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 254-0204450256/7 E-mail: <u>kaacr@kaacr.com</u>

#### Sister Jacinta Ondeng

Africa Branch Rep - SSND Shalom International Network School of Sisters of Notre Dame P.O.Box 21702, Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 020-3877022/0721239219 E-mail: jonden'g@usiu.ac.ke

## Gilbert Odour Onyango

Senior Program Officer The CRADLE - The Children Foundation Opposite Wood Avenue Apartments, Kilimani, P.O.Box 10101-00100, Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: 254 0 20387457516 Fax: 254 0 20 2710156 E-mail: <u>info@thecradle.or.ke</u>

## Louise O'Rourke

Assistant Country Director GOAL Ethiopia P.O.Box 5504, Meskel Flower Road, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1641 741 E-mail: <u>louiseor@goalethiopia.com</u>

## Linda Osarenren

Senior Program Officer Inter-African Committee C/O ECA Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11- 551 5793/91-1640189 Fax: 251-11-551 57 93 E-mail: <u>osarenren@un.org</u>

## **Ridwan Osman**

Prosecutor Ministry of Justice P.O.Box 1370, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1645796

### Professor Pauline N. Otti

President Family Concerns International Block 49, Duplex 3, APO Quarters, Abuja, Nigeria Tel.: 234-80 333 05938/234-96712372 E-mail: <u>obasi70@yahoo.com</u>

## **Edward Ouma**

Director of Programmes Children's Legal Action Network (CLAN) P.O.Box 7979-00200, Nairobi Tel.: 2254-20-3874575/6 Fax: 254-20-2710156 E-mail: <u>clan@nbnet.co.ke;</u> <u>edrim2006@yahoo.com</u>

## **Clarice Da Silva E Paula**

Project Officer - Child Protection UNICEF Av. Agostinho Neto 46, Maputo Mozambique Tel.: 258 21 481108 E-mail: <u>cdasilvaepaula@unicef.org</u>

#### Malti Pillai

Section Chief Child Protection UNICEF – Mozambique Av. Agostinho Neto 46 Maputo, Mozambique Tel.: 258 21 481108 E-mail: <u>mpillai@unicef.org</u>

#### Valerie Quere

Justice for Children PO P.O.Box 1169 UNICEF Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5515155

### **Deborah Quigley**

Regional Director Airline Ambassadors International 55 S. Judd St. Honolulu USA Tel.: 808 778 3080

## Sadequa Rahim

Policy Officer African Union Commission P.O.Box 3243 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5517700 Fax: 251-11-5517844 E-mail: <u>rahims@africa-union.org</u>

### **Bob Ransom**

Director Ethiopian Center for Disability and Development P.O.Box 16306, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1650562 E-mail: <u>ecdd@ethionet.et</u>

## Kassa Rorissa

Project Coordinator Save the Children Canada P.O.Box 2304 Code 1250 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3206342 E-mail: <u>cr-sccanada@ethionet.et</u>; <u>pc1-sccanada@ethionet.et</u>

## Elena Rue

Photographer Lewis Hine Doc Fellowship Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1752393 E-mail: <u>elena rue@vahoo.com</u>

#### **Anaclet Rwegayura**

Bureau Chief PANAPRESS P.O.Box 60039, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5444304/251-91-1882506 Fax: 251-11-551 3330 E-mail: <u>rwebandiza@yahoo.com</u>

## Merja Saarikoski

Regional Director Save the Children Finland P.O.Box 1258 code 1250 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11 320 6430 Fax: 251-11 3206433 E-mail: <u>merjas@scfin.et.ort</u>

### **Elsabet Samuel**

Gender Radio Coordinator Panos Ethiopia P.O.Box 1570 code 1110 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11- 4666360/ 251-91-1620479 Fax: 251-11-4666361 E-mail: <u>esata2000@yahoo.com</u>

## Yetarik Sebhatu

Project Coordinator EGLDAM Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1199017 E-mail: <u>senasb@freemail.et</u>

#### **Bekele Sebsibe**

Assistant to the GM Eternity Industrial Group W. 10 K. 16, H.No. 337 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1406514 E-mail: <u>isbek2001@yahoo.com</u>

## Helen Seifu

Legal and Human Rights Counsellor International Organization for Migration P.O.Box 25283 code 1000, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1863271 E-mail: shelen@iom.int

## Boipelo Lucia Seitlhamo

Vice Secretary African Committee of Experts for Rights and Welfare of the Child P.O.Box 3683, Gaborone, Botswana Tel.: 267 3971020/716278894 Fax: 2673971020 E-mail: <u>bseitlhamo@info.bw;</u> <u>seitlhamob@yahoo.com</u>

#### Dagmawi Selamssa

Program Manager HIWOT Ethiopia P.O.Box 17475, Addis Ababa ,Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1230777 E-mail: selamssa21@vahoo.com

### **Professor Rose September**

Director, Child and Youth Research Programme University of the Western Cape South Africa Tel.: 0219592602/3 Fax: 0219318468

#### Eshetu Seyoume

MDGs Youth Advocate in Ethiopia Youth Corps Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-320 6302/91-828532 E-mail: <u>yc@ethionet.et;</u> <u>eshetudarick@yahoo.com</u>

## **Mohammed Ahmed Sheriff**

Senior Advisor Ethiopian Human Right Commission P.O.Box 1165, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6459245 Fax: 251-11-6459290 E-mail: hrco@ethionet.et

#### Pamela Shifman

Child Protection Office, Violence and Sexual Exploitation UNICEF 3 UN Plaza NY, NY 10017 New York Tel.: 2123267198 E-mail: <u>pshifman@unicef.org</u>

### **Bekele Siamregn**

International & Public Relation Head Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs P.O.Box 2056, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5515503

### Ana Paula Simbine

Violence and Sexual Abuse Program Manager Save the Children Norway - Mozambique 1170 Kenneth Kaunda Mozambique E-mail: <u>scn.cp@teledata.mz</u>

### Professor Awetu Simesso

PFE - Justice for All and New Generation University College P.O.Box 2366 code 1110 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1137796 Fax: 251-11-5158781 E-mail: <u>asimesso@yahoo.com</u>

#### Minna Sirno

European Parliamentarians Finland

### **Betseit Sissay**

Program Coordinator ENDA-Ethiopia P.O.Box 25718 code 1000 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4162004/168895 Fax: 251-11-4168896 E-mail: <u>enda-eth@ethionet.et</u>

### Moussa Sissoko

President CONAFE BP 9003, Bamako, Mali Tel.: 223 2211906/2242201/2336788687 E-mail: <u>ongafri@cefib.com;</u> <u>msissoko@cangoc.org</u>

### Ulrika Soneson

Regional Advisor Save the Children Sweden P.O.Box 13993, Hatfield 0028, Pretoria South Africa Tel.: 27-12-342-0222 Fax: 27-12-3420305 E-mail: <u>ulrika@za.rb.se</u>

### Paraskevi Stavrou

Christian Children's Fund 37 Ocean Street Kensington, Johannesburg 2094 Gauteng South Africa Tel.: 27 11 6221991 Fax: 27 11 5315653 E-mail: stavrou baskin@yahoo.com

# Angut Stene

MTE Officer IMC Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1604500 E-mail: <u>astene@imcworldwide.org</u>

### Julie Hanson Swanson

Education Program Specialist USAID/ Safe Schools Programme U.S. Agency for International Development, EGAT/WID, RM. 3.8-005 RRB, 1300 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20523, USA Tel.: 202-712-1687 Fax: 202-216-3173 E-mail: juswanson@usaid.gov

## Feleke Tadele

Country Director Save the Children Canada P.O.Box 2304 Code 1250 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3206345/ 251-91-1219203 E-mail: <u>cr-sccanada@ethionet.et;</u> <u>pc1-sccanada@ethionet.et</u>

## **Solomon Tadesse**

Executive Director Hibir Integrated Community Development Organization P.O.Box 18602, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4652742 Fax: 251-11-4669959 E-mail: <u>hicdo@vahoo.com</u>

#### Yezabnesh Tadesse

General Manager Aemiro Tiena Kibikabie Mahber - Ethiopia (Mental Health Society Ethiopia) P.O.Box 27667 Code 1000 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6637911 E-mail: <u>etiomentalhealth@ethionet.et</u>

## Muluken Tamene

Assistant Administration Kembatta Women's Self help Centre P.O.Box 13438, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4670791 Fax: 251-11-4670792 E-mail: kmg.selfhelp@ethionet.et

### **Channie Tamiru**

Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6471185

### Maritta Tamiru

Programme Officer East Africa Save the Children Finland P.O.Box 95, 00601 Helsinki, Finland Tel.: 358 400 649238 Fax: 358 9 41355444 E-mail: <u>maritta.tamiru@savethechildren.fi</u>

# Teferri Taressa

Director Bethel MekaneYesus Girl's School (American Mission School) P.O.Box 1111, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-2752327 Fax: 251-11-2754321 E-mail: <u>teferri\_taressa@yahoo.com</u>

### Mohammed Ali Taruri

Guardian World Vision Somalia Tel.: 00252-1522257

## Gemechu Taye

Area Coordinator CISP - International Committee for the Development of Peoples Oromia, West Hararghe, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-025-5511334 E-mail: <u>cispchro@ethionet.et</u>

#### Yared Tazera

Assistant Lecturer Unity University College Economics Department Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1635475 E-mail: <u>ytbelay@yahoo.com</u>

## **GebreYohannes Tedla**

Youth Coordinator SOS Children's Village Addis Ababa P.O.Box 3495, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-371 05 94/6 Fax: 251-11-371 18 77 E-mail: <u>sos-addv@ethionet.et</u>

### Sehin Teferra

Gender Advisor Save the Children USA P.O.Box 387, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3728455-60 Fax: 251-11-3728045 E-mail: <u>steferra@savechildren.org.et</u>

### Dr. Tamre Teka

Country Director Panos Ethiopia Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4666364 E-mail: tamret@hotmail.com

### Abai Tekle

Chief Ombudsman Institution of the Ombudsman Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5532053 Fax: 25111-5532073 E-mail: <u>ombudsmaneth@ethionet.et</u>

# Aster Tekle

Fund Coordinator Call Ethiopia P.O.Box 40055 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5510180 Fax: 251-11-5508350 E-mail: <u>call@ethionet.et</u>

# **Bethlehem Tekola**

Student University of Bath, UK Tel.: 09 11 602829 E-mail: <u>bethy82002@yahoo.com;</u> <u>bt215@bath.ac.uk</u>

## **Besufecad Temesgen** ANPPCAN P.O.Box 34359 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

**Bayech Terefe** Yared School of Music - AAU Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3416847

#### Fabrizio Terenzio

Tel.: 251-11-1559937

Regional Coordinator ENDA – Senegal BP 3370, Dakar, Senegal Tel.: 221-8217403 E-mail: <u>fabrizio@enda.sn</u>

### **Katelyan Terrell**

Childcare Specialist Community Health Center 1025 Sand Run Rd. Akron, 0H 44313, USA Tel.: 011-3308648398 E-mail: <u>kterrell30@yahoo.com</u>

## **Biniam Tesfaye**

Project Officer Youth Network for Sustainable Development Yeka Sub City, P.O.Box 121053, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6188798/251-91-1415852 E-mail: <u>ynsd-et@ethionet.et</u>

#### Dereje Tesfaye

Social Worker Goal Ethiopia Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4169505/91-422215 E-mail: <u>derejetesfaye@yahoo.com</u>

### Woubshet Tesfaye

Gender Project Officer Multi-Purpose Community Development Project P.O.Box 26456, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-2765995 E-mail: <u>mcdp@ethionet.et</u>

## Zenebe Tesfaye

National Director SOS Children's Village Ethiopia P.O.Box 3394, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6611655/6611501 Fax: 251-11-6611633 E-mail: <u>sosethnd@ethionet.et</u>

#### **Tilahun Teshome**

Associate Professor of Law, Addis Ababa University and Member of IBOT, ACPF P.O.Box 150340, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1684491 Fax: 251-11-1568477 E-mail: <u>tilahunt46@yahoo.com</u>

### **Travis Thurston**

Project Coordinator Right to Play Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4665089 E-mail: <u>rtpethiopia@yahoo.com</u>

## Metchal Tilahun

Liaison Officer UNFPA Liaison Office to the AU and ECA Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5444111 Fax: 251-11-5517133 E-mail: <u>tilahun@unfpa.org</u>

## H.E. Dr. Staffan Tillander

Ambassador Embassy of Sweden P.O.Box 1029, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5511255 Fax: 251-11-5515830 E-mail: <u>sweden.embassy@ethionet.et</u>

## Dr. Abiola Tilley-Gyado

SFA Representative Plan International, RESA/WARO Dakar, Senegal Tel.: 221 5698354 E-mail: abiola.tilley-gyado@plan-international.org

Varina Tjon-A-Ten European Parliamentarians Netherlands

#### **Dorothy Tlagae**

HIV/AIDS Coordination Assistant U.S. Embassy – Botswana P.O.Box 90, Gaborone Botswana Tel.: 267 3953982 Fax: 267 39536504 E-mail: Tlagaedk@state.gov

#### Mugumya Topher

Program Officer Research and Information African Network for Prevention and Protection Against Child Abuse and Neglect Uganda Chapter P.O.Box 24640, Kampala, Uganda Tel.: 256772592773 E-mail: <u>tmugumya@anppcanug.org</u>

### **Molalet Tsedeke**

Assistant Administration Kembatta Women's Self Help Center - Ethiopia Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11 4670791 Fax: 251-11-4670792 E-mail: <u>kmg.selfhelp@ethionet.et</u>

### **Ruth van Zorge**

Senior Programme Officer Africa Plan Netherlands van boshuizenstraat 12 1070 AL, Amsterdam, Netherlands Tel.: 0031-205495381 Fax: 0031 706444381 E-mail: ruth.van.zorge@plannederland.nl

## **Hilde Vautmans**

European Parliamentarians Belgium

## **Ann-Kristin Vervik**

Manager, Human Rights Section Plan Norway Wesselsgate 8, 0130 Oslo Norway Tel.: 47 22007621 Fax: 47 22333232 E-mail: <u>ann-kristin.vervik@plan-norge.no</u>

### Veronica Vyates

Coordinator CRIN C/O Save the Children, 1st John's Lane, London EC1 M 4 AR United Kingdom Tel.: 44 20 7012 6865 Fax: 44 20 7012 6899 E-mail: <u>vyates@crin.org</u>

#### Lishan W/Medhin

Project Coordinator Federal Supreme Court – Juvenile Justice Project Office Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4565603/560295 Fax: 251-11-1560295 E-mail: jjpo@ethionet.et

### Dr. Haile W/Michael

Chairman African Peace and Conflict Management Studies Center P.O.Box 2420, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-551 5243

## Ayalew W/Semait

Executive Director ANPPCAN - Ethiopia Chapter H. No. 760, Kebele 18, Kirkos Sub-City, P.O.Box 34359, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5505202 Fax: 251-11-5539757 E-mail: <u>annpcan-eth@ethionet.et</u>

### Kimaru Wakaruru

Regional Child Rights Advisor Plan International P.O.Box 55569, Northlands, Sandton, Johannesburg, South Africa Tel.: 27 11 6668400 Fax: 27 11 783 7988 E-mail: kimaru.wakaruru@plan-international.org

#### **Yolanda Weldring**

Regional Director East & Southern Africa Save the Children UK P.O.Box 387, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4162642/44 Fax: 251-11-4654368 E-mail: y.weldring@savethechildren.org.uk

### **Tonje Westby**

Programme Officer The Royal Norwegian Embassy P.O.Box 8383, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-3710799 E-mail: <u>twe@mfa.no</u>

#### Sandy Willcox

Lecturer SIM P.O.Box 127, Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5513192 E-mail: <u>sandyw@etcollege.org</u>

## Joanna Wis

Communication Coordinator Right to Play P.O.Box 1375 code 1250, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-456915 E-mail: rtpethiopia@yahoo.com

## Hiruy Woldeab

Program Officer Plan Ethiopia A.A. Nefas-silk/lafto Sub city Kebele. 10/28, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6623635 Fax: 251-11-4654279

### Tameru Wondm Agegnehu

Consultant & Attorney At-Law Tameru Wondm Agegnehu & Associates P.O.Box 30504, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5531645/91-1228101 Fax: 251-11-5519548 E-mail: <u>tameruw@yahoo.com</u>

### Mandy Woodhouse

Representative Oxfam GB P.O.Box 2333, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1215224 E-mail: <u>mwoodhouse@oxfam.org.uk</u>

### Frehiwot Worku

Executive Officer Human Resources Ethiopian Airlines P.O.Box 1755, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6631204 E-mail: <u>frehiwotw@ethiopianairlines.com</u>

Abdelrahman Yahya Field Coordinator Save the Children Sweden P.O.Box 3134, Khartoum Sudan Tel.: 00249-7313000 E-mail: <u>abdrhmany\_scc@yahoo.com</u>

## Zemi Yenus

Director Joy Center for Children with Autism Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1210535 E-mail: <u>zemiyenus@yahoo.com</u>

### Artist Zerihun Yetemgeta

Addis Ababa University Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-275 2427/91-1200357

### Girma Yifrashewa

Pianist Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-227804 E-mail: <u>vifrashewag@ethionet.et</u>

#### **Daniel Yilma**

Senior Program Officer ANPPCAN - Ethiopia Chapter H. No. 760, Kebele 18, Kirkos Sub-City, P.O.Box 34359, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5505202/ 91-687516 Fax: 251-11-5539757 E-mail: annpcan-eth@ethionet.et

## **Ayto Yohannes**

Senior Counselor Aba Woldetensae Gizaw Mothers and Children Welfare Association P.O.Box 20110 code 1000 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6614110/6622075 Fax: 251-11-6620612

### **Aklilu Yohannes**

Assistant Administration Kembatta Women's Self Help Center - Ethiopia Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 011 4670791 Fax: 011-4670792 E-mail: <u>kmg.selfhelp@ethionet.et</u>

### **Berween Younes**

Associate Protection Officer UNHCR P.O.Box 1076, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1736776 E-mail: <u>younes@unhcr.org</u>

#### **Behailua Zeleke**

MIS Officer Mary Joy Aid Through Development P.O.Box 12939, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6456385/2702108 E-mail: <u>maryjoy@ethionet.et</u>

## Professor Bahru Zewde

Executive Director Forum for Social Studies P.O.Box 25864-1000 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1572990 Fax: 251-11-1572979 E-mail: <u>fss@ethionet.et;</u> <u>bz@ethionet.et</u>

#### **Belaynesh Zurgie**

Teacher & Physiotherapist Ethiopian Evangelical Church Mekane Yesus -Center for Mentally Challenged Children P.O.Box 7006, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11- 321 00 02 E-mail: <u>eecmy-cmrc@ethionet.et</u>

## **Children Participants**

Meka Abdulwahid

Child Participant Assosa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-067-7760753

Leya Abebe Child Participant ANNPCAN Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5158079 E-mail: <u>leya-2006@yahoo.com</u>

**Isse Ahmed** Child Participant Save the Children Jijiga, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-025-7755369

Quinter Akumu Child Participant Kenya Alliance for Advancement of Children P.O.Box 73637-00200, Nairobi Kenya Tel.: 254-0204450256/7 E-mail: <u>kaacr@kaacr.com</u>

**Khadija Nabil Ali Ahmed** Child Participant Save the Children Sweden Sudan

Menbere Aschenaki Child Participant

Save the Children Dire Dawa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-5734959 Fax: 251-025-1110829

## Isabriye Ashiraf

Child Participant Save the Children in Uganda P.O.Box 12018, Kampala Uganda Tel.: 256-41341714

Samuel Assefa

Child Participant ANPPCAN Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-1685844 E-mail: <u>sami\_assefa@yahoo.com</u> Hiwot Berhanu Child Participant ANPPCAN Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1350933

Assiatou Diagne

Child Participant Plan International HLMI Villa No. 54 Dakar, Senegal E-mail: diagneaissatoumdiaye@yahoo.fr

**Basim Abdelsalam Elyas** Child Participant Save the Children Sweden Sudan

# Lakaraber Eunice

Child Participant Save the Children in Uganda P.O.Box 12018, Kampala Uganda Tel.: 256-41341714

### **Blain Getachew**

Child Participant Save the Children Dire Dawa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-5734959

# Fikir Gezahegn

Child Participant ANPPCAN Key Amba, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-058-1114888/1117086

## Mohammed Said Hani

Child Participant Kenya Alliance for Advancement of Children P.O.Box 73637-00200, Nairobi Kenya Tel.: 254-0204450256/7 E-mail: <u>kaacr@kaacr.com</u>

Alyaa Sirelkatim Hassan Musa Child Participant Youth for Children Sudan Tel.: 00249-912203040

## **Children Participants**

#### Medina Hummed

Child Participant Afar, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-033-6660196

# Jeelie Abdullahi Ibrahim

Child Participant World Vision Somalia Tel.: 00252-1522257

# Negash Mahetebu

Child Participant Save the Children Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5500218

#### Aissatou Mbodj

Child Participant Plan International Medina Goumass Villa No. 385 Dakar, Senegal E-mail: <u>mbodjaida89@yahoo.fr</u>

## Hasan Fartun Mohamed

Child Participant World Vision Somalia Tel.: 00252-1522257

## Yassin Mohammed

Child Participant Save the Children Harar, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-91-5330496

#### Awa Niang

Coordinatrice National African Movement of Working Children and Youth Dakar, Senegal Tel.: 221-6158325 E-mail: <u>bebeawa10@vahoo.fr</u>

# Kamn Wang Odoll

Child Participant Save the Children Finland Gambella, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-047-5511208

### **Getachew Tamene**

Child Participant Save the Children Awassa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-046-2203737

#### Abreha Tekle

Child Participant SOS, Mekelle Tigray, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-034-4400288

#### **Elshaday Yilma**

Child Participant ANPPCAN Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1112147

## Media

**Bazabh Lamlam** Journalist ETV Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-911-617867

Mengistu Abebe Senior Reporter Addis Admass Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6623710 Fax: 251-11-6623709

**Adnew Feleke** 

Journalist ETV Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-911-617867

Netsanet Assaye Senior Reporter Reporter News paper Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-4421519/911-489537 Fax: 251-11-4421517 E-mail: netsyassaye@yahoo.com

Aynalem Balcha Journalist ETV Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-911-227722 E-mail: anib 29@yahoo.com

Abebe Gutema Editor

ETV Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-911-691107 E-mail: <u>anaanyaatu@yahoo.com</u>

Tsedey Alemayehu Reporter The Reporter Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-911-433699 Fax: 251-11-4421517 E-mail: tsedeyreporter@yahoo.com Wester Hoff

Agence France Presse Addis Ababa Ethiopia Tel.: 251-911-682361

**Getachew Tedla** Correspondent Deutsche Welle P.O.Box 2236, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-5533030

**Joanna N. Stavropoulos** Freelance - Journalist FREE-LANCE Ethiopia Tel.: 251-911-798175 E-mail: joanna@samadhi.gr

Yonas Abiye Reporter The Daily Monitor Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-911-378384/251-11-1560199 E-mail: <u>yonmg204@yahoo.com</u>

**Biruk Girma** Reporter The Daily Monitor Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-1560199 E-mail: <u>birma273@yahoo.com</u>

Amber Henshaw Journalist BBC Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: 251-911-683191 E-mail: <u>amberhenshaw@yahoo.co.uk</u>

Dawit Tsegaye Publisher Adamna Hewan Newspaper Sub City Bole, Kebele 02, H.No. 163 Ethiopia Tel.: 251-911-685654 E-mail: <u>fnai2000@yahoo.com</u>

Naiegzi Hiruy Reporter Adamna Hewan Newspaper Sub City Bole, Kebele 02, H.No. 163 Ethiopia Tel.: 251-11-6185759 E-mail: <u>fnai2000@yahoo.com</u>

# **Children Participants**

**Samson G/Meskel** Samdeo Productions Ethiopia

**Tsegaye Asrat** Samdeo Productions Ethiopia

**Antonio Fiorente** Samdeo Productions Ethiopia

## **Conference Secretariat**

## **Tilahun Abebe**

Driver The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420

## Asnaketch Aberra

Executive Secretary/ Admin. Asst. The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: asnaketch.aberra@africanchildforum.org

## Haregwoin Alemayehu

Cleaner The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420

## Kidist Alemu

Project Officer The African Child Policy Forum - Children Legal Protection Center P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528440/ 5502997 Fax: 251-11-5535542 E-mail: <u>kidist.alemu@africanchildforum.org</u>

## Dr. Assefa Bequele

Executive Director The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: assefa.bequele@africanchildforum.org

## Mulugojjam Denekew

Secretary/Receptionist The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: <u>mulu.denekew@africanchildforum.org</u>

## **Helen Getachew**

Cleaner The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420

### Tsega Girma

Data Assistant The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: tgirma@africanchildinfo.net

# Nancy Kanyago

Senior Project Officer The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: <u>nkanyago@africanchildforum.org</u>

## Henok Mekonnen

Finance & Admin. Officer The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: hmekonnen@africanchild.forum.org

## Dawit Mekuria

Project Officer The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: <u>dmekuria@africanchildforum.org</u>

## Semira Moges

Office Attendant/Cleaner The African Child Policy Forum - Children Legal Protection Center P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528440/ 5502997 Fax: 251-11-5535542

### **David Mugawe**

Director of Operations The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: <u>mdavid@africanchildforum.org</u>

## Girma Mulugeta

Assistant Logistic/Driver The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: <u>gmulugeta@africanchildforum.org</u>

## **Conference Secretariat**

### **Antoinette Powell**

Advocacy Officer The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: pantoinette@africanchildforum.org

### **Etaferahu Sahile**

Office Attendant/Cleaner The African Child Policy Forum - Children Legal Protection Center P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528440/ 5502997 Fax: 251-11-5535542

## Stefan van der Swaluw

Director of Programmes The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: <u>stefan.swaluw@africanchildforum.org</u>

### **Tesfaye Taffa**

Asst. Logistic Officer/Driver-CLPC The African Child Policy Forum - Children Legal Protection Center P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528440/ 5502997 Fax: 251-11-5535542

## **Katie Taft**

Manager Media & Communication The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: <u>ktaft@africanchildforum.org</u>

## Kongit Tekalegn

Office Attendant The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420

### **Tigist Tesfay**

Admin. Assist./Senior Secretary The African Child Policy Forum - Children Legal Protection Center P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528440/ 5502997 Fax: 251-11-5535542 E-mail: <u>ttsefaye@africanchildforum.org</u>

### Mulumabet Tilahun

Legal Officer/CLPC The African Child Policy Forum - Children Legal Protection Center P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528440/ 5502997 Fax: 251-11-5535542 E-mail: <u>mtilahun@africanchildforum.org</u>

## **Shimeles Tsegaye**

Project Officer The African Child Policy Forum P.O.Box 1179, Addis Ababa Tel.: 251-11-5528407/09/10 Fax: 251-11-5513420 E-mail: <u>stsegaye@africanchildforum.org</u>